
Date Published:17 January 2022     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 25 January 2022 at 10.00 am

In response to the Covid-19 Omicron variant affecting the 
population, this meeting, (as a non-decision making meeting), will 
be held as a remote access meeting. The meeting will be live 
streamed on the County Council website.

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Chair

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To record any declarations of interest.

Chair

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2021 
(attached). 

Chair

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 (Pages 9 - 38)

The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health to present 
the Public Health Annual Report 2021/22. 

The theme of the report is ‘Sources Of Strength: Securing 
Gloucestershire’s Health And Wellbeing through an Anchor Institutions 
Approach’.

Professor Sarah 
Scott: Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health

5  DOMICILIARY CARE (Pages 39 - 48)

An overview of Domiciliary Care (care in the home) provision in 
Gloucestershire. 

Professor Sarah 
Scott: Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health



    

6  LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
INVESTIGATION (Pages 49 - 82)

An update on the delivery of actions proposed by the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman following an investigation into a complaint 
against the council.  

Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health

Keith Vardy – 
Head of Social 
Care

Moira Wood – 
Principal Social 
Worker

INFORMATION REPORTS

7  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

An update on matters relating to the delivery of services within the 
portfolio of services delivered by the Chief Fire Officer, (Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service), and within the remit of the Gloucestershire 
County Council Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee, 
(Trading Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services). 

Report to follow

Chief Fire 
Officer: Mark 
Preece

8  PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 83 - 112)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to public 
health, including an update on the response to the COVID-19 Emergency. 

A Covid-19 intelligence summary update will be circulated prior to the 
meeting to provide members with the latest data and information. 

Professor Sarah 
Scott: Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health

Katie Hopgood; 
Public Health 
Consultant 

Oonagh Wilson:
Gloucestershire 
Health and Care

9  ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 113 - 118)

An update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to adult 
social care, including an update on the response to the COVID-19 
Emergency.

Professor Sarah 
Scott: Executive 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Public Health

10  WORK PLAN (Pages 119 - 120)

To note the dates of future meetings (below) and suggest items to add to 
the committee work plan for consideration at future meetings. 

Chair



    

25 Jan 2022 
8 Mar 2022 
10 May 2022 
05 Jul 2022 
06 Sep 2022 
15 Nov 2022 

Membership –  Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair), Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Cate Cody, 
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Lisa Spivey (Vice-Chair), Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, 
Cllr Suzanne Williams, Cllr Terry Hale and Cllr Steve Robinson 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring 
Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held at Shire Hall, Gloucester, on Tuesday 9 November 2021.

Present: Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Cate Cody
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-
Charrington

Cllr Lisa Spivey (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Susan Williams

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies for the meeting were received from Cllr Pam Tracey, (substituted by Cllr 
Susan Williams), and Cllr Suzanne Williams, (no substitution). 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2021 were confirmed and agreed 
as a correct record of that meeting.

4. PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION IN COLLABORATION WITH THE 
VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY SECTOR 

Following a brief introduction by Sarah Scott, (Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Public Health), Di Billingham, (Lead Commissioner - Adult Early 
Intervention), and Louise Holder, (Strategic Lead - Adult Social Care 
Transformation), updated members on the council’s prevention and early 
intervention work in collaboration with the voluntary and community sector (VCS). 

Key messages noted at the meeting included: - 

a) The importance and value of the voluntary and community sector to 
Gloucestershire’s care and support market; 

b) The benefits of establishing strong relationships, creating trust and 
developing mutual understanding on the success of the council’s prevention 
work; 

c) The links between people choosing to live independently in their own homes 
and the need to provide vibrant and varied community offers; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

d) Recognition of community and placed based activities as essential 
components to the delivery of the Adult Single Programme and enabling 
people to live independent lives; 

e) The value and importance of collaborative working as a means of 
strengthening the councils connections and investing in areas where gaps 
exist or when experiencing increased demand;  

f) How working with the voluntary and community sector meets the 
requirements of the council’s Care Act duties.

An underlying message throughout the presentation was the ever increasing 
demands being placed on adult care services, combined with limited resources in 
terms of available funding from which to provide the best possible care to those 
people at most need. 

In recent years, new and innovative approaches in delivering Adult Social Care, 
(forming part of the Adult Single Programme), has enabled the delivery of services 
by the GCC Adult Social Care Team, (in collaboration with the voluntary and 
community sector), to flourish. The benefits of collaborative working became 
increasingly evident during the COVID-19 Pandemic, where new and more 
digitalised ways of working enabled the delivery of services to be maintained in 
spite of significant challenges to the system. 

Members were informed that a Digital Innovation Fund introduced in 2020 had been 
instrumental in providing funding to a variety of community organisations, allowing 
them to adapt to more digitalised ways of working and in breaking down barriers to 
ensure a more independent way of living through the use of technology.  It was 
reported that, in 2021, the fund had focussed on supporting schemes aimed at 
improving digital literacy, working with BAME, (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic), 
communities and supporting people with disabilities and sensory impairments. 
Despite the advances, there remained some barriers to digital working. 

Responding to questions on how the Gloucestershire ‘Three Tier Conversation’ 
model of social care functioned, it was explained that Tier 1 of the model was 
fundamental in the development of people’s strengths, (and those of their families 
and local communities), and in helping people to remain as independent as 
possible, for as long as possible. 

Tier 1 represented the basis for providing information, advice and guidance to those 
most in need of support. It was explained that the voluntary and community sector 
was uniquely positioned to support this approach, allowing it to develop a wider 
understanding of a persons’ needs and consider taking appropriate preventative 
action before the needs escalated or reached crisis point.

During 2018, a series of workshops had been held throughout the county, 
highlighting the challenges to the social care system and introducing the Three Tier 
Conversation Model as the new approach to delivering social care services in 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Gloucestershire. Feedback from the workshops and a community wellbeing survey 
undertaken at the same time identified the need to:- 

a) Establish a cross sector network allowing practitioners, VCS and community 
groups to better understand one another, share intelligence and work 
together to address gaps and barriers; 

b) Create an information portal from which to provide updated health and care 
and community information, (for use by practitioners, the VCS, families and 
individuals); 

c) Seek small grants from which to invest in local activities/address gaps or 
meet increased demand.

When asked whether it would be useful to arrange further workshops, (in response 
to ongoing changes to delivering social care), it was explained that, although the 
workshops had provided a kick-start on how to develop a better understanding of 
peoples’ needs, to continue this approach was not something likely to be repeated. 
It was, however, something that would be built upon and developed in the future. 

Members acknowledged some of the successful activities that had been introduced 
in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. They were informed that, during this time, 
essential work had been undertaken by the County Council, District Councils and 
NHS Health Services, working alongside local voluntary and community groups. 

One such activity had been the invaluable work undertaken via the ‘Know Your 
Patch (KYP) Networks’, set up in 2018. Conveniently located in all 6 districts, KYP 
Networks had been key to the county’s response to the pandemic. Feedback and 
communication generated by the network system had allowed the social care team 
to gain more understanding of the needs that existed within local communities and 
to put in place the necessary processes from which to provide food, prescriptions 
and social contact to those in most need. 

In terms of financial support, it was noted that, for the current financial year, the 
Adult Single Programme had made a direct contribution of over £800k to support 
the work of the voluntary and community sector. Acknowledging some of the 
benefits generated from working alongside volunteers and local communities during 
the pandemic, it was confirmed that the Council intended to build on this success by 
proposing that the Council’s Care Act Budget remain at the same level for the 2022-
23 financial year. 

During the past year, the council had been actively involved in work with the NHS 
One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System Partnership, successfully securing an 
additional £200k from NHS Gloucestershire CCG to invest in the rollout of a pilot for 
the creation of ‘digital buddy hubs’ located in each district. Co-ordinated by the 
community sector, the hubs would be essential to reaching out to wider parts of the 
county, in particular, to those living in remote locations who might find it hard to 
connect with the council’s prevention services. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Members commended the council’s ongoing work with the NHS One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System Partnership, including efforts to create 
links and combine resources pending further changes to the Care Act. It was 
confirmed that the intention was to consider how best to further the council’s 
support to the VCS; how to sustain the good work already underway and how to 
consider ways of developing new and innovative approaches to delivering social 
care and allowing more people lead independent lives. 

The committee requested information on funding opportunities that might provide 
longer-term funding to support the work of the VCS, plus details of the criteria on 
which the award of funding and community grants are based. It was agreed to 
circulate the information via email, with a further update to the committee in the 
New Year. Action by – Lead Commissioner (Adult Early Intervention)

Members commended the update and noted the report.

5. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

The committee received an in-depth overview of matters relating to the delivery of 
services within the portfolio of services covered by the Chief Fire Officer, 
(Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service), and within the remit of the 
Gloucestershire County Council Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee, (Trading Standards, Civil Protection and Coroners Services).

Highlighting key messages from the report, the Chief Fire Officer informed the 
committee that the demand on services was continuing to increase in comparison 
with demand for the same period in 2021/22. 

Reporting on the work of the Trading Standards Team, it was confirmed that the 
team had recently returned to carrying out intelligence led activities, (as undertaken 
prior to the pandemic), with officers resuming physical inspections. 

One key area of concern identified at the meeting was the increased number of 
unsafe products being placed on the market by Gloucestershire businesses. Market 
surveillance and enforcement work in response to product safety concerns and 
intelligence from the Office of Product Safety and Standards was ongoing. The 
service was also experiencing a notable increase in the need for complex and 
demanding investigations into the work of rogue builders.  

Although there was no evidence to support a surge in scam activities affecting the 
county, it was confirmed that there had been a notable increase in the number of 
bogus telephone calls during the pandemic. Members requested details of 
packages offered by some phone providers in an attempt to control and prevent the 
number of bogus calls.

It was suggested that the Civil Protection Team (CPT) present a briefing to the 
GCC Restoring Our Rivers Scrutiny Task Group on the county’s flood planning 
arrangements. The CPT provide emergency management support to 5 district 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

councils, including offering advice on any flood plan revisions that might be 
necessary to comply with revised DEFRA standards.  

Members supported the suggestion that the Trading Standards Team provide a 
briefing to the committee on detailed aspects of its work. It was agreed that the 
suggestion be added to the committee work plan. 

The report was noted. 

6. PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

The committee received an update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health, (Gloucestershire County Council), on matters relating to public 
health, including an update on the response to the COVID-19 Emergency. Included 
in the update was an overview of the most recent Covid-19 intelligence summary 
update circulated prior to the meeting. 

Referencing ongoing investigations into recent false negative test results affecting 
some parts of the country, including Gloucestershire, members were advised that 
the issue related to the laboratory test processing arrangements rather than to the 
test kits themselves. There was no evidence to suggest faults with lateral flow or 
PCR test kits and the public should remain confident in the services being provided. 

Acknowledging concerns about the accuracy of COVID-19 data, members were 
reassured that the information reflected a true representation. Noting the recent 
increase in the number of cases reported across the county, members were asked 
to reinforce the benefits of the booster vaccination within their divisions. 

Responding to questions on activities taken to address anti-vaccine protests at local 
schools, members were informed that a clear message was being sent to all age 
groups, advising them to make informed choices based on reputable sources of 
information rather than making perceptions from information circulated via social 
media. Schools were working closely with the police and doing a remarkable job of 
addressing any issues. 

Seeking information on the number of people not vaccinated due to a fear of 
needles and communication issues with non-English speaking residents, it was 
agreed to invite the Vaccine Equity Group to brief the committee on the support 
provided to these groups of people and the work of the group at the next meeting. 
Action by – Vaccine Equity Group

Responding to information included in the Public Health Report, the committee 
requested an update on the Council’s Child Measurement Programme, including 
actions taken to address the below national average weight management targets of 
Year 6 pupils in Gloucestershire and examples of work included in the recently 
extended Drug/Alcohol Contract. Action by – Public Health Team

The report was noted.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

7. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

The committee received an update from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health on matters relating to Adult Social Care for the county.

In a verbal update to the committee, members noted information on the 
investigation by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) into 
a complaint against the County Council. It was confirmed that a report would be 
presented to Cabinet by the Council’s Monitoring Officer and the Executive Director 
of Adult Social Care and Public Health at the cabinet meeting the following day, (10 
November 2021). The purpose of the report would be to advise Cabinet of a finding 
of maladministration and injustice by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman and to recommend appropriate actions to take in response.

In considering the report, Cabinet would be recommended to: 

1) Accept in full the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 
recommendations, as set out in sections 13 and 14 of the report;

2) Support and endorse the actions identified by the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health, as set out in paragraphs 15 to 23 of the 
report, and 

3) Meet the LGSCO’s requirement of sending a copy of the cabinet report and 
the minutes of the cabinet meeting at which the investigation was discussed 
to all County Councillors.

A report on the progress of the cabinet decision would be brought to the Adult 
Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee meeting on 25 January 2022, 
where there would be an opportunity for members to engage in a detailed 
discussion on the delivery of actions proposed by the Local Ombudsman. 

A key role of the committee would be to monitor delivery of the actions by the 
Adult Social Care Team. 

The committee received an update on the progress of the council’s social care 
reform work. It was reported that, in September 2021, the Government had 
released the ‘Build Back Better Plan for Health and Social Care’ policy document, 
setting out the government’s plan for adult social care in England, including a 
section on the Health and Social Care Levy. The Government to work with local 
government leaders, the NHS, service users and carers to develop and publish a 
White Paper for reforming adult social care. The committee to receive regular 
updates on this important piece of work. Action by - Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health 

Responding to questions on the escalation of costs in relation to the park home 
project and seeking assurances in response to concerns about the recruitment of 
care home staff, it was agreed to respond to the following questions relating to park 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

home costs after the meeting and to provide an update on recruitment issues at the 
next meeting. Action by – Housing with Care Team

Questions from Cllr Cate Cody (Park Homes)

The Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Partnership has continued to enhance the 
Warm and Well Programme, enabling greater collaboration between the County 
Council, District Councils and the NHS and resulting in considerable additional 
funding to support projects in the county. 

Two grants of approximately £1m were awarded to the county as part of the Local 
Authority Delivery phase 1a and 1b of the Green Homes Grant Scheme in 2020-21. 
This will enable the insulation of an additional 200 park homes and also offer air 
source heat pumps to residents in rural areas who have no gas supply. This, not 
only improves the energy efficiency of homes to make them warmer, but also 
significantly reduces carbon emissions.”

1) How many park homes in rural areas where there is no gas supply will be 
offered air source heat pumps? (I’ve purposely specified park homes rather 
than residents in park homes because if it’s a couple this would be two 
residents, but just one residence.) 

2) There were two grants of approximately £1m in 2020 /21, presumably 
therefore, the insulation of the 200 park homes are the ones we’ve seen in a 
previous report rather than additional?

3) Have the air source heat pumps already gone in?  If not, what is the likely 
impact in terms of materials and labour doubling in cost?

The report was noted.

8. QUARTER 2 (2021/22) PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Members considered an analysis of performance relating to the delivery of services 
within the remit of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
Prepared by the Performance & Improvement Team, the analysis provided strategic 
overview of the council’s performance for Quarter 2 of 2021/22.

In noting the report, the following actions were agreed: - 

1) The committee to receive a ‘Learning with Disabilities’ presentation from the 
Learning with Disabilities Team. 

2) Responding to concerns about drug and alcohol services during the 
pandemic, it was suggested the committee receive a ‘Change Grow Live’ 
(CGL) presentation on lessons learned/recovery planning from the 
pandemic. Representatives from the GCC Commissioning Team to 
contribute to the presentation.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

3) Seeking alternative approaches to how the committee considered 
performance reports, it was suggested officers from various commissioning 
teams be invited to future meetings to provide updates on specific aspects of 
performance

The report was noted.

9. WORK PLAN 

The committee work plan (attached) was noted (with a request to reinvigorate the 
council’s road safety work). 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.35pm

Page 8



Report of the Director of Public Health 
2021/22

SOURCES OF STRENGTH: 
SECURING GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S  HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
THROUGH AN ANCHOR INSTITUTIONS APPROACH

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



Foreword           03

Introduction           04

1. Employment          09

Case study: Forwards Employment Service       12

2. Procurement and Commissioning        13

Case study: Know Your Patch          15

3. Buildings and Capital         16

Case study: Vale Community Hospital Allotment Scheme     17

4. Environmental Sustainability        18

Case study: Building with Nature        20

5. Partnering in Place          21

Case study: Gloucester Community Building Collective and Gloucestershire Constabulary 23

Conclusion           24

Recommendations          24

Dashboard           25

References           27

CONTENTS

02REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 10



03REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

This year, COVID-19 has continued to send shockwaves through people, places and communities. 
As well as the visible impact on health and health services, the pandemic has also adversely 
impacted the economic and social aspects of our lives. 

FORE WORD

The pandemic has shone a light on the value of 
our local communities and the places in which 
we live. Large organisations with a long-term 
commitment to the place they are rooted in play 
an essential role in strengthening the economic 
and social aspects of the local community. This 
has been even more visible during the response 
to COVID-19 where we have seen how quickly 
our local communities and organisations have 
come together to provide support to those who 
needed it.

These organisations which are rooted in 
place and connected to their communities 
are known as “anchor institutions”. They are 
often large employers and have the ability to 
improve people’s health and wellbeing through 
their actions, including influencing the health 
of the wider community as well as their own 
employees. 

Over the last year, myself and my team have had 
a greater focus on the potential impact of anchor 
institutions. My annual report this year focuses 
on the role of anchor institutions in supporting 
health and wellbeing for all Gloucestershire 
residents. 

I want to focus on these organisations 
because they have the potential to tackle 
some of the longstanding inequalities in our 
local communities as well as helping to drive 
economic improvement as we continue our 
recovery from COVID-19. Through this, we 
keep our focus on the relationship between 
health and wealth, and continue our focus on 

the persistent inequalities faced by minority 
ethnic communities which was highlighted 
in my last two reports. Much of this work can 
only be achieved if we work in partnership with 
each other, building on individual organisations’ 
strengths to achieve more for Gloucestershire.

We have structured this report around five key 
areas where anchor institutions can truly add 
value:

• Employment – the role of anchor 
institutions in recruiting and retaining 
local staff, particularly those from more 
disadvantaged backgrounds

• Procurement and commissioning – how 
goods and services can be procured so 
that organisations that know their local 
communities can effectively provide these 
services

• Buildings and capital – ensuring that anchor 
institutions make their spaces available for 
community use, and how they can support 
access to affordable housing for staff

• Environment – how anchor institutions can 
help Gloucestershire meet its carbon neutral 
targets, as well as supporting improvement 
of air quality and the local environment

• Place – focusing on the needs of our local 
community and working in partnership 
across Gloucestershire.

The preparation of this annual report is a team 
effort and I would like to thank those who 
contributed to its design, drafting and content 
this year: Maria Arthurs-Hartnett, Jessica Benton, 
Kate Yorke, Zoe Clifford and Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Design Team.

My thanks also go to those who have shared 
their experiences and good practice: 

- Zoe French; Izzy Belcher, Forwards 
Employment Team; Amanda Godber, Down 
to Earth; Matt Williams, Rae Bell, and 
Justine Rawlings, Gloucester Community 
Building Collective; Healthy Workplaces 
Gloucestershire; Di Billingham; Kingfisher 
Treasure Seekers; Forest Voluntary 
Action Forum; Barnwood Trust; Louise 
Borg-Littleton and Hayden Selwyn, 
Gloucestershire Constabulary; Nicola 
Simpson, Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust; 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group.

I hope that this report will help you to think more 
about how your own organisation can do more for 
our local community, and help to drive our focus 
on levelling up in Gloucestershire. If you have any 
questions about this report, please get in touch by 
email: sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk

PROFESSOR SARAH SCOTT,  
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
AND PUBLIC HEALTH 
2021

P
age 11



The relationship between health and wealth is intrinsic 
and was explored in a Gloucestershire’s Director of 
Public Health’s report in 2019, which focused on 
inclusive growth as a social determinant. Economic 
growth that is distributed fairly is better for everyone in 
the area, and employment and the type of job a person 
does has a significant impact on health. 

Access to stable and rewarding employment is not fairly 
distributed and this has an ongoing impact on the health 
of Gloucestershire residents. Furthermore, we know 
there are some communities which are impacted more 
than others in terms of good employment. 

Widening inequalities and growing pressures on 
health care services in recent years has also prompted 
questions about the role and responsibility of large 
organisations to tackle the wider determinants of health 
and to act as “anchor institutions”. Anchor institutions 
are central to the concept of community wealth and 
health building as a result of the scale of their spending 
through procurement, the jobs they provide, their land 
and assets, and the fact that they are unlikely to leave 
the local area.

For this reason, we have decided to focus on anchor 
institutions for this year’s Director of Public Health 
report. This allows us to focus on some of largest and 
most permanent organisations in Gloucestershire, and 
consider how they can influence the health of our 
communities. 

The report offers case studies of where these positive 
influences are already making a difference locally and 
offers practical suggestions for how organisations can 
move forward.

04REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

Health is closely linked to the conditions in which we are born, 
grow, live, work and age and to inequities in power, money and 
resources. These social determinants impact our health and 
wellbeing and can drive widening health inequalities. Health 
inequalities are the “unfair and avoidable differences in health 
across the population, and between different groups in society”.1

INTRODUCTION

P
age 12



WHY TAKE AN ANCHOR 
INSTITUTION APPROACH? - 
THE POTENTIAL TO IMPACT 
HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

Anchor institutions are well 
positioned to use their assets 
and resources to benefit the 
communities around them to 
improve health and reduce health 
inequalities. These organisations 
have the potential to impact on 
some of the key social determinants 
of health which drive health 
inequalities. 

Health inequalities are not caused by 
one single issue, but by a complex 
mix of environmental and social 
factors. The COVID-19 pandemic 

has highlighted the impact of health 
inequalities, with the pandemic 
having a disproportionate impact 
on those who are already facing 
disadvantage and discrimination. 
Across England, life expectancy has 
fallen to its lowest since 2011 for 
males and females.

In Gloucestershire, life expectancy 
is 7.6 years lower for men and 5.4 
years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas than in the least 
deprived areas.5 The difference 
is even steeper for healthy life 
expectancy, meaning that not only 
do more deprived people have 
shorter lives on average, they also 
spend more of their lives in poor 
health. 

It is estimated that only 25% of the 
factors that influence our health 
are related to the access, quality 
and experience of healthcare itself.6 
Other factors, such as housing, 
education and employment, have 
a greater influence. These social or 
wider determinants of health must 
be considered when tackling health 
inequalities. 

Tackling health inequalities is 
complex and requires a joined-
up approach, bringing together 
local partners to tackle structural 
inequality and maintain a long-term 
vision. Anchor institutions can play 
a central role in contributing to the 
social determinants of health.

WHAT IS AN 
ANCHOR 
INSTITUTION?

“Anchor institutions are large 
organisations that are unlikely to 
relocate and have a significant stake 
in their local area. They have sizeable 
assets that can be used to support 
their local community’s health and 
wellbeing and tackle health inequalities, 
for example, through procurement, 
training, employment, professional 
development, and buildings and  
land use”.2 

Anchor institutions already influence the health and 
wellbeing of communities simply by being present, 
but they can have an even greater impact on the wider 
factors that make us healthy by choosing to invest in 
and work with others locally and responsibly.3 

These organisations have this influence whether or not 
they are conscious of it. By being more mindful and 
targeted in the ways these resources and mechanisms 
are used, an anchor organisation can maximise the 
positive impact it has on its local community.

Anchor institutions have traditionally been seen 
as public sector organisations, such as health care 
services, local authorities and universities, due to their 
size and social purpose. The footprint of the public 
sector in Gloucestershire is significant as it covers a 
population of 640,6504 and has the potential to have 
a powerful effect on health and health inequalities. 
This links to the statutory duty under the Social Value 
Act which requires public authorities to have regard 
to economic, social and environmental well-being 
in connection with public services contracts and for 
connected purposes.

Purchasing more locally and for social 
benefit 
NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group spent over £1billion on goods and 
services in 2020/21.

https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2021/09/GCCG-Annual-
Report-20-21_CH_22.pdf

Using buildings and spaces to 
support communities 
Gloucestershire County Council occupies 
775 sites across the county.

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
business-property-and-economy/land-
and-property/land-ownership-enquiries/

Widening access to quality work 
10% of all people employed in Gloucestershire work in 
the public sector, 13% in health and care.

Gloucestershire County Council, Data and Insights Team

Working more closely  
with local partners 
Anchor institutions can work with 
communities in a strengths-based 
way and model civic responsibility.

Reducing its environmental impact 
The NHS is responsible for 40% of the public sector’s carbon footprint.

https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/
the-nhs-as-an-anchor-institution

05REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 13



TYPES OF 
ANCHOR 
INSTITUTIONS
The King’s Fund highlight that the definition 
of an anchor institution is not limited to 
public sector organisations, as anchor 
institutions are defined more by their link to 
a place than their sector. There are many 
private and voluntary sector organisations 
that hold a significant interest in the long-
term development and health of their local 
areas.

We are using the term of anchor 
institutions in the widest sense, but their 
different functions and organisational 
capacities mean it is helpful to view them 
in three distinct categories:

• Public sector anchor institutions

• Community anchor institutions

• Business anchor institutions.

PUBLIC SECTOR ANCHORS

Large, public sector organisations are 
unlikely to relocate and also have a 
significant stake in a geographical area, 
meaning they are effectively ‘anchored’ in 
their surrounding community. They have 
sizeable assets that can be used to support 
local community wealth building and 
development, through procurement and 
spending power, workforce and training, 
and buildings and land.7 There is also scope 
for public sector organisations to work 
together in their roles as system leaders 
to have further impact and influence on 
health inequalities. 

COMMUNITY ANCHORS

Community anchors have been described 
locally through the work of the Barnwood 
Trust as organisations that hold a unique 
place within the community ecosystem.8 

Recognised and trusted by local people 
and organisations alike, they interact with 
local decision-makers, the wider voluntary 
and community sector (VCS) within their 
community and informal networks on the 
ground. 

Advocating for the resources needed 
in the communities in which they are 
embedded, they use their skills to enable 
and retain power for local people to do 
things for themselves. They hold extensive 
local knowledge and, due to their trusted 
relationships, sometimes have access to 
funding from local decision-makers, the 
distribution of which is informed by the 
needs of the local community.

BUSINESS ANCHORS

The mutual benefits of a healthy workforce 
and thriving economy to businesses and 
individuals is well documented and many 
private organisations are acting as anchors 
in their communities.9 Gloucestershire’s 
Local Industrial Strategy10 makes the case 
for using planned growth as a lever to 
tackle inequalities, close the gap and make 
sure that everyone can contribute and 
benefit.

Defining which businesses are ‘anchors’ 
still lacks clarity. A key feature of 
anchor institutions is their size and the 
influence they have over local economic 
development. The Netter Centre for 
Community Partnerships Unit has 
developed a useful set of guidelines.11 
However, these focus mainly on the 
economic role: 

• Does it have a large stake and 
important presence in the community? 

• Is it a centre for culture, learning and 
innovation? 

• Is it one of the largest employers? 

• Is it among the largest purchasers of 
goods and services? 

• Does it have economic impact on 
employment, revenue gathering and 
spending patterns? 

• Does it consume sizeable amounts of 
land? 

• Does it have relatively fixed assets? 

• Does it attract businesses and highly 
skilled individuals? 

This report considers anchor institutions 
in the broadest sense because any 
organisation that is motivated to do so can 
take steps to impact positively on health 
inequalities and sustainability. 

The starting point for co-ordinated action 
across the system in Gloucestershire will 
be the more traditionally defined anchors 
from the public sector who have already 
begun this journey. The recommendations 
of this report largely relate to these core 
anchor institutions.

“Anchor institutions 
are well positioned
to use their assets and 
resources to benefit 
the communities 
around them
to improve health  
and reduce health
inequalities.”

06REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 14



3

 Commit to target voluntary, 
training and employment 
opportunities for local residents, 
especially in underrepresented 
and disadvantaged communities. 
Work experience placements, 
apprenticeships and internships 
to build the skills of those furthest 
from the jobs market.

 Support staff development and 
career progression, targeted at 
groups who are underrepresented 
in senior positions. Mentoring 
and coaching schemes that are 
coproduced by groups who 
are underrepresented in senior 
positions.

 Maximise the social, economic and environmental 
benefits to the local community by being a fair and 
ethical partner. Work with diverse local providers 
and suppliers where possible, to support the 
overall sustainability agenda and create a Greener 
Gloucestershire. 

 Consider the implications of social value in all 
relevant decision-making processes. Ensure 
there is an aligned social value policy within 
the organisation, and that it is given significant 
consideration in procurement exercises.

 Adhere to the highest ethical standards in our 
operations and supply chains. Ensure systems and 
procedures are transparent and promote best 
practice so that employees, local people and local 
environment are protected.

 Support local community action and mutual 
aid groups by being an active community 
partner, focusing in areas with greater need. 
Work collaboratively with local third sector 
organisations and share resources and expertise 
to encourage local groups to access available 
opportunities. 

 Consult with local community groups to co-
produce policy solutions. Establish and maintain 
positive relationships with community groups and 
faith leaders, and involve them in decision making 
processes.

 Protect the local environment, and minimise 
negative impacts on places and spaces. Ensure 
that environmental consideration is evident in 
each stage of the supply chain and decision-
making process, to maintain quality and access to 
green spaces.

 Promote healthy lifestyles and support the health 
and wellbeing of the community. Prioritise the 
health and wellbeing of staff and encourage 
healthy lifestyle choices in all work. 

 Act as a positive example  
of ethical and effective  
leadership to encourage  
innovation and action  
across the community.  
Encourage leaders 
to play an active  
role in the locality,  
demonstrating  
best practice in  
an accessible and  
visible manner.

2

4

6

7

8

9

10

5

1

WHAT DOES IT MEAN TO BE AN ANCHOR 
INSTITUTION IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE? 

In March 2021, the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Board approved ten principles which 
set out publicly how the member organisations 
will act as anchor institutions for the local 
community going forward. The principles form a 
Gloucestershire anchor institutions charter for any 
organisations which consider themselves to be 
anchor institutions to pledge their commitment. 

07REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ANCHOR 
INSTITUTION PRINCIPLES

P
age 15



KEY AREAS FOR ACTION

It is widely recognised that there are 
five key areas that can help anchor 
institutions to plan and deliver for the 
local community:

• Employment, including recruitment 
and workforce

• Procurement of goods and services

• Environmental sustainability

• Use of buildings and capital

• Partnership working.12

These are practical ways that anchor 
institutions can think about how 
they influence the health of the local 
population and what changes they can 
make to ensure this impact is as positive 
as it can be.  

Though a helpful way of breaking down 
a large concept, these areas should not 
be seen in silo. For example, encouraging 
active travel as a means of getting 
to work improves employee health, 
but also has a positive impact on the 
environment. 

This report is structured according 
to these areas, outlining the local 
issues, how anchors can tackle health 
inequalities and showcasing a case 
study of good work being undertaken 
in Gloucestershire. The report then 
makes a number of recommendations to 
encourage organisations and the wider 
system in the county to take forward an 
anchor institutions approach to tackling 
health inequalities and levelling up our 
economy.

HOW DOES THIS BUILD ON 
PREVIOUS DIRECTOR OF 
PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL 
REPORTS?

The opportunity to focus on anchor 
institutions brings together many aspects 
of the two most recent Director of Public 
Health reports. 

The 2019/20 report looked at the 
long-standing health inequalities faced 
by ethnic minority communities in 
Gloucestershire and the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.13 The report 
made a case for change, bringing 
together evidence, data and lived 
experience from across Gloucestershire 
to show how health inequalities affect 
diverse communities. It recognised 
that structural and institutional 
racism contribute to these persistent 
inequalities.

The report set out how anchor 
institutions can contribute to tackling 
structural racism and its ongoing impact 
on health by:

• accelerating efforts to improve 
workplace race equality and 
promote, value and support diverse 
leadership across systems and 
institutions

• ensuring employment practices 
(including training, internships, 
apprenticeships and progression 
opportunities) are inclusive

• using local public sector ‘purchasing 
power’ to promote an inclusive 
local economy that encourages and 
values diversity.

Eight recommendations were set out 
in the 2019/20 report. Over the last 
year, the focus within Gloucestershire 

County Council has been on building 
capacity in staffing to deliver the 
recommendations. An Equalities Officer 
has been recruited whose role has been 
designed specifically to take forward the 
recommendations, and to ensure that 
ownership is taken of each of the actions. 

Other staffing roles have been identified 
to help contribute to the implementation 
of the action plan, including within the 
Health Inequalities team in Public Health. 
Other recommendations are underway, 
for example the development of a Race 
Equality Panel for Gloucestershire. 

The 2018/19 report was focused 
on tackling health inequalities 
through inclusive growth. One of the 
recommendations from the report was 
that local anchor institutions should 
consider how they can lead by example 
in delivering inclusive growth through 
their employment and spending power. 

As highlighted in the introduction, this 
year’s report will build on inclusive 
economies and growth, by highlighting 
that anchor institutions can create the 
conditions for a healthy and inclusive 
population, in particular through local 
employment practices.

08REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 16



1:  EMPLOYMENT

Anchor institutions play an important 
role in the county’s economic and 
communal life as employers of local 
residents. 1 in 10 people employed 
in Gloucestershire work in the 
public sector.14 By being aware of 
who has access to employment 
and professional development 
opportunities, as well as the quality 
and conditions of work of existing 
employees, anchor institutions 
can have a significant impact on 
the health and wellbeing of the 
population. 

A healthy population is an essential 
component of a prosperous 
economy. In 2010, the Marmot 
Review estimated that health 
inequalities result in huge costs:

• Productivity losses of £31–33 
billion per year

• Lost taxes and higher welfare 
payments in the range of 
£20–32 billion per year.15

Levelling up the county will be most 
effective if it starts from the bottom-
up. People on lower incomes spend 
a higher proportion of their income 
on housing, bills and essentials, 
meaning they are less able to save 
or withstand economic shocks. 
Consequently, raising the incomes 
of the lowest paid is also the 
quickest way to increase consumer 
spending, therefore boosting the 
economy: This is known as ‘trickle-
up economics’.16

UNEMPLOYMENT

In July 2021, 18.3% of jobseekers 
were aged 18-25 and 13 wards in 
Gloucestershire had unemployment 
levels over 6%, compared to the 
county average of 3.6%.17 Adults 
aged 25-49 from an ethnic minority 
background are more likely to be 
unemployed than White British 
adults of the same age. For Black 
people, the rate is more than 
double. 

Amongst those aged 25 or over, 
people with long-term limiting 
illnesses or disability were more 
likely than others to have never 
worked or to be in routine 
occupations.18 

Unemployment is associated with an 
increased risk of death and disease, 
including:

• Limiting long-term illness

• Cardiovascular disease

• Poor mental health and suicide

• Health-damaging behaviours, 
such as smoking, physical 
inactivity and drinking excess 
alcohol.19

Longitudinal studies have concluded 
that being unemployed while young 
can lead to long-term ‘scarring’, 
including mental health conditions 
well into middle age, lower pay and 
more frequent unemployment later 
in life.20 

PAY AND CONDITIONS

Securing a job might be the first 
step, but the pay and conditions of 
work also have a substantial impact 
on health and wellbeing. 36% of job 
vacancies advertised in health and 
care in the county in 2020 paid less 
than £25,000.21 Having a low income 
restricts a person’s ability to lead a 
healthy life and participate fully in 
the social aspects of society. 

Despite falling unemployment in the 
years before the pandemic and the 
introduction of the National Living 
Wage, poverty rates in England have 
risen slightly over the last decade, 
particularly for children.22 

“Among working-age adults in 
poverty, three-fifths are either in 
work or live with someone who is.” 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation23

Low paid roles are often 
characterised by disempowering 
conditions which have further 
adverse effects on one’s health and 
wellbeing including physical labour, 
shift work, little to no control over 
tasks and conditions, high demand 
with low reward, and job insecurity.24 

In August 2021, the Health 
Foundation studied the experiences 
of NHS workers on incomes below 
£24,157. It found that women 
accounted for 85% of this group and 
that these workers were more likely 
to feel undervalued, experience 
racial discrimination, and work in 
physically demanding or hazardous 
situations.25

09REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 17



Figure 1: Comparison of actual growth and projected growth needed to meet demand in the NHS and social care 
workforces in England (Health Foundation, 2021).

We know that these are areas of employment that have been under particular 
pressure during COVID-19 and suffer from staff shortages. Local employers in 
these sectors need to be aware and plan for the expected growth, making use of 
apprenticeships, good retention strategies and workforce planning to meet the 
expected demand.

 
“Lower paid NHS staff 
have higher rates 
of workplace stress, 
sickness absence and 
are at increased risk of 
long-term conditions 
such as diabetes and 
heart disease. They are 
also more likely to retire 
early due to ill-health.”
Health Foundation26 

The Health Foundation found that 
lower paid NHS staff are less likely 
to access workplace health and 
wellbeing interventions, highlighting 
the disconnect between the initiatives 
they wanted to see, versus what their 
employer thought was needed and 
delivered. 

Creating opportunities for lower 
paid staff to co-design programmes 
and ensuring manager support for 
involvement were found to be crucial 
enablers of participation. Clear 
communication channels, strong 
representation and a voice within the 
organisation were all highlighted as 
important to wellbeing at work.27

RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION

One of the ways for anchor institutions 
to positively address health inequalities 
is through recruitment and widening 
the pool of those who have access to 
opportunities. 

Barriers to entering employment for 
underrepresented groups, a lack of 
progression opportunities creating 
‘dead-end’ roles, and a net loss of 
young and working-age people out of 

county mean there is currently huge 
untapped potential in Gloucestershire’s 
population. 

Positive action and other measures to 
reduce discrimination and unconscious 
bias in recruitment and increase 
diversity have momentous benefits to 
organisations through representing a 
broader range of residents, bringing 
in new ideas, and driving innovation. 
Interventions should include reviewing 
entry points and progression paths to 
enable those currently excluded to have 
the opportunity to build meaningful and 
rewarding careers. 

A county-wide survey of businesses 
in 2018 found that 17% of businesses 
reported making use of the 
apprenticeship scheme, with the 
highest take-up in education, public 
administration and defence. The survey 
found a lower than average take-up in 
the health sector.28

Gloucestershire Employment and Skills 
Hub opened earlier this year to help 
residents access a range of employment 
and skills support. The hub brings 
together established Gloucestershire 
County Council employment, skills 
and apprenticeship services, including 
adult education and the Forwards 
Employment Service (see case study) 
with referrals offered by GFirst Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) skills and 
careers teams. 

The needs of our local workforce will 
continue to change. Figure 1 from the 
Health Foundation estimates that the 
national NHS workforce needs to grow 
twice as fast as it has in the last decade 
to meet increases in demand.29 Social 
care needs to grow four times faster 
than the last decade.30 

60%

40%

20%

0%
NHS Social care

20%

13%

40%

55%

Actual growth over past decade

Projected growth needed to meet demand over next decade

10REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 18



HEALTH IN THE WORKPLACE

Anchor institutions can positively impact 
our population’s health of by supporting 
the health and wellbeing of their existing 
workforces. Furthermore, organisations 
with higher levels of staff engagement 
have lower rates of sickness absence, 
improved service user/customer 
experience and higher levels of staff 
retention. 

The Healthy Workplaces Gloucestershire 
Award recognises local employers 
for the work they do to support their 
employees’ health and wellbeing. 
The award is free and open to all 
Gloucestershire organisations, public, 
private and voluntary. The scheme 
provides a framework and resources 
to support organisations to promote 
workforce health across many areas, 
including health and safety, mental 
wellbeing and stress, active travel, and 
healthy eating.31

SUMMARY: ACTIONS 
ANCHOR INSTITUTIONS 
CAN TAKE

Widening workforce 
participation 

• Targeting positions for local 
people 

• Understanding local 
demographics and 
opportunities so the county 
develops a workforce which 
matches the types of roles 
needed

• Creating pre-employment 
programmes, work 
placements and volunteer 
work experience 

Building the future workforce 

• Engaging young people 
and supporting career 
development 

• Increasing the number and 
types of apprenticeships 

Being a good employer 

• Committing to the real living 
wage for employed and 
contracted staff

• Supporting health and 
wellbeing of staff 

• Supporting fair conditions of 
employment 

• Supporting professional 
development and career 
progression.32

11REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 19



The Forwards Employment Service 
enable people with disabilities and 
health conditions in Gloucestershire to 
achieve their employment aspirations 
by providing individuals with the 
structured support they need to 
promote independence and fulfil their 
ambitions. They also help those facing 
challenges whilst in employment or 
employers who have job opportunities 
or require advice on how to make roles 
accessible.33

Zoe lives in Gloucestershire and has 
battled mental health challenges, 
depression and anxiety for some 
time. Zoe joined Forwards after a very 
unfortunate experience of being made 
redundant. This experience, along with 
previous working conditions left her 
confidence and mood very low, so 
much so that Zoe had started to tell 
herself that she deserved to be let go. 

Referred to Forwards by a mental health 
care team, we hoped we could find 
a workplace for Zoe that was more 
suitable and could help to build her 
confidence levels back up along the 
way. At the same time, Zoe has been 
on an amazing journey of her own and 
to this day she has lost an incredible 
9 stone as part of her endeavour to 
improve her self-esteem. What a feat! 

We had been looking for opportunities 
for Zoe to work within the health 
sector and saw a job advert for a 
medical secretary in a doctor’s surgery. 
We applied and waited for the good 
news that soon arrived; she had an 
interview. Together we practised the 
STAR technique to help her succeed at 
the interview and she even had Post-it 
notes on the wall behind the computer 
screen during the interview to help her 
keep focused. 

Unfortunately, we later heard that Zoe 
didn’t get the job but she did receive 
some fantastic feedback regarding 
the interview. This of course was still 
upsetting. At some points Zoe felt like 
she wasn’t going to get a job but did 
feel like Forwards took the pressure off. 
A few weeks later, Zoe received a call 
to inform her that she impressed the 
interviewers so much that they had a 
different role available that they wanted 
to offer her.

Zoe started this role in March 2021 and 
once again impressed quickly. She has 
even been offered more hours because 
of her fantastic work: she has gone 
from an initial 8-hour contract to a 29-
hour contract and is now doing three 
different roles of administrative work. 

We asked Zoe about her journey and this is what she had to say:

“Knowing Izzy was on the end of the phone to text or call was 
such a comfort. Izzy was so kind and listened to me, and never 
judged me. Izzy, I felt was so supportive of me, even the times 
when I had meltdowns she just listened to me and helped me 
with anything that I asked her to do. It made me feel so much 
better knowing I wasn’t alone and Izzy was such a help. I truly 
cannot thank her enough.”

Zoe also told us that she didn’t realise work could be so much more enjoyable than 
what she had experienced so far. She is now in a lovely place with friendly colleagues 
around her. Most importantly, Zoe told us she finally feels that the real Zoe is starting 
to appear! We wish her the best of luck in her new employment and all the best for 
the future.

Izzy Belcher, Forwards Employment Team

FORWARDS 
EMPLOYMENT SERVICE

CASE

STUDY

12REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 20



Through investing resources locally, 
anchor organisations help local 
businesses to grow, employ more 
people and pay higher wages. Those 
people employed are also more likely 
to spend locally, thus stimulating the 
county’s economy further.

SOCIAL VALUE IN PROCUREMENT

Beyond spending locally, anchor 
organisations can go further and 
consider the social benefits of 
purchasing decisions. Social Value is 
defined through the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 2012 (Act) which 
came into force in January 2013 and 
requires all public sector organisations 
(and their suppliers) to look beyond the 
financial cost of a contract and consider 
how the services they commission and 
procure might improve the economic, 
social and environmental wellbeing of 
an area.36

There are two related methods of 
spending to which anchor institutions 
could apply an approach for social 
value: 

• Procurement refers to the 
method of purchasing goods 
and services by organisations 
from other external or third-
party organisations, resulting in a 
contract. 

• Commissioning is the process that 
public sector organisations go 
through to assess and determine 
what services are needed for a local 
area and choose what and how 
to allocate resources to provide 
services that meet those needs. 

In the NHS, there will be a mandatory 
10% weighting for social value in all 
NHS procurement from April 2022, 
though some NHS organisations, 
including Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust have already adopted 
a sustainable procurement strategy. 
This includes elements such as buying 
food from local producers and ensuring 
materials come from sustainable 
sources, for example wood from 
Forest Stewardship Council certified 
suppliers.37 

Gloucester City Council is also among 
organisations in the county which 
have adopted a policy for social value. 
It states that for procurement activity 
exceeding £50,000, the City Council will 
require potential suppliers for contracts 
to submit details on how they will 
deliver social value through the lifetime 
of the contract. Social Value deliverables 
cover the five following areas: 

• Promoting local skills and 
employment 

• Supporting growth of responsible 
regional business 

• Creating healthier, safer and more 
resilient communities 

• Protecting and improving our 
environment 

• Promoting social innovation.38

Anchor institutions in Gloucestershire have significant 
purchasing power and decisions about what to buy and 
how have an impact on the health and wellbeing of the 
local population. 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) spent over £1billion on goods and services 
in 2020/21.34 Resources spent locally on small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and the voluntary 
and community sector have a multiplier effect and are 
reinvested back into the county’s economy at a faster rate 
than those spent with national or external organisations.35

13REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

2 :  PROCUREMENT  
AND COMMISSIONING
 

P
age 21



Figure 2: Resourcing Resilient Gloucestershire, Barnwood Trust41

groups representing Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic communities in the 
county. The Forest Voluntary Action 
Forum was set up to address this issue 
in the Forest of Dean by providing 
a district-wide footprint to facilitate 
access to resources and information for 
the district’s many separate hyper-local 
community groups.

Earlier this year, the Barnwood Trust, 
which supports disabled people and 
people with mental health challenges, 
conducted a listening exercise 
across the county to research the 
lessons that could be learned from 
COVID-19 and how this contributed 
to a resilient Gloucestershire. The 
research highlighted the extensive 
contribution of local community groups 
and organisations as well as five core 
challenges participants felt restricted 
the impact they could make (see figure 2).

• Short-term funding

• The omission of local expertise 
from decision-making

• Restrictive outcome measures

• An emphasis on competition at the 
expense of collaboration 

• Complex processes.40

IMPACT ON HEALTH INEQUALITIES

Public sector anchor institutions can 
also have a greater influence on health 
inequalities in Gloucestershire by 
considering the ways in which services 
are commissioned. The COVID-19 
pandemic has further underscored the 
important role played by the voluntary 
and community sector in supporting 
the health of residents. Public financing 
is key to the survival of the sector 
and national research highlights the 
challenges these groups are facing: 

Last year’s Director of Public Health 
report highlighted that the structures 
in place favoured larger charities at the 
expense of smaller, grassroots groups 
who can struggle to access contracts 
and funding. This particularly impacts 

“Charities have  
reported increased 
competition for  
grants and contracts  
in the last year. 
Commissioning itself 
continues to be a 
challenge with small 
charities reporting  
that contracts are  
going to larger, 
generalist  
charities.”  
Lloyds Bank  
Foundation39

Short Term 
Funding

Uncertainty

Lack of time

Unsustainable

Longer term 
funding  

agreements  
(5 years+)

Long-term 
perspectives

Disconnected

Fail to 
recognise 

unique 
characteristics

Lack of  
recognition

More local 
representation

More 
recognition  

of local  
civil society

Restrictive

Lack of trust

Broader 
understanding 
of ‘outcomes’ 
and impact

Greater 
flexibility

Promotes  
silos

Constraining 
potential

Value  
collaborative 

working

A more  
collaborative 

approach

Time 
consuming

Inaccessible

More  
streamlined  

and  
accessible 
processes

Omission 
of Local 

Expertise

Restrictive
Outcome 
Measures

Competition 
vs.

Collaboration

Complex 
Processes

Im
p

ac
t 

o
f 

C
h

al
le

n
g

e
A

ct
io

n
  

P
o

in
ts

At an event to launch the report, 
Barnwood Trust initiated what will be 
the first of a number of conversations 
between colleagues in the VCS, 
commissioning and funding about 
how together we can learn from the 
pandemic and develop systems that 
work for everyone in Gloucestershire. 

Participants were appreciative of some 
of the ways commissioning had been 
more flexible during the crisis and 
were united in asking commissioners 
to sustain the trust, flexibility and 
autonomy they were able to offer  
going forward. 

SUMMARY: ACTIONS ANCHOR 
INSTITUTIONS CAN TAKE

Shifting more spend locally

• Building local capacity and 
supporting local supply chains

Embedding social value into 
purchasing decisions

• Prioritising and monitoring social 
value

• Building organisational capability 
and capacity for social value.42

14REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 22



It was acknowledged this this type 
of commissioning requires a leap 
of faith, as an important factor 
for the development was for the 
commissioner to “step away and 
let the networks grow organically”. 
This approach provides a fantastic 
opportunity for the public sector 
to listen to communities and work 
differently. It does however mean a 
change in the power dynamic between 
commissioners and providers, and trust 
to be established and maintained.

“We have the freedom to 
develop and deliver in 
our own way, working 
in partnership with the 
district council and 
collaboratively with other 
KYP leads. It’s a positive 
and helpful model of 
working, that enables us to 
innovate and adapt to the 
needs of the community.”

15REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

Know Your Patch (KYP) Networks 
are based in each district of 
Gloucestershire and are hosted 
by local organisations. The 
initiative was started in 2018 by 
Gloucestershire County Council 
and involved a different approach 
to commissioning. The networks 
meet quarterly and help to connect 
VCS and statutory organisations 
together for effective partnership 
working.

The networks were established with 
the belief that thriving communities 
are key to good lives. KYP believes 
that people prefer to find their own 
solutions and that when we get 
better at helping those people, we 
reduce pressure on services. 

The commissioning process was 
designed specifically to be non-
competitive. It was developed this 
way as it was felt the VCS had been 
competing with itself for contracts 
for years, and with the end goal 
looking to develop sustainable 
partnerships, having a competitive 
tendering process wouldn’t provide 
a good starting point for positive 
relationships to develop. 

The process started with a request 
for an Expression of Interest and a 
meeting took place in each district 
for interested parties. Once the 
discussion had taken place and 
roles and responsibilities outlined, 
the organisations fit to deliver 
the project were awarded the 
contract. This ensured a fair and 
equitable process was conducted 
without the need for a competitive 
tender process and that the best 

organisation with the right fit was 
able to deliver. 

KYP leads noted that one of the 
biggest differences between this 
contract and others, was the degree 
of coproduction and flexibility. 
Contracts were awarded on an 
initial 3-year basis which gave leads 
confidence that they had time to 
engage with communities and build 
the network organically. Each lead 
felt that they were able to develop 
their own network to suit the needs 
of their individual communities 
and that there were very few fixed 
outcomes demanded of them from. 

“I felt that our ideas 
and suggestions were 
taken into account 
when developing the 
approach to KYPN  
and to developing  
the idea.”

“You could see 
coproduction to 
happening in real 
time, right in front of 
your eyes.”

Another important aspect of the KYP 
delivery that differentiates it from 
other networks is that it is set up 
specifically to enhance cross sector 

engagement. This is significant as it 
creates an equal relationship where 
neither the public nor VCS sectors 
are in the driving seat, nor are they 
the junior partner. It breaks down 
barriers that working in sectors can 
bring and encourages participants to 
concentrate on what we are trying 
to achieve in common. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, 
KYP provided a touchpoint for the 
public sector into communities, 
whilst providing a space to 
coordinate efforts to support 
communities. It was felt that 
KYP provided a safe space for 
collaboration and coproduction 
which was enhanced by there 
being an equal power balance and 
common goal. 

“Since attending KYP 
we feel much more 
connected with other 
organisations and the 
community.”

Regarding their relationship with the 
commissioner, KYP leads all reported 
that they were able to have open 
and honest conversations about 
what was and what wasn’t working 
well, without being judged or fearing 
losing the contract. This allowed  
issues to be dealt with quickly, 
changes to be made flexibly and a 
clear dialogue between the public 
and VCS sectors to be sustained. 

KNOW YOUR PATCH
CASE

STUDY

P
age 23



Anchor institutions often have 
significant physical assets and 
capital investments that can be 
leveraged for the benefit of the 
local community by supporting 
broader social, economic 
and environmental aims. 
Gloucestershire County Council 
alone owns 775 physical assets 
in the county, including schools, 
commercial properties, farmland 
and housing.43 Anchor strategies 
can incorporate measures to 
increase access to affordable 
housing, provide buildings and 
green spaces for community use, 
and take measures to ensure that 
capital development projects 
provide the maximum benefit for 
local communities. 

The combined capital spending of anchor 
institutions in the county has the potential 
to have a significant impact on the local 
community. The county council’s capital 
budget for 2020/21 was £123.87 million. 
The infrastructure projects that comprise 
Gloucestershire Vision 2050 will involve 
substantial resources and personnel. All 
developments involve choices about 
materials, workforce, design, cost, and 
sustainability. Involving communities 
throughout the process, providing 
targeted opportunities for local workers 
and organisations, and considering 
environmental sustainability all help to 
ensure mutual benefits for health and 
wellbeing as well as the local economy  
of capital spend. 

HOUSING

One of the ways in which anchor 
organisations can improve housing 
availability and affordability in the county 
is by making parts of their estates available 
for housing development. Prioritising 
housing for key workers close to 
workplaces has the additional benefit of 
encouraging recruitment and retention  
of staff. 

Housing is one of the most significant 
contributors to health and wellbeing. 
Those who lack stable housing face some 
of the starkest health inequalities. Research 
suggests that average age of death of 
men who have experienced longer-term 
homelessness is 47 years, for women this  
is 43 years.44 

People living in poor quality housing are 
more likely to experience physical and 
mental health challenges. Gloucestershire 
primary care data shows that people 
living in park homes have a much higher 
prevalence of Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease (COPD). Being unable 
to effectively heat the home, resulting 
in excess cold and damp conditions, is 
linked to several chronic health problems, 
including respiratory and cardiovascular 
conditions, rheumatoid arthritis, and poor 
mental health.45 8.8% of households in 
Gloucestershire faced fuel poverty in 2018. 

ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SPACES

Loneliness and social isolation can lead to 
a 30% higher rate of premature mortality, 
comparable to those associated with 
smoking and alcohol consumption, and 

is a risk factor in developing depression.47 
Vibrant community activity increases 
resilience and reduces dependency on 
services. Creating community hubs that 
bring people together also have the 
potential to get people back into town 
centres and investing in the local economy. 

Anchor institutions can encourage this 
by facilitating access to spaces for local 
community groups. Many community 
groups struggle to access meeting space 
as well as funding. Though local authorities 
and other anchor institutions already 
do make some buildings available for 
community groups, short-term tenancies 
and other restrictions can hinder the 
effectiveness of this arrangement. The 
Forest Voluntary Action Forum reports 
that youth groups in the Forest of Dean 
find it difficult to obtain suitable places 
for their groups to meet. Buildings are 
sometimes dilapidated and the groups are 
unable to make the space their own. As a 
consequence, the groups are more likely 
to be segregated by levels of deprivation 
and this reinforces feelings of being ‘left-
behind’ and low self-esteem. 

Anchor institutions with land and estates 
can facilitate access to green space for 
those living in surrounding areas. Access 
to green space is correlated with race and 
level of deprivation. Almost 40% of people 
from ethnic minority backgrounds live in 
the most greenspace deprived areas of the 
country, compared to 14% of White people. 
29% of people living with a long-term 
illness or disability had not visited a natural 
space in the previous month. Evidence 
shows that green space improves mental 
health, increases physical activity, provide 

3:  BUILDINGS AND CAPITAL

opportunities for social connections, 
attracts investment to the local economy 
and benefits the environment.48 The case 
study overleaf shows how one community 
group is working with public sector 
organisations to improve their green 
spaces and provide opportunities for local 
people to come together, socialise and 
learn new skills. 

SUMMARY: ACTIONS ANCHOR 
INSTITUTIONS CAN TAKE

Expanding community access to property

• Enabling local groups and businesses 
to use estates

Converting and selling estate for 
community benefit

• Supporting access to affordable 
housing or housing for key workers 

• Working in partnership across a place 
to maximise the wider value of estates

• Developing accessible community 
green spaces.49

16REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 24



VALE COMMUNITY HOSPITAL ALLOTMENT SCHEME
CASE

STUDY
Down to Earth is a Community 
Interest Company (CiC) based 
in Stroud which has a number 
of schemes around the county 
aimed at converting unused 
public land into community 
gardens and allotments. One 
of these is the Vale Community 
Hospital Allotment Scheme.

Down to Earth Stroud supports people 
in growing and harvesting their own fruit 
and vegetables. Their aim is to increase 
access to and availability of fresh, healthy 
food and encourage reconnection 
with the land. They provide a range of 
services including gardening and run 
several community projects across 
Gloucestershire.

The Vale Community Hospital Allotment 
Scheme was established in 2016. Down to 
Earth has developed ground at the front 
of the hospital and installed 60 raised 
bed allotments, 2 polytunnels, 2 sheds, 
pond, linear orchard and compost bays. 
The participants are local individuals and 
groups interested in growing their own 
fruit and vegetables, some of whom have 
found their way to the group by being 
referred through social prescribing. 

The land now used for the allotment 
scheme was originally unused when the 
Vale Hospital opened in 2011. The project 
lead, Amanda Godber from Down to 
Earth, began initial discussions with local 
GP, Dr Simon Opher on the benefits of 
using the land. Dr Opher was then able 
to take this forward to the hospital board, 

of which he was a member, and this 
began three years of work to develop the 
allotment land and scheme. The whole 
process included extensive discussion, 
fundraising and planning to open the 
development in 2016. 

Though the project began with paid 
work to develop the land, the allotments 
are now looked after by volunteers and 
hospital staff. Patients and relatives also 
use the site have lunch and relax. 

The project has been met with very 
positive feedback from local residents, 
volunteers and staff at the hospital:

The success of the project has led to 
prospects for further development. Down 
to Earth is currently creating a site for 
horticulture therapy for patients with 

dementia, with support  
from the hospital on finding  
appropriate space to use.  
This site is expected to be ready for use 
in Spring 2022. Whilst the support of the 
hospital has been critical to developing 
the new site, it has taken time to develop 
the land due to the need to fundraise. 

This scheme demonstrates the significant 
impact partnership working and the 
use of anchor institutions’ physical 
assets can have on the wellbeing of a 
local community in a number of ways; 
from greater access to healthier food 
to opportunities for greater community 
cohesion. 

17REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

“Thank you as 
ever for our 
allotment - it 
is such a lovely 
place to come 
to. We really 
appreciate 
all you have 
put into this 
special place.”

“We have 
found the 
idea of the 
allotment an 
amazing help 
for us and 
cannot thank 
our doctor 
enough for 
giving us your 
details.”

P
age 25



Figure 3: Impact of Climate Change on Health53

Measures taken by anchor institutions can have considerable 
benefits for the environment, in terms of reducing 
emissions, promoting biodiversity and sustainable use of 
resources. 

In 2017, the health and social care system used 27.1 million 
tonnes of CO2 and 2.23 billion m3 of water. NHS providers 
generated 589,000 tonnes of waste and 9.5 billion travel 
miles. Health and care-related travel constitutes around 5% 
of all road travel in England.50

CLIMATE EMERGENCY

Environmental sustainability is part of 
the social value considerations for an 
organisation. ‘Social value’ serves as an 
umbrella term for the additional economic, 
social and environmental benefits that an 
organisation delivers through its actions 
and/or projects. This is fundamental to 
being an anchor institution. 

All Gloucestershire councils have now 
declared a climate emergency. Anchor 
institutions have a responsibility to reduce 
their carbon footprint and meet the targets 
that have been agreed for the county. 

The county council’s declaration in May 
2019 included commitments to be net 
zero by 2030, and deliver a carbon neutral 
county by 2050, working with partners 
to deliver an 80% reduction by 2030.51 
Measures taken to date have included 
switching to a green electricity tariff for 
its buildings which comes from 100% 
renewable sources and processing school 
food waste at an Anaerobic Digestion Plant 
which sells energy back to the grid.52

Climate change has a wide range of 
significant direct and indirect impacts on 
health (see figure 3). Though damaging in 
their own right, this also has a knock-on 
effect on productivity, lost revenue and 
increased demand on public services. For 
example, climate change increases the 
number and geographical range of vector-
borne diseases. Vectors are any organisms, 
such as mosquitos and ticks, that carry 
pathogens from one host to another.

AIR QUALITY

It is estimated that there are 340,000 life 
years lost and 40,000 premature deaths 
attributable to poor outdoor air quality in 
the UK every year. Exposure to poor air 
quality contributes to the development 
of long-term conditions, and shorter life 
expectancy. It also results in both acute 

admissions to healthcare services, and 
long-term health and social care needs. 
In Gloucestershire there are nine Lower 
Super Output Areas that exceed the 
recommended levels for Nitrogen Dioxide, 
of these two are in the most deprived 20% 
of the country.54

As with the effects of climate change, air 
pollution is a health inequality issue as the 
most deprived experience disproportionate 
exposure to poor air quality. Moreover, 
areas with the worst exposure to poor 
air quality have the lowest levels of car 
ownership so contribute less to the 
pollution. Conversely, areas with the 
highest levels of car ownership have less 
exposure to poor air quality. 

According to the most recent census, 
approximately 76% of people in 
Gloucestershire travel to work by car, 
compared to 66% nationally. Even where 
journeys to work are less than two 
kilometres, a much lower proportion are 
made on foot or by bicycle than in the rest 
of the UK.55 Employers have a role to play 
in incentivising the use of public and active 
travel as well as maintaining the option for 
remote working that many have made use 
of during the pandemic. 

Gloucestershire Constabulary have 
implemented a Police Fleet Replacement 
Strategy which has resulted in the force 
having the largest percentage (21%) of 
electric vehicles in its fleet of any police 
force in the UK. This will help to deliver a 
saving of almost 190 tonnes of Co2 and 
£138,000 per year. The force aims to go 
further and reach 40% electric vehicles by 
2024.56

4:  ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITY

18REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 26



Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust (GWT) 
has dedicated programmes that are 
commissioned by Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) to work 
with residents of all ages to benefit their 
wellbeing through nature. 

One of the projects, Nature Nurtures, aims 
to demonstrate the benefits of nature for 
children aged 5 - 14 years that have been 
struggling with low level mental health 
issues, such as anxiety or  
depression across Gloucester,  
Cheltenham and the  
Forest of Dean.58

SUMMARY: ACTIONS ANCHOR 
INSTITUTIONS CAN TAKE 

Adopting sustainable practices 

• Developing leadership, internal action 
plans, governance and staff buy-in for 
acting on environmental sustainability.

• Reducing carbon emissions related to 
their own operations whilst ensuring 
they purchase only green energy. 

• Reduce waste and promoting re-use 
and replacement of carbon heavy 
products and services for less carbon 
intensive options. 

Influencing sustainable practices in the 
community

• Developing and supporting education 
programmes to help educate staff 
and residents of the risks and impacts 
of climate change to allow them to 
change behaviours.  

• Creating campaigns, cross public and 
private sector partnership projects and 
sharing and following best practice 
to ensure that they stay the forefront 
of action to reduce the impacts of 
climate change. 

• Helping shape community 
environments and behaviours, and 
influencing local suppliers.60

“At the local system level, organisations can work 
together to develop shared goals and strategies to 
improve environmental sustainability and track 
their impact. (Anchor organisations are) also well 
placed to work with other anchors to influence 
supplier behaviour and make local transport or 
infrastructure more environmentally sustainable.”
Health Foundation59

WIDER ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACTS 

Reducing air pollution and working 
towards net zero is an important element 
of tackling climate change but this is 
not the only threat to our environment. 
Ecological degradation, biodiversity loss, 
unsustainable use of resources, and poor 
waste management all require a concerted 
effort to address. 

“Healthy societies rely 
on well-functioning 
ecosystems to provide 
clean air, fresh water, 
medicines and food 
security. These help 
to limit disease and 
stabilize the climate. 
But biodiversity loss 
is happening at an 
unprecedented rate, 
impacting human health 
worldwide and increasing 
the risk of emerging 
infectious diseases.”
World Health Organisation57

Conversely, evidence shows that a  
thriving, wildlife-rich environment benefits 
both physical and mental health. People 
with nature on their doorstep are more 
active, mentally resilient and have better 
all-round health. 

19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 27



20REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

Building with Nature is a new 
benchmark for high quality green 
infrastructure, setting the standard 
for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of high-quality 
green features in new development 
across the UK.61

One of the key components of the 
Building with Nature benchmark 
is to assess developments for 
their benefits to improving 
people’s wellbeing through green 
infrastructure. Developments are 
assessed on whether they promote 
health and wellbeing, community 
cohesion, active living, and are 
accessible and inclusive to all.

As well as working with 
communities to enhance green 
spaces for wildlife and people, and 
improve access, Gloucestershire 
Wildlife Trust works closely with 
Building with Nature throughout 
the county to help ensure people 
and nature are considered in any 
new developments within the 
county.

The Fosse Way development at 
Cirencester College is part of a 
wider ‘Wild Campus Cirencester’ 
initiative involving two other 
educational institutions which will 
help to deliver an effective range 
of connected green infrastructure 
features linking to the wider 
environment and designed to 
benefit people and wildlife. 

The development considered 
low carbon behaviours, such as 
using recycled materials from the 

campus, whilst also promoting 
urban cooling, with behaviours 
such as planting more than 100 
new trees, increasing surface water 
retention on site, green roofing, 
ponds and rain gardens. This is 
beneficial for the environment and 
many features will also create new 
wildlife habitat.

The Cirencester College 
development clearly demonstrated 
their commitment to the health 
and wellbeing of students and the 
wider community through the 
Building with Nature assessment, 
with a commitment to bringing 
nature closer to the heart of the 
campus and students out into the 
greener parts of the campus. 

The college also has adopted a 
proactive approach to student 
and staff health and wellbeing 
by engaging them in the design, 
implementation and long-term 
management and maintenance of 
some of the green infrastructure 
features. 

A new trim trail will be constructed 
with recycled materials from the 
site, mini urban forests, a restored 
pond, rain gardens and wildflower 
planting will encourage students 
and staff to engage with and enjoy 
the wider campus and will be 
accessible at all times of year. 

BUILDING WITH NATURE

In 2021, Cirencester College was 
awarded the Building with Nature 
Design Award based on its Green 
Campus Strategy and associated 
plans and documents, demonstrating 
a holistic approach to the design 
of green infrastructure as part of 
redevelopment proposals and wider 
uses for the Fosse Way campus.

CASE

STUDY

P
age 28



STRONG PARTNERSHIP WORKING

Gloucestershire has a strong history of 
partnership working which can be built 
upon using the lessons contained in the 
anchor institutions approach to leverage 
resources effectively across the system to 
address health inequalities. 

This encompasses working with other 
anchor institutions in a place to align 
objectives and achieve more than one 
organisation can alone. It also involves 
incorporating the principles of co-
production and working in partnership 
with those who are closest to an issue 
and know better what is needed and what 
will or will not work, be that employees, 
residents or community groups. 

Through the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Board, member organisations 
have already agreed to adhere to ten 
principles for maximising their social 
benefit as anchors in the community. 

As well as taking measures to incorporate 
an anchor approach within each individual 
organisation as outlined in the previous 
4 sections, working in partnership, 
anchor organisations in the county can 
provide the system leadership required 
to implement significant change to 
communities in Gloucestershire; through 
economies of scale, a greater reach into 
communities, developing joint strategies, 
sharing best practice, and using their 
combined influence to encourage further 
change locally. 

A PLACE-BASED APPROACH

Place-based approaches have gained 
more attention through the creation 
of Integrated Care Systems (ICSs), and 
the important role of local leadership in 
responding to the pandemic. Earlier this 
year, Public Health England released a 
guide to creating inclusive and sustainable 
economies which aims to support place-
based action to reduce health inequalities 
and build back better.62 

The three domains in figure 4 of 
environmental, economic and social  
are where an organisation can add  
social value. 

The report provides a framework and tools 
to support whole system, place-based 
action to build economies that promote 
prosperity for all, address the wider-
determinants of health, and help us to live 
within our means for the planet.

Figure 4: Framework to support planning and action on inclusive and 

sustainable economies 63

Healthy people & 
thriving 

communities

Increased 
productivity & 

shared prosperity

Healthy & 
sustainable 

places

Social Economic

Environmental

An inclusive & 
sustainable 
economic 
approach

Education, 

training & 

skills

Transport, 

travel & 

connectivity

Ser
vic

es
 &

 

am
en

itie
s

Gre
en

 

ec
ono

m
y

Good work

Natural environment

Incom
e

Built 

environm
ent

Inclusive

lab
our

m
arkets

S
oc

ia
l c

ap
ita

l 
&

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

E
m

po
w

er
ed

 &
 

en
ga

ge
d 

co
m

m
un

iti
es C

om
m

unity 
w

ealth
building

21REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

5 :  PARTNERING IN PLACE

P
age 29



Table 1: Deficit and asset-based approaches65

FROM...  
DEFICIT APPROACH

FOCUS ON PROBLEMS, DEFICITS 
OR WEAKNESS; FOCUS ON PAST 
FAILURES

LOCAL PEOPLE AS ‘CUSTOMERS’, 
‘CLIENTS’ OR ‘SERVICE USERS’

PROVIDE SERVICES TO PEOPLE

RESPONDS TO ‘PROBLEMS’

RELIANCE ON OUTSIDE ‘EXPERTS’ 
AND BUREAUCRATIC SYSTEMS

GRANTS OR FUNDING GIVEN TO 
AGENCIES OR GOVERNMENT

PROGRAMMES ARE THE ANSWER

TO...  
ASSET-BASED APPROACH

FOCUS ON OPPORTUNITIES AND 
STRENGTHS; FOCUS ON FUTURE 
POSSIBILITIES AND SUCCESSES

LOCAL PEOPLE AS ‘CITIZENS’

DEVELOP AND CO-PRODUCE 
SERVICES WITH PEOPLE

FINDS OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
GROWTH AND SOCIAL CHANGE, 
GIVES PEOPLE OWNERSHIP OF 
THEIR EXPERIENCES

NON-BUREAUCRATIC, FOCUS 
ON PEOPLE’S STRENGTH AND 
KNOWLEDGE, PRIORITISES 
COMMUNITY

GRANTS OR FUNDING GIVEN TO 
LOCAL ASSOCIATIONS OR GROUP

PEOPLE ARE THE ANSWER

STRENGTHENING 
COMMUNITIES 

A key lesson from the pandemic has been 
the importance of collaborative working 
between public sector organisations and 
communities at a hyper-local level. In 
many areas, people were able to mobilise 
quickly and use their local knowledge to 
find out what their community needed. 
Statutory organisations adapted their 
approach by stepping back and listening to 
communities and played a role in facilitating 
and enabling. Lessons on the central role of 
trust and building relationships should be 
taken forward.

Communities often already contain a wide 
range of skills, strengths and assets that 
can be harnessed and built upon. However, 
Barnwood Trust found in their research 
that some areas that were less equipped 
to coordinate their own response to 
supporting each other through lockdowns 
had previously high levels of statutory 
involvement which had created a culture of 
dependency.64 

Changing the way these interventions 
are implemented from ‘doing to’ to 
‘working with’ can empower people and 
build resilience. Though this is not easy 
or straightforward as it involves a shift in 
mindset about the nature of public services 
and accepting a loss of control over means 
and outcomes. 

Asset-based community development 
(ABCD) is one approach that aims to change 
the relationship between services and 
communities and encourage the growth of 
social connections and activity. 65 

SUMMARY: ACTIONS ANCHOR INSTITUTIONS CAN TAKE

Partnering with other anchor institutions across a place

• Developing anchor collaboratives and networks to support shared approaches 
locally.66

Developing a collaborative approach

• Working with communities in a strengths-based way

• Incorporating the principles of co-production at all levels.

This approach has a number of mutual benefits for organisations and residents. Helping 
people to build social connections in their local area helps to foster a sense of identity and 
community cohesion in the place. The more that people know their neighbours, the safer a 
community becomes. It fosters a feeling of ownership and pride in a local area. People may 
share skills by setting up local groups and teaching others. This all has benefits for people’s 
health and wellbeing, as well as reducing demand on services. 

22REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 30



Gloucester Community Building Collective 
(GCBC) is a Community Interest Company 
that uses an asset-based community 
development (ABCD) approach to ensure 
that everyone in Gloucester can have a 
good life. GCBC is currently in its second 
year and has active projects with the 
NHS, Active Gloucestershire and funding 
from the Big Lottery Foundation with an 
ambition to support community building 
across Gloucester in every ward.

The Collective came about following 
a two year ‘test and learn’ project 
which was driven by people working in 
Gloucestershire Constabulary, the Office 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Gloucestershire, Gloucester City Council 
and Barnwood Trust.67

The project involved seconding three 
Police Community Support Officers 
(PCSOs) into the Community Building 
team at Barnwood for a fixed term period 
to practice ABCD in particular, as well as 
providing workshops on strengths-based 
approaches for a variety of professionals 

working in statutory and voluntary 
organisations in Gloucester. These 

initiatives sought to promote a new 
way of working and to support local 
people to build their collective 
capacity and resilience.

As a result of this ‘test and 
learn’ phase, Gloucestershire 
Constabulary’s Neighbourhood 
Policing strategy reflects a 
commitment to using ABCD 

practices in all neighbourhood 
policing and it is committed to enabling 

all PCSOs to use community building skills 
in their routine practice within the role 
of a PCSO. Furthermore, the PCSOs who 
were seconded have gone back into the 
Constabulary to share the practice through 
training and facilitation of the skills. They 
have worked with GCBC’s Community 
Builders to hold 2-day training workshops 
for all neighbourhood policing teams in 
the county. 

The workshops encourage officers to 
reflect on their purpose and why they 
joined the police, as well as how to 
bring their whole selves to work. At the 
beginning, the participants often described 
areas with high deprivation in which they 
worked in terms of the problems and 
crimes they encountered. By sharing their 
positive stories of the communities, this 
deficit-based thinking changed to one of 
seeing the strengths first. 

“I see the person now,  
not the crime.” 

“Why haven’t we been 
working this way from 
the beginning? This is the 
right thing to do, this is 
the mindset police should 
have.”

A strengths-based approach to 
neighbourhood policing involves building 
relationships before they are needed and 
emphasises the importance of stepping 
back in situations to see the whole person 
and what causes led up to an incident. 
A relational, rather than transactional, 
approach has benefits for the officers 
themselves who gain more satisfaction 
from their work. There is evidence that 
this approach also helps to strengthen 
communities, build trust in the police, 
reduce call-outs, and prevent crime.68

Throughout October, the Chief Inspector 
is collecting positive stories which illustrate 
how a strengths-based approach has 
changed the outlook of the participants. 

 One PCSO in Tewkesbury reported 
attending a neighbourhood dispute. Before 
the workshop they would have tried to 
resolve the immediate issue quickly and 
move on. This time, the PCSO tried to 
get know the people involved and asked 
questions to find out why the dispute had 
occurred and address the root cause. 
One of the residents hadn’t been leaving 
his house for fear of their neighbour but 
now that they are on speaking terms, he 
has felt able to go out which has made a 
significant difference to his life. 

Another PCSO based in an area which 
had low levels of trust in the police has 
now built relationships with local residents 
and is leading efforts to convert a disused 
piece of land into a community garden. 

Officers will bring these stories to further 
workshops planned in November.

GLOUCESTER COMMUNITY  
BUILDING COLLECTIVE AND 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE CONSTABULARY

23REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

CASE

STUDY

P
age 31



across Gloucestershire, and we can do 
more to enable the local community to 
use these. 

In the recommendations set out in 
this report, we consider how to build 
on what already exists and how to 
learn from each other. We think it is 
important to develop collaborative 
ways of working to move forward and 
to make the most of opportunities. 
We also want to make sure that we 
plan how to monitor and evaluate the 
progress of anchor institutions over the 
coming years and how we can continue 
to learn and develop. 

However, establishing a co-ordinated 
approach to progressing the anchor 
institution work does not stop each 
organisation from pursuing their own 
internal actions to address health 
inequalities. We hope that this report 
provides some challenge to all of us, 
and helps us to consider what else 
we can do locally to tackle the wider 
determinants of health. 

We have taken an inclusive approach 
to anchor institutions, recognising the 
important contribution of public, private 
and VCS organisations. All of these 
organisations have the potential to 
maximise how they improve health and 
wellbeing and address health inequalities 
by pledging their commitment to 
the principles and by taking action 
against the five key areas for an anchor 
institution. 

Whilst the report considers anchor 
institutions in the widest definition, 
we recognise that the public sector 
especially has a traditional role in 
recognising and taking responsibility for 
impacting health and wellbeing. This 
forms part of their core purpose. As 
such, these organisations should role 
model good practice across our system. 

We want to ask anchor institutions in 
Gloucestershire to think about what else 
can be done and how any untapped 
potential within our systems can be 
identified and taken forward. One 
example of this is how our estates and 
buildings are used. The public sector 
owns a number of estates and buildings 

1. The Prevention, Wellbeing 
and Communities Hub at 
Gloucestershire County Council 
to organise an anchor institutions 
event. This will bring together key 
partners from across Gloucestershire 
to discuss the five areas set out in 
the report and to identify additional 
opportunities for action. 

2. Anchor institutions should reassess 
career access and development 
pathways to strengthen 
opportunities for people from 
underrepresented groups and 
young people. Consideration 
should be given to recruitment 
practices and supporting retention 
and workforce health and inclusion 
through fair pay and conditions. 

3. Anchor institutions should consider 
and develop their social value policy 
in line with the Social Value Act. 
These should be aligned across the 
county to further strengthen the 
contribution to social, economic 
and environmental impacts. 

4. Focus initially on strengthening the 
role of core (public sector) anchor 
institutions by these organisations: 

a.  Identifying a strategic lead per 
organisation to help set the 
direction and priorities based on 
the five areas set out in the report. 

b. Identifying an operational lead per 
organisation who can ensure that 
actions and recommendations are 
implemented at an organisational 
level. 

c. Building the five areas set out in 
this document into corporate 
plans and wider policies and 
practices. 

d. Develop locally agreed matrices 
to monitor and evaluate the 
contributions of core (public 
sector) anchor institutions. 

e. Ensuring that contracting and 
monitoring requirements are 
proportionate to the size of the 
contract, to promote inclusivity 
for a range of organisation types. 

f. Supporting more flexible 
commissioning and co-
production of services which 
puts power and trust in 
communities and recognises 
the value of local expertise and 
lived experience.

g. Committing to using our 
public buildings and spaces 
as community assets 
and ensuring that lease 
agreements make this viable. 

5. Work through GFirst LEP 
(Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 
Partnership) to develop a clearer 
identity and roles for business 
anchor institutions. Ensure anchor 
institutions are included in the 
refreshed Local Industrial  
Strategy (LIS).

6. Develop a Gloucestershire Anchor 
Institutions Collaborative to ensure 
a coherent, system-wide approach 
for anchor institutions to develop 
across the five areas. This should 
report to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board annually.

7. Publish the principles as an 
Anchor Institutions Charter to 
which organisations pledge and 
demonstrate their commitment to 
this approach.

Anchor institutions have been present in our community for 
decades, and have been an ongoing source of both service 
provision and support for many residents in Gloucestershire. 
As we recover from the pandemic and focus on how we level 
up, now is an ideal time to highlight the potential anchor 
institutions have for tackling entrenched health inequalities. 
The pandemic has provided the opportunity to re-evaluate the 
role of anchor institutions and encourage local organisations 
in Gloucestershire to consider what their contribution is to 
improving the health and wellbeing of our population.

CONCLUSION RECOMMENDATIONS

24REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 32



APPENDIX 1:  DASHBOARD

Anchor institutions have the 
capability to influence multiple 
areas of people’s lives in 
Gloucestershire and we want 
to consider all these aspects of 
people’s health and wellbeing 
as part of our dashboard. 

We have not collected specific 
data from employers in 
Gloucestershire as we expect 
that this information will be 
monitored by organisations 
individually and discussed as 
part of our collective. 
The information in the dashboard 
provides some indicators of the overall 
health and wellbeing of the population. 
Gloucestershire overall scores well 
compared to England on some key 
measures including life expectancy. 

However, this can be partly explained 
by the relative affluence of the area as a 
whole and does mask differences between 
communities. Life expectancy for baby 
boys born in the most deprived part of 
Gloucestershire is 7.6 years shorter than for 
boys born in the least deprived areas. 

This gap in life expectancy is one of the 
reasons that it is important for anchor 
institutions to consider how they widen 
employment, as we know offering secure 
employment to people is an important 
way of addressing some of the health 
inequalities persistent in the community. 

People in more deprived areas are also 
more likely to have a shorter healthy life 
expectancy, for example due to suffering 

from chronic health conditions. The impact 
of chronic health conditions on individuals 
can be significant, including affecting their 
ability to work which we know is beneficial 
to people’s mental and physical health. In 
Gloucestershire, the gap in employment for 
people with long-term health conditions 
and those without is 10.4%. 

This underlines how important it is to 
ensure that employees are made aware 
of smoking cessation support that is 
available in the local area. Employers 
can also support people to be physically 
active, through both encouraging and 
incentivising active travel as well as offering 
opportunities to take part in physical 
activity during the working day.

COVID-19 has had a huge impact on our 
community, and we are continuing to 
examine data to understand the impact on 
our health. It is likely that more time will 
be needed for trends to emerge, but we 
know that the pandemic had an impact 
on many of the factors that determine 
our mental and physical health, including 
employment, housing, social isolation and 
education. We will continue to monitor 
these trends as more data becomes 
available, and are proactively responding 
to issues that are emerging along with 
other anchor institutions. For example, 
the local authority and NHS are partnering 
to provide additional support for young 
children and parents who missed out on 
early years support due to the pandemic. 
This type of assistance will help community 
resilience in the long-term, and continue 
our work to tackle health inequalities.

25REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 33



26REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

Figure 5: Overall indicators of health and wellbeing in Gloucestershire (Public Health Outcomes Framework)69

Indicator Period Gloucestershire Region England England

Value Value Value Worst Range Best

Life 
expectancy 
and mortality

Healthy life expectancy at birth (male, in years) 2017-19 68.2 65.2 63.2 63.7 71.5

Healthy life expectancy at birth (female, in years) 2017-19 66.1 65.0 63.5 55.3 71.4

Life expectancy at birth (male, in years) 2017-19 80.2 80.3 79.4 74.1 84.7

Life expectancy at birth (female, in years) 2017-19 83.9 84.1 83.1 79.0 87.9

Disability-free life expectancy at birth (male, in years) 2017-19 66.8 63.3 62.7 53.4 69.6

Disability-free life expectancy at birth (female, in years) 2017-19 64.4 61.2 61.2 49.9 70.3

Inequality in life expectancy at birth (male, in years) 2017-19 7.6 7.5 9.4 14.8 2.9

Inequality in life expectancy at birth (female, in years) 2017-19 5.4 5.6 7.6 13.3 1.5

Employment Percentage gap in the employment rate between 
those with a long-term health condition and overall 
employment rate

2019/20 10.4% 10.3% 10.6% 23.6% 0.1

Percentage gap in the employment rate between  
those with a learning disability and the overall 
employment rate

2019/20 81.6% 73.8% 70.6% 81.6% 44.5

Percentage gap in the employment rate for those in 
contact with secondary mental health services and the 
overall employment rate

2019/20 73.4% 68.2% 67.2% 76.5% 45.9

Percentage of people in employment 2020/21 77.0% 77.7% 75.1% 63.2% 84.3%

Behavioural 
risk factors

Proportion of the population meeting the 
recommended ‘5-a-day’  on a ‘usual day’ (adults)

2019/20 57.6% 60.1% 55.4% 41.4% 65.8%

Percentage of adults (aged 18+) classified as overweight 
or obese

2019/20 61.4% 62.0% 62.8% 78.3% 41.6%

Percentage of physically active adults 2019/20 70.8% 70.9% 66.4% 49.4% 77.3%

Percentage of physically inactive adults 2019/20 19.0% 19.1% 22.9% 35.2% 14.2%

Smoking prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers 2019 13.0% 14.0% 13.9% 32.4% 8.0%

Wider 
determinants 
of health

Premature mortality in adults with severe mental illness 
(Directly standardised rate per 100,000)

2016-18 84.7 81.3 94.8 198.2 48.9

Exccess under 75 mortality rate in adults with severe 
mental illness (percentage of excess risk)

2016-18 501.8% 417.6% 365.2% 600.4% 165.3%

Suicide rate (Per 100,000) 2018-20 11.0 11.6 10.4 18.8 5.0

Homelessness - households owed a duty under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (per 1000)

2019/20 11.4* 11.2 12.3 26.2 4.0

Homelessness - households in temporary 
accommodation (per 1000)

2019/20 0.9* 1.1 3.8 30.3 0.0

Proportion using outdoor space for exercise/health 
reasons

Mar 2015 - 
Feb 2016

15.3% 17.4% 17.9% 5.1% 36.9%

Public Health England, Local Authority Health Profiles (2021). 

Compared with England               Better 95%               Similar               Worse 95%               Not applicable               Quintiles:   Best   Not applicable

P
age 34



REFERENCES
1 NHS, Definitions of Health Inequalities; NHS England » Definitions for Health Inequalities 
(accessed 1/9/2021).

2 Gloucestershire County Council (2020); Beyond COVID: Race, health and inequality in 
Gloucestershire. https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2102344/dph-report-2020-
beyond-covid-race-health-and-inequality-in-gloucestershire.pdf

3 The King’s Fund (2021); Anchor Institutions and how they can affect people’s health (Anchor 
institutions and how they can affect people’s health | The King’s Fund (kingsfund.org.uk)

4 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor 
institution https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/I02_
Building%20healthier%20communities_WEB.pdf 

5 Public Health England, Public Health Outcomes Profile; Public Health Outcomes Framework 
- Data - PHE (accessed 2/9/2021)

6 Canadian Institute of Advanced Research, Health Canada, Population and Public Health 
Branch. AB/NWT 2002, quoted in Kuznetsova, D. (2012) Healthy places: Councils leading 
on public health. London: New Local Government Network. Available from New Local 
Government Network website

7 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor 
institution https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/I02_
Building%20healthier%20communities_WEB.pdf

8 Barnwood Trust (2021) Resourcing Resilient Gloucestershire

9 Gloucestershire County Council (2019) Healthonomics: Tackling Health Inequalities Through 
Inclusive Growth https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2091926/gcc-public-health-
report-final.pdf 

10 https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-
strategy_2019-updated.pdf 

11 Smallbone, D., Kitching, J. and Blackburn, R. (2015) Anchor institutions and small firms in 
the UK: a review of the literature on anchor institutions and their role in developing management 
and leadership skills in small firms. https://livrepository.liverpool.ac.uk/3084450/ 

12 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor 
institution https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2019/I02_
Building%20healthier%20communities_WEB.pdf 

13 Gloucestershire County Council (2020); Beyond COVID: Race, health and inequality in 
Gloucestershire. https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2102344/dph-report-2020-
beyond-covid-race-health-and-inequality-in-gloucestershire.pdf

27REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 35



14 Gloucestershire County Council, Data and Insights Team

15 Marmot, M. et al (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives. www.instituteofhealthequity.org/
resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-themarmot-review/fair-society-healthy-
lives-full-report-pdf.pdf 

16 Jackson Young, L., Otrok, C. and Owyang, M. (2019) Tax Progressivity, Economic 
Booms, and Trickle-Up Economics. FRB St. Louis Working Paper No. 2019-34.  
https://ssrn.com/abstract=3494174 

17 Gloucestershire County Council (2021) Unemployment Bulletin# https://inform.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2108793/unemployment-bulletin-156-jul-21.pdf 

18 Gloucestershire County Council (2020) Population Profile. https://inform.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097102/equality-profile-2020-final.pdf

20 PHE (2019) Health matters: health and work https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/health-matters-health-and-work/health-matters-health-and-work

21 Strandh et al. (2014) Unemployment and mental health scarring during the life course.
https://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/24/3/440/477204 

22 Gloucestershire County Council, Data and Insights Team

23 Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2020i) Poverty levels and trends in England, Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland https://www.jrf.org.uk/data/poverty-levels-and-trends-
england-wales-scotland-and-northern-ireland

24 Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2020ii) What has driven the rise of in-work poverty? 
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/what-has-driven-rise-work-poverty

25 Marmot, M. (2015) The Health Gap. Bloomsbury.

25 Health Foundation (2021) Five things we learnt from our work on the health and 
wellbeing of lower paid NHS staff https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/
newsletter-features/five-things-we-learnt-from-our-work-on-the-health-and-wellbe 

27 Health Foundation (2021) Five things we learnt from our work on the health and 
wellbeing of lower paid NHS staff https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/
newsletter-features/five-things-we-learnt-from-our-work-on-the-health-and-wellbe

28 Wavehill (2018) Gloucestershire Countywide Business Survey https://www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2085563/countywide-busines-survey-for-
gloucestershire-final-report.pdf  

29 Health Foundation (2021). How much does the NHS and social care workforce need 
to grow by over the next decade to meet demand? https://www.health.org.uk/news-
and-comment/charts-and-infographics/how-much-does-the-nhs-and-social-care-
workforce-need-to-grow

30 Health Foundation (2021). How much does the NHS and social care workforce need 
to grow by over the next decade to meet demand? https://www.health.org.uk/news-
and-comment/charts-and-infographics/how-much-does-the-nhs-and-social-care-
workforce-need-to-grow

31 http://hwglos.org/about-us/award-accreditation-process/ 

32 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-
communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution 

33 https://www.forwardsgloucestershire.co.uk/welcome/ 

34 NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (2021) Annual Report https://
www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Annual-Report_20-
21-with_Fin_Stat.pdf 

35 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-
communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution

36 https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/financial-resilience-and-economic-recovery/
procurement/achieving-community-benefits 

37 https://www.gloshospitals.nhs.uk/about-us/our-trust/sustainability/ 

38 Gloucester City Council (2020) Social Value Policy 2020-22 https://www.gloucester.
gov.uk/media/4765/gcc-social-value-policy-2020-2022.pdf 

39 Lloyds Bank Foundation (2021) Small charities responding to COVID-19 Summer 
2021 update

40 Barnwood Trust (2021) Resourcing Resilient Gloucestershire

41 Ibid.

42 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-
communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution 

28REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 36



43 Gloucestershire County Council (2021) GCC Property and Asset List

44 LGA, The Impact of Homelessness on Health https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/
files/documents/22.7%20HEALTH%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_WEB_0.PDF 

45 King’s Fund, Centre for Ageing Better (2020)

46 LG Inform (2020) % of households in fuel poverty in Gloucestershire https://
lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=2131&mod-
period=2&mod-area=E10000013&mod-group=AllGeographicalNeighbours&mod-
type=comparisonGroupType

47 Local Government Association (2020) Loneliness, social isolation and COVID-19: 
practical advice. https://www.local.gov.uk/loneliness-social-isolation-and-covid-19-
practical-advice

48 Groundworkers UK (2021) Out of Bounds: Equity in Access to Urban Nature  
https://www.groundwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Out-of-Bounds-
equity-in-access-to-urban-nature.pdf 

49 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-
communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution 

50 Ibid.

51 Gloucestershire County Council (2019) Gloucestershire’s Climate Change Strategy

52 https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s67581/20201216%20
Cabinet%20Glos%20Climate%20Change%20Strategy%20Annual%20Report%20
inc%20Annexes%20Cabinet%20APPROVED.pdf 

53 Centres for Disease Control and Prevention https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/
effects/ 

54 Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094335/gloucestershire-air-quality-and-
health-strategy-final.pdf 

55 Ibid.

56 https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/largest-fully-electric-police-fleet-in-uk-
charged-up-by-gloucestershire-constabulary/ 

57 World Health Organisation, Fast Facts on Climate and Health https://cdn.who.
int/media/docs/default-source/climate-change/fast-facts-on-climate-and-health.
pdf?sfvrsn=157ecd81_5&download=true 

58 https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s67581/20201216%20
Cabinet%20Glos%20Climate%20Change%20Strategy%20Annual%20Report%20
inc%20Annexes%20Cabinet%20APPROVED.pdf 

59 Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust, Current Projects https://www.
gloucestershirewildlifetrust.co.uk/engagement-opportunities-current-projects 

60 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-
communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution

61 Ibid.

62 https://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/ 

63 Ibid.

Public Health England (2021) Inclusive and sustainable economies: leaving no-one 
behind https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-and-sustainable-
economies-leaving-no-one-behind 

64 Barnwood Trust (2021) Resourcing Resilient Gloucestershire

65 Nesta (2020) Asset-Based Community Development for Local Authorities  
https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/Asset_Based_Community_Development.pdf 

66 Health Foundation (2019) Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/building-healthier-
communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchor-institution

67 Gloucester Community Building Collective (2019) Building Community Capacity and 
Resilience https://www.gloscommunitybuilding.co.uk/resources/project-two-jhcxe

68 Sampson, R. (2006) ‘How Does Community Context Matter? Social Mechanism 
and the Explanation of Crime’, in: Wilkstrom, P. O. H., and Sampson, R. J. (Eds.) The 
Explanation of Crime; Context, Mechanisms and Development. Cambridge: Cambridge 
University Press

69 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021): Local Authority Health Profiles  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132701/
pat/6/ati/202/are/E10000013/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/cid/4/tbm/1

29REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2021/22

P
age 37



Report of the Director of Public Health 2021/22

G
C

C
_3

34
1 

 1
0.

21
P

age 38



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

25 January 2022

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care
and Public Health

Update on the state of the independent care market in 
Gloucestershire and actions taken and the 

interim market support plan.
_________________________________________________  

Introduction
This report will provide an overview of the pressures on the independent adult social 

care market and will outline the work that Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is 

doing to support the market.  GCC has a statutory duty to manage the adult social 

care market, and previous briefings to the committee have discussed this duty and 

our approach.

The social care market is facing unprecedented challenging times both locally and 

nationally. A sustainable independent sector workforce is an emerging issue. The 

volume and responsiveness of local care provision is at risk of being insufficient to 

enable the county council to meet its duties under the Care Act and the county 

council’s responsibilities with regard to safe and effective hospital discharge are 

significantly impacted. Our analysis of need is well understood; we have a growing 

cohort of older people, however, our understanding of the longer-term impact of 

Covid on the older population is still being developed.

Needs Analysis 
Older people form over a quarter of Gloucestershire’s current population and the 65+ 

population is projected to experience the greatest growth, increasing by almost 

70,900 people, or 52.5%, by 2043. All districts are expected to experience an 

increase in the 65+ age group. The increase is projected to be highest in Cotswold 

(65.1%) and smallest in Cheltenham (45.5%). Only a small proportion of the older 

population will go on to require care, however, since the population is rising, it is 

inevitable that the demand for care will rise proportionately.

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



2

The demand for adult social care is projected to increase significantly over the next 

20 years. The Department of Health & Social Care (DHSC) predicts that 57% more 

adults aged 65 and over in England will require care in 2038 compared to 2018. The 

percentage increase projected for adults aged between 18 to 64 over the same 

period is 29%. In Gloucestershire, an estimated 25,400 older people have a long-

term illness or disability that limits their day-to-day activities a lot. That number is 

predicted to rise by 39,000 by 2030. The numbers of people with physical disabilities 

and learning disabilities are also projected to rise significantly over the same period. 

Advances in medicine mean that a percentage of older people will also have a long-

term condition (learning or physical disability), and they may therefore require a more 

focused or specialised package of support. 

Overview of Difficulties in the market currently
Locally, the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic is not yet wholly understood, but there 

are likely to be medium and long-term consequences for the care market. We do 

know that the support we have given care homes through the pandemic (in the form 

of central government funding, local authority grants such as the Infection Control 

Grant, and the PPE, testing and vaccination cells) has sustained the market through 

a difficult time. We also know that this additional funding has created an artificial 

level of income for homes which it will not be possible to sustain in future. Over the 

summer of 2021 we have experienced a significant number of homes expressing a 

need to close and are now facing capacity issues across the market, but most 

particularly in domiciliary care, that exceed any we have experienced before. These 

issues are repeated in the national picture as well as locally and can be summarised:  

 High level of demand for Domiciliary care (number and size of packages)
Many people are leaving hospital at this time with higher levels of need than 

they might previously have been discharged with.  In addition to the number of 

care hours required the complexity of need results in increased demand for 

skilled staff who are in short supply

 Reduced supply of care workers
Providers across the sector report that they are currently unable to recruit 

additional staff and are short staffed. National data tells us that for 2019-20 

Page 40



3

the Southwest had an average vacancy rate of 6.7% and the national turnover 

rate for staff was 30.4%[i]. Skills for Care tracking of monthly staffing and 

occupancy indicates that the Southwest has seen a reduction of 1.9% in 

numbers of staff working in domiciliary care from March to July 2021[ii]. 

Factors that affect recruitment include: poor rates of pay compared to retail 

and hospitality sector where more jobs are available again as Covid 

restrictions have eased (Skills for Care indicates that the median rate of pay 

for private sector care staff in March 2020 was £8.50 per hour less than that 

paid for cleaners and domestics, sales and retail assistants[iv]); a reluctance of 

staff to enter a profession where invasive medical procedures are compulsory; 

burn out – many staff in the care industry migrate between providers over the 

course of their career but the harsh working period they have experienced as 

a result of Covid has resulted in their looking at alternative opportunities.

 Impact of compulsory vaccinations
It is now compulsory for all staff working in care home to be double 

vaccinated. And from 1 April 2022 any front-line member of staff who works in 

the health or care sector will also be required to be double vaccinated.  

However, this legislation does not require staff to have the booster 

vaccination.  

 Impact of Brexit
Whilst previously our provider market had not seen significant impact of staff 

reduction due to Brexit more recently it has become a growing issue. Locally 

one domiciliary care provider experienced 17 members of staff returning to 

Europe permanently in September. 

State of the market
The adult social care market continues to be extremely challenged as we are facing 

a dearth in capacity across the system. The Capacity Tracker survey, which ran from 

September to October 2021, gives a good overview of the situation. Nationally 8,941 

settings responded to the survey, of which 4,051 were care homes and 4,440 were 

domiciliary care providers. This represents a response rate of 27% of all CQC-

registered care homes and 44% of all CQC-registered domiciliary care providers.

Page 41



4

These statistics cover views on:

 retaining staff

 recruiting staff

 maintaining staff morale

 accessing agency staff

 assistance from government

The overall situation

Respondents were asked “Compared to April 2021, how would you describe the 

current level of workforce challenges in your service or location for?”

 retaining staff

 recruiting staff

 maintaining staff morale

 accessing agency staff

These questions were the first question for each of the 4 sections. Results are 

summarised in table 1 below. The most challenging area reported by respondents 

was recruiting staff, which was reported to be more challenging than in April 2021 by 

81.9% of non-N/A respondents.

Question More challenging About the same Less challenging Response rate (with 
number)

Retaining staff 70.3% 25.0% 4.5% 98% (8765)

Recruiting staff 81.9% 15.1% 2.5% 97% (8677)

Maintaining morale 70.6% 24.5% 4.4% 98% (8735)

Accessing agency 
staff

77.9% 16.6% 2.4% 58% (5238)

Page 42



5

Table 1: responses to “Compared to April 2021, how would you describe the current level of workforce 

challenges in your service or location for…?”

Retention

70.3% of non-N/A respondents reported that retaining staff was more challenging 

than April 2021. 25.0% reported that it was about the same and 4.5% reported this 

was less challenging than April 2021 (table 1). At a regional level, the results were as 

follows.

Region More challenging

East of England 70.9%

London 56.0%

Midlands 70.3%

Yorkshire and the North East 70.5%

North West 69.5%

South West 76.7%

South East 72.4%

Table 2: responses to “Compared to April 2021, how would you describe the current level of workforce 
challenges in your service or location for retaining staff?” by region

The situation with capacity is exacerbated due to staff leaving the sector and, more 

recently, an increase in Covid related absence due to the surge of the Omicron 

variant. 

Page 43



6

Action taken to address recruitment and retention in the care sector
The GCC response to tackling recruitment and retention issues stems from two 

plans; firstly the Market Support Plan and secondly the Domiciliary Care Plan.  The 

key actions are summarised below:

Proud to Care
Is the recruitment programme that aims to not only recruit and retain staff within the 

caring profession, but also demonstrate the caring can be a rewarding career.  We 

have appointed an additional staff member to the Proud to Care team.  This will 

increase the capacity of the team and there are plans in place to recruit another as 

soon as possible. The increase in staff has allowed the team to update their strategic 

plan in response to the current market needs. We are focusing our energies currently 

on:

 supporting the market with recruitment 

 promoting care as a career

 identifying and screening potential candidates

 working with job centres 

 developing very local recruitment campaigns 

 using social media campaigns

The Gloucestershire Proud to Care website can be found on this link: 

https://www.proudtocareglos.org.uk/

Integrated Brokerage Team
GCC and the CCG operate an integrated Brokerage team.  This team buy all 

packages of domiciliary care, residential and nursing home beds on behalf of GCC 

and the CCG.  We have appointed a new Strategic Commissioning Manager who will 

lead on strategic market planning which includes the proposal to commission 

domiciliary care in a different way which will enable providers to free up some more 

capacity. Whilst we wait for the appointee to start, we have a temporary person in 

post.  They have initiated the exploration of creating small geographically defined 

blocks of domiciliary care in hard to cover areas.  We will offer these blocks to 

providers in other areas who have capacity to the provide the care. 

Page 44

https://www.proudtocareglos.org.uk/


7

We are offering additional incentives to domiciliary care providers to take packages 

of care rapidly from the acute and community hospitals. There are two strands:

 a one-off enhancement payment to hasten hospital discharges using a 

provider’s response time as the gauge and to assist and hasten the more 

complex, harder to source and larger packages of care

or

 an enhanced hourly rate to the providers to encourage offers.

These schemes will operate until 31 January.

We are also buying more care packages from providers outside of contractual 

framework. This is a short-term measure for the next month.

In addition, we will be utilising the enhanced hourly rate within the community when it 

pertains to a current ‘Progression’ case. Progression cases are Home First 

(Reablement Teams) care provision where the need for reabling has ended, there is 

still a need for personal care, so a Home Care service is required. 

Use of non-recurrent funding to support the adult social care market

There have been a number of non-recurrent funding streams made available to the 

independent care sector during the pandemic.  These include the Infection, 

Prevention and Control Fund and Rapid Testing Fund.  Details of these funds have 

been provided in earlier scrutiny briefings.  More recently the Government has 

issued a Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund (WRRF) 1 and 2.  

For WRRF1 we have received £1.7m.  We took advice from the Gloucestershire 

Care Providers Association as to how best to allocate the funding to the front-line 

care workers.  We have, therefore taken the decision to distribute this to providers to 

make a payment to all staff across all provisions who have been in post for more 

than 6 months on 31 December to recognise their contribution over the last 2 years.   

This money will be distributed from the middle of January.

Page 45



8

We have recently received the following comment from one of our providers 

regarding the WRRF 1.

“Also, please can I take this opportunity to thank everyone involved in this Grant. 

This will be such a boost to staff during such difficult times. I can’t wait to tell 

everyone, I feel like a child at Christmas. My business has been staying afloat 

because of the Infection Control Fund, but without that I don’t think I would have 

been able to survive. So, to have this opportunity to thank staff further is the icing on 

the cake.”

GCC has secured an additional £1.7m from the CCG that will enable a second 

payment to staff on the same basis which will support retention of staff.   This will be 

distribution in the Spring/early Summer.

Shortly before Christmas a second tranche of the WRRF was announced.  GCC will 

receive a further £3.1m under this fund.  This will allow a third payment to staff which 

will again support retention. We also plan to use this fund to target specific areas of 

the market which are proving particularly problematic and in Gloucestershire this will 

largely be targeting domiciliary care and specifically in hard-to-reach areas. 

The obvious solution to recruitment and retention is to permanently uplift the 

payments to the independent care sector.  Whilst we do increase our rates each 

year, using a formula agreed with provider representatives, this is not sufficient to 

resolve the recruitment and retention issue.  The recent adult social care White 

Paper outlined the work we need to do over the next two years.  For example, in 

2022 we will conduct a Cost of Care Exercise.  This will determine sustainable rates 

for the local care sector and how close this is to the current rate paid by GCC.  This 

exercise will form part of the work to deliver the charging reform and will be the 

subject of further briefings to scrutiny once the guidance is published in May.

Supporting families to offer care
This initiative is largely focusing on supporting hospital discharge arrangements. 

Where people cannot go home as they need a low level of care or support and this 

cannot be sourced from the market families are being supported to step in where 

Page 46



9

appropriate and possible.  They are able to access payment via the Direct Payments 

scheme.  This can be a permanent or temporary arrangement. 

[i] https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/national-

information/The-state-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-in-England.aspx
[ii] https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-

intelligence/publications/Topics/COVID-19/Staffing-and-occupancy-monthly-tracking.aspx
[iv] https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/Topics/Pay-
rates.aspx

Page 47

https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/national-information/The-state-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-in-England.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/national-information/The-state-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-in-England.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/Topics/COVID-19/Staffing-and-occupancy-monthly-tracking.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/Topics/COVID-19/Staffing-and-occupancy-monthly-tracking.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/Topics/Pay-rates.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/Topics/Pay-rates.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

25 January 2022

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health

Local Government Social Care Ombudsman Public Interest Report
_________________________________________________  

Introduction
This report pertains to a Public Interest Report issued by the Local Government 

Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) with respect to Gloucestershire County Council’s 

adult social care practice and decision making with Miss X and her former partner 

and Carer, Mr L, over an extended period between 2018 and 2019.

The LGSCO’s report contained some difficult messages for the Council. It is clear 

that, on this occasion, the Council failed to meet the standards that individuals that 

receive adult social care services expect of us and we missed opportunities to put 

things right at an earlier stage. The LGSCO’s investigation concluded that the 

Council failed Miss X in a number of ways, including: 

 Failing to ensure that her eligible care needs were met at home, causing 

avoidable, undue significant distress, inconvenience and frustration. 

 Failing to carry out a carer’s assessment, resulting in undue significant stress 

and frustration for her carer, and uncertainty for Miss X in how her needs 

would be met. 

 Failing to properly consider professional advice from Miss X’s dietician and 

GP when producing her care plan. 

 Failing to assess Miss X’s night-time needs, causing her unnecessary 

distress. 

 Failing to communicate effectively with Miss X or her advocate, causing 

uncertainty and contributing to distrust between her and the Council.

The resultant LGSCO investigation findings of ‘fault’ and related recommendations 

can be found in the report on the link below:

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



2

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/19-014-556

The LGSCO requires local authorities to respond in a specific way to Public Interest 

Reports.  This includes presenting the LGSCO’s findings to Cabinet and sending the 

report to all GCC elected members.  The LGSCO’s report and GCC’s subsequent 

actions were presented to Cabinet on 10 November 2021 and the Cabinet report can 

be found on the link below:

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=10152

As well as meeting all of the LGSCO’s recommendations, GCC also wanted to seek 

further assurances that this situation would not arise again.  So, we commissioned a 

Principle Social Worker from a neighbouring authority to conduct a review of systems 

and processes pertaining to the LGSCO complaint.  The information below provides 

an update on all actions taken by adult social care in relation to this matter.

Chronology of key events 

 12.08.2021:  GCC informed of LGSCO intention to issue a Public Interest 

report and comments would be required on the draft LGSCO report (of 

16.07.2021) by 24.08.2021.  All findings and recommendations in the draft 

LGSCO report were accepted by GCC.

 Sept 2021:  Confirmed between the GCC adult Principle Social Worker (PSW) 

and the adult PSW for South Gloucestershire Council, that the latter would 

undertake an independent PSW (IPSW) ‘critical friend’ review of key elements 

of GCC adult social care process and practice relevant to the LGSCO’s 

findings.  It was greed that whilst the critical friend review brief would 

acknowledge the context of the LGSCO’s findings, it would not entail the PSW 

re-investigating our practice/ decisions with Miss X and Mr L as the LGSCO’s 

draft report findings and recommendations regarding this were already 

accepted in full.  Instead, the review would focus broadly on core elements of 

our engagement and assessment and support planning practice with ‘cared 

for’ persons and their carer’s. 

Page 50

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/19-014-556
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=10152


3

 Late Sept to mid-Oct 2021: IPSW ‘critical friend’ review activities undertaken 

These were: 

- Focus groups with ASC Ops staff of all levels (excluding admin) and 

the Gloucestershire Carers hub. 

- IPSW review of relevant samples of our Making the Difference 

assessments, support plans, carers assessments and support plans 

(randomly selected by the performance team but within review 

criteria parameters agreed with the IPSW).

- IPSW review of various supplementary documents, including 

Customer Journey outline, Team Structure chart, Casefile Audit 

document, Deallocation checklist.

- Telephone consultations/ questionnaires conducted (by the GCC 

PSW and Assistant Head of Adult Social Care Operations) with the 

same cohort of randomly selected cared for persons and their 

Carer’s for the IPSWs assessment and support plan review. 

 22.10.22:  Final, LGSCO report received.   As anticipated, this found the same 

faults and made the same recommendations as the earlier draft LGSCO 

report.

 22.10.21: IPSW critical friend review report (attached Appendix 1) received by 

the GCC PSW and promptly reviewed between the PSW, the Assistant Head 

of ASC Operations, the Head of ASC Operations, and the Executive Director 

for Adult Social Care and Public Health.  All of the IPSWs key findings and 

related ten recommendations were accepted.   It was noted that the IPSW’s 

findings were largely favourable and complimentary to GCC ASC process and 

practice at the time of review in late 2021.  This supports our pre-existing 

internal view that identified the faults with our care and interaction with Miss X 

and Mr L in 2018/19 are highly unlikely to re-occur, given subsequent 

implementation of service changes across the ASC operations teams.  These 

include the ‘Make the difference’ (MTD) framework and aligned 3 conversation 

model (MTD/3C) of Care Act assessment and support planning. This was well 

embedded at the point of the IPSW review late 2021.  The MTD/3C approach 

Page 51



4

is found to mitigate against Care Act non-compliance in delivering 

personalised, strengths based and community capital focused outcomes, as 

reflected in the IPSW report.  

 28.10.2021:  Initial action plan was devised by the GCC PSW, incorporating 

the 14 actions aligned to the IPSW’s ten recommendations.  This was 

distributed to all ASC Operations managers (Independent PSW review ASC 

Operation Action Plan - latest revision 06/12/2021 attached – Appendix 2).

 09.12.2021:  Meeting between the IPSW and the GCC PSW, Assistant Head 

of ASC Operations, Head of ASC Operations and Executive Director for ASC 

and PH.  To de-brief on the critical friend review process, confirm all key 

findings and recommendations accepted by GCC and thank the IPSW and 

her DASS for their time and support. 

Update on progress of Independent PSW review ASC Operations Action Plan

As of 5 January 2022, six of the 14 total actions on this plan have been completed 

and the remaining eight are all in progress with the latest timeframes for completion 

of these being March 2022.

The next significant action at the time of writing will occur on 10 January – ‘a Make 

the Difference review workshop’ involving all ASC Operations service managers, the 

PSW and the Assistant head and Head of Operations.   This event will inform a 

subsequent ‘re-launch’ of our MTD/ 3C framework across the ASC Operations 

teams, recognising that there is inconsistency in full adherence to this across the 

teams.   In addition, this workshop will seek to identify ways to address some of the 

evident IT systems and process issues that hindering performance efficiency in 

various ways. 

Conclusion

It is clear that our practice fell short of what we expect of ourselves on this occasion.  

We have apologised profusely to Miss X and Mr L.  However, we think the work to 

Page 52



5

comply with the recommendations from the LGSCO and the report from the 

Independent Principle Social Worker has been a rigorous test of our systems and 

processes and this has provided assurance that this lapse in practice will not happen 

again.  

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



P a g e  1 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

Critical Friend Report for Gloucestershire County Council 

Introduction 

This has been a rapid review of Gloucestershire County Council’s (GCC) approach to 

assessments and reviews with people and their carers and how practice is supported to 

ensure that it meets the needs of the community it serves. 

This review was undertaken in the context of the Covid 19 pandemic, when adult social care 

teams were receiving high numbers of referrals and the health and social care system was 

under a lot of pressure and the wider social care workforce was experiencing high levels of 

sickness and vacancies, impacting on the availability of service provision nationally. 

Within this context, I would like to express huge thanks to the people who have supported 

this review, particularly the Principal Social Worker for Adults, the Assistant Head of Adult 

Social Care Operations, and all the practitioners within Adult Social Care (ASC) and the Carers 

Hub.  The workers I met within the focus groups were all extremely dedicated, passionate 

about strengths-based practice, and were a credit to your organisation.   

The review was rapid and achieved within very tight timescales and so this report will 

signpost GCC to areas they may wish to focus in more depth on, as this has not been possible 

within the parameters of the scope. 

Background   

This independent review was requested by the Council’s Chief Executive in response to the 

decision of the Ombudsman to uphold a serious complaint against Gloucestershire County 

Council’s Adult Social Care directorate, regarding its’ work with an individual and their carer 

spanning a two-year period up to January 2020.  

It should be noted that over the past 2 years, Adult Social Care, has been rolling out a new 

strengths-based model of practice based on the 3 Conversations model, with this becoming 

business as usual in July 2021.   

Aims and Objectives 

The review focused on the following questions: 

1. When undertaking an assessment, are practitioners gathering a full picture from a 
range of evidence, including medical evidence and opinion, to inform eligibility and a 
rich understanding of how the person’s needs impact on their wellbeing? 

2. During assessments and reviews are practitioners taking a ‘Whole Family’ approach 
including how the person’s care and support needs impact on their wider family or 
others in their support network? 

3. When a carer is identified, are practitioners offering Carers Assessments and taking 
their needs, outcomes, wishes and views into account during the cared for person’s 
support planning as well as the impact that providing care has on the carer and their 
ability to achieve their outcomes?  

Page 55



P a g e  2 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

4. When undertaking reviews, are practitioners considering whether a person’s care and 
support needs or circumstances have changed and whether a reassessment is 
required and carrying this out, if necessary, in a timely and proportionate way? 

  

Whilst these questions are primarily focussed on the practice of frontline practitioners, the 

reviewer was also asked to identify the related practices and processes that are in place to 

support the practitioners and their practice including: hub working; huddles; supervision; 

manager’s authorisation; practice audit; training; learning and development.  

Methodology 

• Feedback from people who have experienced assessments and reviews. 

• Evidence appropriate oversight and legal literacy through: 

o discussion with staff who undertake Care Act assessments 

o discussion with staff who provide informal and formal Supervision to Social 

Workers and Adult Social Care Practitioners, including Hub Leads, Social Work 

and Social Care Leads 

o discussion with authorising, and auditing managers including Deputy Social 

Care Managers, Integrated Social Care Manager and Head of ASC Operations 

o provision of anonymised, authorised assessment and support planning 

paperwork 

o shadowing a case audit 

• Evidence relevant training and CPD is in place to support the delivery of social work 

practice through: 

o Discussion with the Principal Social Worker, and Practice Development Team 

Manager 

• Evidence partnership working between practitioners and external Carers Organisation 

through: 

o Discussion with Gloucestershire Carers Hub, Carers Champions and the 

Integrated Social Care Manager and Carers Lead  

This was achieved through six focus groups with structured interview questions; following a 

‘journey’ of an assessment by seeing a sample of anonymised assessments, support plans, 

carers assessments by People Plus (carers hub); feedback telephone interviews with 

structured questions specifically for the purpose of this review with the people whose plans 

had been provided or their carers; and shadowing a case file audit.  A supervision tool and 

the assessment guidance were also provided.   

Summary of Findings 

Strengths 

‘Make the Difference’ has made a difference 

Page 56



P a g e  3 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

The strengths-based approach adopted by GCC (which was being called interchangeably 3 

Conversations, 3 Tier and Make the Difference) has clearly had a big impact on the way that 

adult social care (ASC) is working.  It is possible to see variation in how this has been 

embedded across the county, based on whether a team had been an innovation site, and the 

amount of time pre-Covid that the team had had to get to know its’ patch and to practice 

having different conversations with people.  This variation is also evident in the way that 

assessments and support plans are written and the extent to which the voice of the person is 

shining through, and the practitioner has used strengths-based language (please see 

Recommendation 1). 

I heard some lovely examples of how practice has changed and the difference this has made 

to people’s lives - for instance a worker described that two people who were boyfriend and 

girlfriend had never been supported to go on a date-night.  Through finding out what was 

important to them, they were supported to go to a beauty salon to prepare for the date, and 

to book a restaurant.  A real improvement in people’s lives was described, the reward that 

this had for those working with them, and that for some people this meant that they didn’t 

need to use formal services that may have previously been provided. 

During the focus group the teams spoke really positively about the use of huddles, and these 

seem extremely well developed across the whole organisation, and are also being 

innovatively used for different purposes as described below: 

• Case Huddles - where team discuss the people they are working with, receive 

challenge, suggestions, ideas about what’s available within the community and 

ensuring the worker is exploring all options before Conversation 3. 

• Wellbeing Huddles - this was described to me by the Cotswold Team and was a focus 

on staff wellbeing and resilience. 

• Themed Practice Huddles - facilitated by Senior Social Workers, huddles take place 

based on practice themes such as Mental Capacity, CHC and Carers 

The ‘Know Your Patch’ events were also highly appreciated within the focus groups, both by 

ASC staff and the Carers Hub.  These all sound like really great information sharing and 

networking opportunities that I imagine will continue to flourish as society and services open 

up more and more. 

Also, the ‘Enablement service’ was very highly valued; described succinctly by one participant 

as “with reablement you learn to do what you could do before.  In the enablement service 

you learn something new”.  This team appeared to blend practical assessment skills with 

community connecting, teaching life skills, small one-off interventions, signposting and much 

more.   

Timeliness of response 

It is impressive that GCC reports that it has become much more responsive to people’s 

requests for support, especially when seen within the context of the pandemic.  I was 

Page 57



P a g e  4 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

informed by a strategic leader that data across all the localities demonstrates that no team 

are operating a ‘pending list’ (waiting list), people are contacted on the same day of a referral 

and teams are able to ‘stick like glue’ to provide support when a person is in crisis. 

Equally impressive was the Carers Hub, who reported that there is no wait for initial contact 

and that the average time from referral to completion of a Care Act compliant assessment is 

17 days.  They also operate no waiting list at all. 

This responsiveness was also demonstrated and highly valued within the feedback of people 

with care and support needs and their carers: 

“[my social care worker] was always on the end of an email for advice about anything, always 

responded when I needed her to.” Carer 1 

“…very responsive when we found ourselves in a crisis…She was quick to respond.” Carer 2 

“The social worker saw us quickly after we called the council and I think the prompt and good 

help we received shows that she really listened to us…” Carer 5. 

Collaboration across Adult Social Care 

There seemed to be lots of opportunities for workers to come together and share practice 

wisdom across the organisation at many different levels and this was seen as valued by the 

focus groups.  For example, I heard about: 

• Champions system- with different themes (Mental Capacity, Dementia, CHC, Carers, 

Autism etc) which started in 2018 in the Make the Difference innovation sites and has 

grown now across the organisation. 

• Senior Social Work Group 

• Monthly Legal Meetings 

• Social Work CPD Group 

• DSCM and ISCM Meetings 

• Employee Voice Groups 

There also seemed to be a strong organisational focus on recognising and valuing good 

practice which I saw in the following ways: 

• Compliments discussed in huddles and team meetings and in some cases weekly team 

email.  The Head of ASC Operations stated he sees all compliments and contacts each 

employee to personally thank them. 

• Staff Annual Awards evening 

• Make the Difference Champion postcards 

• Stories of Difference 

• Token of Appreciation cards (moved to email this year which was apparently less 

valued) 

• Feedback during supervision and appraisals 

Page 58



P a g e  5 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

• ‘What’s Happening in Adult Social Care’ Newsletter 

When undertaking an assessment, are practitioners gathering a full picture from a range of 

evidence, including medical evidence and opinion, to inform eligibility and a rich 

understanding of how the person’s needs impact on their wellbeing? 

The evidence from this review is that practitioners are gathering good information during 

their assessments and the practitioners, and their supervisors felt confident that workers do 

contact health and other professionals if there is a need for this to inform their assessments. 

This was also evidenced within feedback: 

Did the worker talk to people who are important in your life (such as your family, your doctor, 

other professionals that help you)? 

“Yes, she did all that and Dr has been in touch with me as well” Carer 9 

“Yes, she did ask out consent to talk to our GP… and to refer [wife’s name] to occupational 

therapy” Carer 6 

“I would say yes; Funnily enough my GP rang me today as well to check everything was 

alright…it’s nice to know people check on you.”  Carer 3 

It seems that connections with other professionals maybe stronger in some teams than in 

others, for instance the Learning Disability service and Transition Team spoke about their 

links with the Community Learning Disability Team (CLDT) and the Cotswolds described 

strong links with their Community Nursing Teams, which wasn’t felt across all of the service 

where some teams spoke about this engagement being very dependent on individual worker 

relationships and that safeguarding really helped to get professional engagement.  There may 

be opportunities for adult social care to think about how they develop these professional 

links, perhaps in huddles (please see Recommendation 2). 

A view was expressed that the Assessment paperwork did not adequately capture a person’s 

health, emotional or psychological needs and how these impacted on their care and support 

needs.  Workers did not express a concern that colleagues were not considering medical 

opinion or people’s health needs, rather that the paperwork did not prompt them to do so, 

or contain a section where this information should obviously be recorded (please see 

Recommendation 3) 

Having read a sample of assessments, I have observed that the clear focus on strengths-

based practice that was spoken about within the focus groups did not always translate into 

strengths-based recordings.  I noticed heavy use of needs-led, deficit-based language, 

professional language and acronyms, and words I’d imagine were ‘banned’ during the 

innovation stages of implementing the new model, such as ‘respite’ (value laden that the 

cared for person is a burden).  This wasn’t reflected in the language people were using when 

talking about their work, and so my assumption is that the form leads people to use these 

Page 59



P a g e  6 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

terms because of its heavy reliance on the language of the Care Act.   As an example, one 

support plan had a description of a domiciliary care service tasks as: 

“1 carer, x45 minutes. Care worker to assist with: personal hygiene, shower, being 

appropriately clothed…”   

I totally understand that this is accurate language in terms of the Care Act eligibility 

outcomes- but not many of us describe our morning routines in these ways, so when reading 

this it doesn’t sound as though it is a plan that has been co-produced with the person who 

will be receiving the care.    (Please see Recommendation 1) 

During the focus groups I heard some lovely examples of how Make the Difference had 

enabled workers to get to know the people receiving an assessment much better than they 

previously had, and that this had led to workers also understanding their communication 

needs much better.  This has led to using creative methods to communicate including picture 

boards, apps on iPads and this was also evidenced within the Case File audit that I observed.  

This seems to be a particular strength within the Learning Disability Team, and it would be 

great if this approach could be shared widely to enable all teams to develop skills and 

confidence around this (please see Recommendation 4).   

During the review of the assessments and support plans, I also noticed a lack of recording 

that referenced whether a Mental Capacity Assessment had been completed and whether 

the subsequent assessment and support plan decisions had been made in the person’s best 

interests.   I would like to see more reference to this within the assessment: how the person’s 

been supported to engage in the process and how their wishes and feelings have been 

considered and which support plan outcomes have been decided in the person’s best 

interests. (Please see Recommendation 3) 

The Support plan also doesn’t have the person’s Personal Budget recorded within it, which is 

a statutory requirement (please see Recommendation 3). 

The assessment and support plan when read together, contain a lot of repetition of 

information and contain information which I imagine is important for the worker or managers 

but less meaningful for the person, their family, and the care provider.  In most cases the 

contingency section in the support plans could be strengthened.  Workers spoke to me about 

how much better the process is than the previous ‘FACE’ assessments, but there could 

potentially be further improvements that may make the paperwork more person-centred, 

intuitive, support professional defensible decision making and be more reader friendly.  

(Please see Recommendation 3) 

The review found good oversight of practice through the process of huddle discussions, 

supervision, and management scrutiny in terms of ISCM Huddles to agree packages of care.  

Workers spoke about the Caseload Summary tool which is used quite differently across 

different teams.  Some are using it as a weekly planning and update tool that both workers 

and managers find useful, others described it more as a contingency tool for if computer 

systems go down, and other teams only use it when workers go on leave.  One team has 

Page 60



P a g e  7 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

stopped using them altogether preferring to use the ‘work tray’ in LAS.   Workers felt there 

were many options of places they could go to discuss their work including Senior Social 

Workers, the Champions and their Hub leads, DSCMs and ISCMs.  Workers also valued the 

support of the Practice Development Team, who are now attending team huddles, and their 

practice guidance and training events were clearly valued by teams. 

During assessments and reviews are practitioners taking a ‘Whole Family’ approach including 
how the person’s care and support needs impact on their wider family or others in their 
support network? 
 
The focus group members were able to describe a good understanding of what a whole 
family approach meant, and that this was taken into account during assessment 
conversations.  Staff acknowledged the work of the Principal Social Worker in clarifying 
expectations around the whole family approach, with guidance that staff have found useful.  
Some really nice examples were provided where staff had been creative in providing care and 
support for the person at times that would also enable the carer or parent to also be able to 
spend time with other children within the family, and this was also witnessed in the case file 
audit where short breaks were provided at weekends so that the person’s mum could spend 
time with their other young child when they were not at school. 
 
Front-line workers did describe that sometimes it can be difficult working across teams, and 
the authorising managers spoke about some tensions that can occasionally come up when 
being asked to provide information by children’s services, such as commenting on parenting 
ability, which they felt was not always an appropriate request.  Again, there was a view that 
joint working can be good sometimes, but this can be dependent on individual workers.  
(Please see Recommendation 2). 
 
A team who seemed to be achieving this particularly well was the Transitions Team, who 
seemed to have good relationships with children’s services and other teams, through regular 
joint working.   
 
When a carer is identified, are practitioners offering Carers Assessments and taking their 
needs, outcomes, wishes and views into account during the cared for person’s support 
planning as well as the impact that providing care has on the carer and their ability to achieve 
their outcomes?  
 
GCC are currently delegating the assessments of carers to Gloucestershire Adult Carers Hub 
(run by People Plus).  The benefits of this approach appear to be that People Plus are 
providing a very responsive service (as stated above) and they are fully focused on the needs 
of the carer.  Carers may well value that there is a service that is independent of GCC that 
they can seek support from.  A Strategic Manager commented that this frees up GCC Adult 
Social Care capacity to be able to concentrate on the cared-for person.  The representatives I 
met from the Carers Hub appeared to be passionate about supporting carers and they 
described a broad range of different support options that the hub can either provide or 
connect people to including: 

• Carers Emergency Card Scheme 

Page 61



P a g e  8 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

• They have a Health & Wellbeing Worker 

• Counselling 

• Training for carers 

• Seated Samba 

• Support groups 

• Information sessions and more. 
 
They also described that they could provide some services which provide carers with a break, 
which could be termed as replacement care, which are non-chargeable to the cared for 
person.  These included: 

• Day Centre 

• Sitting Service 

• Befriending 
 

They use 4 providers, who were CQC registered and the replacement care service that can be 
provided is usually for up to 3 hours per week. 
 
Because of the scope of the contract with People Plus there is a limit placed on what can be 
commissioned.  There is a risk that this may lead to a service-led response that may mean 
that carers cannot meet all their eligible outcomes.  If a key worker identifies that a carer may 
benefit from a Direct Payment, this is referred back to GCC to complete.   
 
The Ombudsman has requested that the council “reminds staff to incorporate the findings of 
carers’ assessments in care and support plans (for the cared for) in line with the Care Act.”  
This is currently not being achieved because the completed Carers Assessments are not 
routinely shared with the assessing worker who is writing the cared for person’s care and 
support plan.  GCC workers are taking into account carers’ views and referring them for 
carers assessments to the Carers Hub.  They are also considering the sustainability of their 
caring role during support planning, and a lot of the care provided may also benefit the carer 
in terms of providing opportunities for them to take a break.  This is evidenced through the 
feedback received: 
“There was a thorough exploration with my dad about the help he needs to help my mum 
and also the help he needs just for himself.” Daughter of Person 5. 
 
This review would recommend that GCC review this process to improve the way that carers 
assessments and needs are integrated within care and support planning.  This could be done 
with increased joint working, shared records, GCC staff undertaking Carers Assessments or 
Joint Assessments, or there may be other solutions.  (Please see Recommendation 5) 
 
GCC do not currently have a facility for completing Combined Assessments with a Cared for 
Person and their Carer, which is set out within the Care Act, Care and Support Statutory 
Guidance.  (Please see Recommendation 6)   
 
Following the Focus Group, it occurred to me that where the cared for person may not have 
capacity to decide about receiving the above services, it wasn’t clear who would make the 
Mental Capacity Assessment (MCA) and best interest decision about providing this service.  

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


P a g e  9 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

The Carers Lead for GCC was able to inform me after the session that the Carers Hub should 
refer to GCC to complete the MCA.  It is difficult to evidence this within the Carers 
Assessments and support plans that were provided.  Within the scope and timescales of this 
review it was not possible to explore this in more depth but would be worthy of more follow-
up.  (Please see Recommendation 7). 
 
Carers’ feedback about their experience: 
 
“[The social worker] was very professional, clearly knew her stuff; she listened and would 
make suggestions of how we could deal differently with things…she was brilliant, I feel so 
lucky to have had her… told me that if I joined Gloucestershire Carers Hub, I could be entitled 
to 3 hour sitting service a week- I didn’t realise that. She left the information with me, and for 
me to contact them when I felt I was ready.  I’ve done that now and it’s been really helpful.  
[The Carers Hub Key worker] was really good at recognising I would need support to carry on 
caring...she thought of things that I hadn’t; she was really good.” Carer 1 
 
“[the social care worker] talked to me about the Gloucestershire Carers Hub and how I could 
get support; I haven’t been in touch with them yet, but I think I need to as I’ve not had a 
holiday for a few years now.”  Carer 3 
 
There was good evidence of a robust quality assurance process in place in that all completed 
carers assessments are read by the Carers Lead ISCM, and she can raise concerns either with 
the GCC Teams or with the Carers Hub if and when they arise.  The Carers Assessments I 
reviewed were detailed, well written and compliant with the Care Act requirements.  The 
paperwork does not seem to marry with the 3 Conversations approach, but I can see the 
approach that the workers take is strengths-based from the focus group discussions. 
 
When undertaking reviews, are practitioners considering whether a person’s care and 
support needs or circumstances have changed and whether a reassessment is required and 
carrying this out if necessary, in a timely and proportionate way? 
 
Within the focus groups, staff demonstrated a good understanding of the difference between 
a review and a reassessment and advised that this was regularly discussed and supported 
within huddles.  There was a high level of practitioner confidence about this across all levels 
that I spoke to.   
 
An issue was discussed in that because the computer system has been changed fairly recently 
to LAS, that this is making workers complete reassessments when they may have actually 
only needed to do a review, to ensure that information is transferred accurately onto the 
new system, but although potentially time consuming to staff, I cannot identify a risk to 
people with care and support needs in taking this approach because it’s providing a higher 
than necessary level of service.  LAS also reportedly provides a function to complete reviews 
that the previous database did not have, and this was seen as a real strength of the new 
system.  
 

Page 63



P a g e  10 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

Most teams did speak about the impact of high levels of demand including the hospital 
discharge pressures on carrying out planned (annual) reviews which I believe is in keeping 
with the national picture, but teams described feeling confident about being able to respond 
in a timely and proportionate way to unplanned reviews and initial reviews which continue to 
be prioritised within the team’s duty systems.  Some teams spoke about the success of 
having some dedicated reviewing workers within the team, which has meant they are able to 
continue to complete planned reviews.  Other teams also described that Covid 19 gave them 
an opportunity to think differently about reviews, and they have started to operate whole 
care home reviews, where one worker is assigned to a care home to reduce the number of 
visitors, and this has been beneficial. 
 
In terms of training available in support of the  Make the Difference approach, the 
independent training consultant in conjunction with the Practice Development Team have 
produced videos that are readily available for staff to view which help  workers  understand  
the principles, application and stages of the practice model including understanding the 
difference between review and reassessments, this also built into the Care Act Refresher 
training underway at the time of this review, with there also being a regular programme of 
sessions running throughout the year that workers can attend.   With Practice Development 
team members now also joining team’s “huddles”, this further supports application of a 
strengths-based approach in practice.  
 
How Teams are Supported 
 
There appears to be a robust procedure in place for policies, procedures, and guidance- there 
is a policy writer employed within GCC, line managed by the Head of ASC Operations and 
relevant ASC policies are written, with review every two years, in conjunction with the 
Principal Social Worker and ASC Legal services before submission and authorisation by the 
Director.  These are transparently recorded on the public-facing website. 
 
There is an internal Staffnet (intranet) which also has an A-Z of practice guidance and there is 
a programme of review of these by the Principal Social Worker and Policy writer. 
 
Adult Social Care reportedly has a very good induction pack provided by the Practice 
Development Team, which was spoken highly of, and an ASC Induction session also facilitated 
through the Practice Development Team.  Staff did discuss the challenges of team induction 
during the pandemic with increased remote working and the impact this was having on staff.  
This has been mitigated through things like a staff buddy scheme. 
 
The Practice Development Team have also led on supporting the social care teams with their 
wellbeing at work, and this is something that appears to have been valued by staff, as is the 
monthly ASC Newsletter “What’s happening in Adult Social Care”, which gives opportunity for 
teams to share good practice, good news stories as well as providing updates. 

Supervision appears to occur regularly- nearly everyone I met said that they had supervision 
monthly, one person said every 6 weeks.   As already mentioned, there is a lot of what could 
be seen as informal peer or group supervision through the huddles, lead groups, DSCM 

Page 64



P a g e  11 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

groups, Senior Social Work Groups and ISCM groups.  This structure within teams provides a 
strong degree of oversight and support with practice and decision making, and outside of the 
team structure through peer group meetings the opportunity for shared learning and 
support. 

There is a 2-day supervision course which supervisors attend, focused on the integrated 
model of supervision (4x 4x 4). 
 
The Principal Social Worker has completed a supervision audit which reported that staff were 
getting monthly supervision for 1 ½ hours minimum.  It identified that there was a strong 
focus on caseload and not a strong focus on reflection, which was borne out in the focus 
group discussions.  The current supervision tool is very weighted towards the management 
quadrant of supervision and makes no mention of employee wellbeing or strengths-based 
practice.   In response the Principal Social Worker has revised the Supervision Policy and a 
new supervision tool is currently in the process of being approved.  Staff also have access to 
the ASC Legal and Litigation team as the need arises, with additional monthly surgeries 
offered to discuss specific issues arising; this forum enables dissemination of learning across 
teams through its’ regular representation from teams.  
 
Currently some registered workers are being supervised by unregistered workers.  Standard 5 
of The Employers Standards for Social Workers states that employers should provide 
additional professional supervision by a registered social worker for practitioners whose line 
manager is not a social worker, and this is also detailed in the Supervision Policy.  Currently 
this is not consistently in place.  (Please see Recommendation 8). 
 
Impact of working during Covid 19 
 
As stated, before the pressure on people has been intense during the last nearly two years 
and this has impacted on people with care and support needs, their carers and the staff who 
support them.  The Head of ASC commented, 

“Staff have been there through it all, working face-to-face, operational, still needing 
to go out where necessary.  Teams are tired it’s been hard.  I’m really proud of them-  
still get lots of compliments, people going the extra mile and thinking outside the box.  
Really proud.” 

 
The Carers Hub described that they have only returned to face-to-face visits if needed during 
the last 3 months.  Whilst nearly everyone that provided feedback was very positive, one 
carer commented, 
 

“The carers hub are useless - everything is online and that’s no good to me.  Once 
when I called to ask for help with shopping they called me back to tell me the local 
Co-op could deliver to me, but when I called the Co-op back, they told me they can 
only deliver within 3 miles of the town the Co-op is in.”  Carer 8. 

 
As this review has shown, the Carers Hub provides a wide range of varied support to carers, 
and it is such a shame that trying to access support virtually in this way has not enabled this 

Page 65

https://www.local.gov.uk/standard-5-supervision
https://www.local.gov.uk/standard-5-supervision


P a g e  12 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

carer to receive support that has met their needs.   I shared this feedback because I thought 
it demonstrated the frustration that a carer feels when they do find a few minutes to reach 
out for help, and it is unsuccessful, particularly if they are someone who maybe digitally 
excluded.   
 
A son of a carer also gave feedback (on the whole social care experience not specifically the 

Carers Hub) about remote assessments: 

 
“we should consider how we contact and support carers; no complaint to make just 
an observation.  Interaction over the telephone is always sub-optimal - need to make 
allowances for the fact that carers are often ageing themselves, under a lot of stress, 
[she] provides a lot of care to her husband and dealing with professionals largely by 
phone relies on her recalling and retaining information, and she may not relay fully 
how the situation is affecting her as his carer- she is likely to downplay it and accept 
what she does as being ‘normal’; her mind is often full dealing with several things at 
once.  So contact by telephone isn’t always helpful and relies too much on her giving 
you information, rather than you seeing it for yourself.”  Carer 2. 

 
Workers described using a risk assessment before deciding whether a home visit is needed, 
and it is important that this remains a person-centred decision based upon whether it’s 
possible to achieve the outcomes you need to (whether that’s an assessment or a review) 
virtually.   We know that virtual and telephone assessments are convenient for some people, 
but this feedback shows it is important that these decisions are person-centred, and that 
people are given different options about how to engage with staff. 

Because of their different way of working the Learning Disability Service were able to make 
regular calls to the people they work with and their carers during the pandemic to monitor 
how they were coping and offer support to people if needed.  This is because they get very 
few new referrals and have long-standing relationships with the people who use their service.  
Across the wider service, all teams were asked to contact anyone whose service may have 
been closed due to the pandemic to offer similar support and monitoring such as those 
attending lunch clubs, day centres, short break centres.  I was very impressed with this 
approach, and it’s focus on prevention.   

Staff also described the Enablement Team becoming involved to support people who were at 
risk of becoming isolated when day services or memory cafés and so on had closed.   
 
Role of Occupational Therapy 
 
The focus groups discussed the positive influence that OTs have had, particularly in relation 
to Make the Difference.  GCC seem to employ a relatively small number of OTs in comparison 
to other Local Authorities, and this maybe something that is worthy of review.  There also 
don’t appear to be any OTs within the Leadership of Adult Social Care (Social Care Lead 
upwards).  (Please see Recommendation 9). 
 

Page 66



P a g e  13 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

Feedback 
 
Within adult social care there isn’t currently a process in place to proactively seek feedback 
from people who have care and support needs and their carers, although there does seem to 
be a good process in place where workers receive unsolicited feedback and lovely 
acknowledgement of compliments within teams and shared within the ASC Newsletter. 
 
This contrasts with the Carers Hub where seeking and acting on feedback seems to be a real 
strength and the Practice Development Team who explained they have a great system in 
place to seek feedback on Training, and other development activities they facilitate which 
helps them to adapt and learn.   The Carers Hub reported that they complete 1-2 case studies 
each month and ask for carers comments as part of these to find out what impact the 
intervention had.  They seek feedback through social media, bi-weekly emails, and post-
contact feedback telephone calls.   
 
I also asked how equality data is captured as part of feedback to ensure that adult social care 
is meeting the needs of its whole population, and currently this is not captured outside of the 
performance statistics gathered for national data.  However, Gloucestershire County Council 
does have a Black Workers Network, Prism (LGBTQ+) and Dignity at Work officers in terms of 
a focus on equality diversity and inclusion for their workforce.   
 
Developing a feedback system that also captures people’s protected characteristics would be 
worthwhile so that the service can be responsive to the community it serves.  (Please see 
Recommendation 10). 
 
Conclusions 
 
This review has highlighted some areas of really positive practice and I have met dedicated 
professionals both within GCC Adult Social Care and within the Carers Hub who described 
creative and strengths-based working and a passion for improving the lives of the people 
they worked with. 
 
I was asked to consider the following questions: 

1. When undertaking an assessment, are practitioners gathering a full picture from a 
range of evidence, including medical evidence and opinion, to inform eligibility and a 
rich understanding of how the person’s needs impact on their wellbeing? 

2. During assessments and reviews are practitioners taking a ‘Whole Family’ approach 
including how the person’s care and support needs impact on their wider family or 
others in their support network? 

3. When a carer is identified, are practitioners offering Carers Assessments and taking 
their needs, outcomes, wishes and views into account during the cared for person’s 
support planning as well as the impact that providing care has on the carer and their 
ability to achieve their outcomes?  

4. When undertaking reviews, are practitioners considering whether a person’s care and 
support needs or circumstances have changed and whether a reassessment is 
required and carrying this out, if necessary, in a timely and proportionate way? 

Page 67



P a g e  14 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

 
This has revealed that the tools that practitioners use could be further improved to enable 
workers to complete more holistic assessments that consider both the individual and their 
carer’s needs.  The Principal Social Worker has advised this work is already underway. 
 
It has revealed that there has been much progress since the period the Ombudsman’s 
findings relate to, in terms of a new strengths-based approach to social care, a more 
responsive service to people and their carers, and that staff are better supported through 
huddles and the other structures of support discussed. 
 
There are of course areas of improvement, that could be identified if you went into any 
organisation, and it is a real credit to GCC that they have requested this independent review 
to enable them to continue their journey of improvement and adoption of strengths-based 
practice within adult social care. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. Reviewing the use of strengths-based language and Plain English within assessments 
and care and support plans. 

2. Developing stronger working links with other professionals across partner 
organisations including community health, mental health and children’s services 
possibly through shared huddles. 

3. Assessment and support plan paperwork tools are reviewed to ensure staff can 
include health and psychological needs, consideration of mental capacity and best 
interest decision making, that there is less repetition within the document and 
inclusion of the Personal Budget.  It would be beneficial if this was done in a working 
group with an ‘expert by experience’ (person with care & support needs); 
practitioners and a provider so the different perspectives of people who see and use 
the paperwork can be sought. 

4. Good practice is shared widely about using tools to support people to be able to 
communicate effectively. 

5. Aligning the work of the assessments of cared for people and carers so that the 
findings of carers’ assessments can be reflected in the care and support plans (for the 
cared for) in line with the Care Act. 

6. GCC develop a process of Combined Assessments between carers and their cared for 
person in line with the Care Act Statutory Guidance. 

7. Joint review to take place between GCC and the Carers Hub to ensure that processes 
are in place and being used to ensure that the consent of the cared for person is 
sought when providing services to them to enable their carer to have a break.  Where 
the person’s ability to make that decision is doubted that Mental Capacity 
Assessments are undertaken and the decision about providing these services is made 
in their best interests and documented accordingly.   

8. That arrangements are made so that standard 5.8 of the Employers Standards for 
Social Workers can be met. 

9. That GCC considers increasing the representation of Occupational Therapy within the 
Adult Social Care Service. 

Page 68



P a g e  15 | 15 

Hannah Scaife, Principal Social Worker for Adults, South Gloucestershire Council 

22.10.21 

10. A feedback process is developed to understand the views of people in need of care 
and support and their carers about the service they have received from Adult Social 
Care.  That equality data is collected with this feedback to ensure that take up, 
satisfaction and outcomes are analysed to ensure any inequalities can be identified 
and acted upon. 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



INDEPENDENT PSW REVIEW RECOMMENDATIONS

ASC OPERATIONS ACTION PLAN

Recommendation Actions already taken or 
underway (prior to this 
review)

By whom Further actions 
required

By whom When Status

MTD – video and 
workshop “Language 
matters” – already in 
place and available

Casefile audits – already 
in place

Moira Wood & 
Practice 
Development 
Team/Alex MacNeil

DSCM’s

Improved scrutiny by 
authorisers

Ensure all teams 
using latest audit 
tool

ISCM’s & 
DSCM’s

Moira Wood

Discussed/agreed 
in ISCM meeting 
10/11/2021

Emailed 16/11/21

Complete

MTD – workshop for 
Leads; already in place 
and available

Practice 
Development 
Team/Alex MacNeil

Complete

Developing a range of 
Exemplar Templates – 
acceptable writing 
standards (13 examples 
of completed documents 
provided from teams), PD 
Team will further develop 
exemplars and guidance 
on Acceptable Writing 
Standards

Moira Wood & 
Practice 
Development Team

Video & workshop 
planned

Practice guidance to 
be updated

Hospital paperwork 
particularly 

Moira Wood & 
Practice 
Development 
Team/Alex 
MacNeil

March 2022

Feb 2022

Feb 2022

In 
progress

1 Reviewing the use of 
strengths-based 
language and Plain 
English within 
assessments and care 
and support plans.

Review of MTD 
documentation

Moira Wood, ASC 
Legal & ISCM’s  
(Sarah Marley; Jane 

Associated LAS 
process changes

Moira Wood; 
Beth Spragg; 
Austin (LAS), 

Jan 2022 In 
progress

P
age 71



Hughes; Jo Walker) Meeting to be 
arranged

Keith

Practice Development 
Social Workers joining 
huddles to promote 
practice and application 
of the MTD model – 
already in place

Practice 
Development Team

Complete

2 Developing stronger 
working links with other 
professionals across 
partner organisations 
including community 
health, mental health 
and children’s services 
possibly through shared 
huddles.

Multiple “touchpoints” at 
a Strategic level include:
AMHP and SW Steering 
group
Multi Agency Panel
EIO Project Board
GHC/GCC Senior 
Leadership meeting
Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Board
Disabilities Housing 
Group
Ageing well Programme 
Board
SAB

Channel Panel

MAPPA
MAPPA Strategic Board

DHRs

Moira Wood/Keith 
Vardy/Nikki Smith
ISCM’s
Keith Vardy/Moira 
Wood
Keith Vardy/Steven 
Holmes
Dawn Porter

Keith Vardy
Dawn Porter

Dawn Porter, Moira 
Wood, Sarah Jasper
Moira Wood, 
Moira Wood

ISCM’s, Nikki Smith
Moira Wood

Moira Wood/Nikki 
Smith 

Green

P
age 72



Personalised care 
strategy board

At locality 
team/practitioner level:
Integrated Locality 
Partnership Board 
Meetings

Transitions Oversight 
Group
Monthly Operations 
Transitions Group
16 plus Pathway Panel
Multi Disciplinary Team 
Meeting (ICS Virtual 
Board/EOL (Churchdown 
surgery)  pilot)

Workers in the team 
arrange MDT’s for 
specific cases to discuss 
concerns and shared 
responsibility for risks

Some teams share 
buildings with 
Community health teams 
(ICT) plus Children’s and 
Education services. . 

Joint working on cases 

Moira Wood

All ISCM’s

Jo Walker

Mike Doughty

Mike Doughty
Locality team 
representative 
linked to identified 
“patient” included 
in the pilot

All ISCM’s

Stroud, Cotswolds, 
Forest, Tewkesbury

All ISCM’s

P
age 73



with other professionals 
is encouraged across the 
team. 

We invite other 
professional leads to our 
leadership or team 
meetings when needed to 
improve understanding of 
roles and relationships. 

All ISCM’s

3 Assessment and support 
plan paperwork tools are 
reviewed to add 
prompts and/ or sub-
headings to ensure staff 
DO include health and 
psychological needs, 
consideration of mental 
capacity and best 
interest decision making, 
that there is less 
repetition within the 
document and inclusion 
of the Personal Budget. 

Review of MTD 
documentation already 
underway to ensure 
compliance with Care Act 
and related Statutory 
Guidance

Currently it is only 
possible to provide the 
initial personal budget 
(the estimated amount 
sufficient to meet the 
eligible unmet needs).  
Teams have been 
reminded this section 
must be included in the 
printed version sent to 
the individual (currently 
remains a printable 
“option”).

Inclusion of the finalised 

Moira Wood, & 
ISCM’s & ASC Legal  
(Sarah Marley; Jane 
Hughes; Jo Walker; 
Chris Clark)

Associated LAS 
process changes
Meeting to be 
arranged

LAS Portal to be 
investigated

Moira Wood; 
Beth Spragg; 
Austin Cook 
(LAS)

Kit 
Whitehead/
Keith

March 2022 In 
progress

P
age 74



Personal Budget in its 
broken down state, is 
identified as a particular 
difficulty by several of the 
South West LA’s due to 
the inability to a) co-
ordinate the brokering of 
the required Care and 
Support, with b) the 
outcome of the person’s 
financial assessment, 
prior to the initial review 
of the Care and Support 
plan by the allocated 
worker.  To wait to carry 
out the initial review until 
a) & b) have both 
completed will mean 
work remains “open” and 
“allocated” and may 
impact performance data 
negatively.  ASC Legal 
advice is to keep the Care 
and Support Plan “open” 
until this information can 
be included.  

ACTION: SEND 
PROVISIONAL PLAN 
1ST WITH 
PROVISIONAL 
PERSONAL BUDGET 
FIGURE STATED BUT 
NOT CHARGE. 
FOLLOWING 6 
WEEKS REVIEW, 
SEND FULL VERSION 
INC CHARGE.

ISCM’s

4 Good practice is shared 
widely about using tools 
to support people to be 
able to communicate 
effectively.

Teams are encouraged to 
share good practice 
examples through the 
ASC Newsletter

One of the teams have a 
hearing amplifier used to 

Practice 
Development Team

LD to be requested 
to share tools in use 
as identified in the 
Reviewer’s report

Proposal to include 
as a Standing Agenda 

Jo Walker

ISCM’s who 
chair Lead 

Discussed and 
agreed at ISCM 
meeting 
10/11/2021

Discussed and 
agreed at ISCM 

Complete

P
age 75



support hearing and 
communication in 
assessments. 

Also have purchased a 
basic money kit to 
support communication 
re: assessing mental 
capacity in relation to 
finances

item on the DSCM 
and Leads meetings

PD Team budget can 
support purchasing 
of further money kits 
to support good 
practice (Kelly-Ann 
purchased from 
Amazon, low cost)

meetings

Moira Wood

meeting 
10/11/2021

5 Aligning the work of the 
assessments of cared for 
people and carers so 
that the findings of 
carers’ assessments can 
be reflected in the care 
and support plans (for 
the cared for) in line 
with the Care Act.

ISCM Carers Lead has 
confirmed GCH and GYC 
do make their statutory 
Carers Assessments 
available to ASC and 
these are uploaded to 
relevant LAS record

Care Act Refresh 
workshops attended by 
all ASC Social Work teams 
have highlighted our 
responsibilities to Carers 
and option to conduct 
Carers’ Assessments 
ourselves and the 
importance of reflecting 
Carers input, and impact 
of the cared for’s needs 
on the carer in the Care 
and Support Plan

Kit Whitehead Improved scrutiny by 
authorisers

Use of LAS Portal

‘Quick guide’ to 
when to consider 
joint OPS/ C HUB 
carers ASSESSMENT, 

ISCM’s/
DSCM’s

Nikki Smith
Kit Whitehead
Carers 
Champions

Kit Whitehead

Kit Whitehead; 
Nikki Smith; 
ISCM’s
(Complete Nov 
2021)

Jan 2022 In 
progress

P
age 76



6 GCC develop a process 
of Combined 
Assessments between 
carers and their cared 
for person in line with 
the Care Act Statutory 
Guidance.

– the relevant section of 
Stat guidance is 
“6.3 a combined 
assessment, where an 
adult’s assessment is 
combined with a carer’s 
assessment and/or an 
assessment relating to a 
child so that interrelated 
needs are properly 
captured and the process 
is as efficient as 
possible” and also
“10.40 Where the carer 
also has eligible needs, 
the local authority 
should consider 
combining the plans of 
the adult requiring care 
and the carer, if all 
parties agree, and 
establish if the carer 
requires an independent 
advocate.”

As per point 5 above, but 
further consideration on 
this point needed

Need equivalent to 
above, quick guide for 
‘COMBINED’ P and carer 
assessments/ plan. 

(Hannah had 
suggested 
developing a 
template that 
incorporates both 
assessments, this will 
be further 
considered in the 
review of MTD 
paperwork)

Moira to ask 
Hannah for 
copy of joint 
document 
used in South 
Glos.   

30/11/2021

Received mid Dec 
21. 

In 
progress

P
age 77



7 Joint review to take 
place between GCC and 
the Carers Hub to ensure 
that processes are in 
place and being used to 
ensure that the consent 
of the cared for person is 
sought when providing 
services to them to 
enable their carer to 
have a break. 

Where the person’s 
ability to make that 
decision is doubted that 
Mental Capacity 
Assessments are 
undertaken and the 
decision about providing 
these services is made in 
their best interests and 
documented 
accordingly.     

Requires a discussion 
between ISCM Lead 
for carers and 
Commissioning lead 
for Carers with GCH 
to identify/agree 
clear process.  

I would suggest 
information is also 
reflected (written as 
a statement) in the 
cared for person’s 
Care and Support 
Plan – and whether 
the person has given 
capacitated consent 
or is otherwise noted 
as a MCA ax and BI 
decision in relation 
to the “replacement 
carer” support. 

Incorporating 
prompt questions 
into the assessment 
re:  decisions to 
provide replacement 
carer support

Kit 
Whitehead/Gl
oucestershire 
Carers Hub

Moira Wood

Jan 2022 In 
progress

8 That arrangements are 
made so that standard 
5.8 of the Employers 
Standards for Social 

This is already stated in 
the Supervision policy 
and is a responsibility of 
ISCM’s to make necessary 

– this could further 
be achieved through 
sourcing an  external 
facilitator to provide 

Complete

P
age 78



Workers can be met.  
Namely - 
“provide additional 
professional supervision 
by a registered social 
worker for practitioners 
whose line manager is 
not a social worker.”

arrangements.  The 
opportunity for 
professional supervision 
is seen as being in 
addition to 
managerial/functional 
supervision and therefore 
occurs at a less frequent 
basis 

Within teams Social 
Workers receive 
supervision from a 
Registered Social Worker 
in a Snr role on a monthly 
basis.

Where ISCM’s are line 
managed by a non-social 
work professional they 
take personal 
responsibility for 
accessing professional 
reflective supervision; 
facility to do this is by:  
peer supervision and the 
ISCM weekly meeting.  
ISCM’s reference 
accessing this type of 
supervision from another 
of their peers or from 
another in a more Senior 
role. 

group or individual 
professional 
supervision.

ISCM’s/Keith 
Vardy

Discussed and 
agreed at ISCM’s 
meeting 
10/11/2021

P
age 79



9 That GCC considers 
increasing the 
representation of 
Occupational Therapy 
within the Adult Social 
Care Service.

discussion at a Strategic 
level will continue and 
consider the merits of our 
current model and 
whether there is need for 
an alternative or where 
the current model can be 
improved. 

WE HAVE FUNDING FOR 
6X OT’S; WE CAN INVITE 
GHC OT REPS TO 
RELEVANT MEETINGS, 

ISCM + KV will raise 
interaction between MTD 
and GHC OT’s as well as 
clarify the roles in 
meeting/conversation 
booked 26.11.2021

Keith Vardy; ISCM’s

Mark Branton March 2022

10 A feedback process is 
developed to 
understand the views of 
people in need of care 
and support and their 
carers about the service 
they have received from 
Adult Social Care. 

That equality data is 
collected with this 

Annual Adult Social Care 
Survey - Each year the 
Department of Health 
and Social Care require all 
local authorities to carry 
out an Adult Social Care 
Survey and send a postal 
questionnaire to a sample 
of service users. The 
survey results are used to 
compile some of our 

Re-instate use of our 
Make the Difference 
Customer Feedback 
process

Discuss in MTD 
review workshop 
planned 10/01/2022

ISCM’s March 2022 In 
progress

P
age 80



feedback to ensure that 
take up, satisfaction and 
outcomes are analysed 
to ensure any 
inequalities can be 
identified and acted 
upon.

performance indicators 
and produce analytical 
reports to help us 
understand the needs 
and views of the service 
users.

Annual GCC Feedback 
Report (Compliments and 
Complaints) 

 

Keith Vardy, Head of ASC Operations

Nikki Smith, Assistant Head of ASC Operations

Moira Wood, Adults’ Principal Social Worker

Updated:  06/12/2021

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health

January 2022 – Public Health Update

Overview

This report contains updates on the following public health services from the Prevention, 
Wellbeing and Communities team for the consideration of the Adult Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee:

1. Sexual Health Services 
2. Drugs and Alcohol Services
3. Childhood Obesity and Weight Management Services
4. Domestic Abuse

1. Sexual Health Services Update 

Understanding the impact of the pandemic on sexual and reproductive health

In Gloucestershire, between 2019 and 2020, there has been a decrease of 38% in 
Gloucestershire in the diagnosis of sexually transmitted infections (excluding Chlamydia) 
(PHE, 2021).  This is comparable with the decrease in England of 32% for the same period. 
As this was during the pandemic, the decline reflects changes in sexual behaviour linked to 
lockdown and subsequent social distancing measures, and a reduction in people accessing 
testing either because of reduced need or reticence in accessing health services in the 
circumstances. Despite the fall in diagnoses, sexually transmitted infections (STI) diagnoses 
overall remain high.

Locally, the majority of contraception is prescribed by primary care, including Long-Acting 
Reversible Contraception (LARC) such as coils and implants. Guidance from The Royal 
College of General Practitioners (RCGP) and Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive 
Healthcare (FSRH) on GP workload prioritisation during COVID-19 advised the provision of 
LARC should continue where possible and if the risk of fitting outweighed the risk to the 
patient and healthcare professional for example, in emergency situations or for very 
vulnerable women. It was suggested that measures such as extending the use of current 
LARCs due for renewal or prescribing other forms of contraception following a telephone 
assessment, such as the progestogen-only pill (POP) may be the most sensible option short 
term for the majority. This led to a significant drop in the prescribing of coils and implants 
both nationally and locally from April 2020. In Gloucestershire, levels of prescribing returned 
close to previous levels by December 2020 and have stayed broadly consistent with pre-
pandemic levels since, with GP prescribing rates for LARC in the county the highest in the 
Southwest.

The percentage of repeat abortions in under 25s, and the rate of under 18 conceptions 
remain below the national average. However, it is important to continue to monitor the data 
closely to understand the impact of the pandemic on young people’s sexual health.

The specialist sexual health service has remained open throughout the pandemic, with an 
adapted service model. Initially services were concentrated in the main Gloucester clinic 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



2

(Hope House) and satellite district clinics were closed on a temporary basis, but as part of 
recovery plans, the clinic in Cheltenham, Cirencester and the Royal Agricultural College 
have now reopened. The county has an established programme of online STI testing which 
ensured that STI tests remained accessible; and facilities to enable remote tele-
consultations were also introduced. Commissioner and provider leads continue to work 
together on the service’s overall recovery plan and the resumption of further district clinics.

To support the local sexual health system with the impact of the pandemic, we have 
commissioned additional clinic capacity on a short-term basis as part of the recovery plan to 
increase access to contraception and sexual health appointments in primary care.  This is 
through eight more GP practices in addition to the eleven GP sexual health clinics which are 
already in operation. The specialist sexual health service is also running a monthly 
LARCATHON event during the first three months of 2022 to increase access to LARC (Long-
Acting Reversible Contraception). A review will be carried out early 2022 to understand if the 
additional capacity is required into the 2022/23 financial year. 

Other sexual health updates

Following a successful two-year pilot, the maternity contraception service will be continued 
as a routinely commissioned service. Vulnerable women are supported by midwives to 
consider contraception choices as part of the prenatal pathway and are initiated on their 
chosen method before or shortly after discharge from hospital, with the aim of preventing 
short interval and unplanned pregnancies. Since its launch in 2018, the service has initiated 
contraception for over 750 vulnerable women. Recruitment is beginning for additional 
midwife capacity to help the service support more vulnerable women during 2022.

Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), a drug that can prevent individuals contracting HIV, has 
been routinely available in Gloucestershire since December 2020. Work will continue during 
2022 to identify ways to ensure individuals from higher risk groups are supported to access 
the drug. Southwest sexual health commissioners have identified funding to enable an initial 
scoping of a regionally tailored programme which builds on the principles of behavioural 
science, social marketing, health improvement and prevention of HIV, focussed on PrEP. 
The programme will aim to reach groups and individuals with lower uptake of PrEP but at 
increased risk of HIV transmission. Locally, scoping work has begun with system partners to 
explore how we can better support at risk individuals to access PrEP, including an option for 
an outreach PrEP health advisor post within specialist sexual health services.

2. Drugs and Alcohol Update

The Scrutiny Committee is due to receive a more in-depth report on adult community drug 
and alcohol services and the new national drug strategy at a future meeting.  However, in 
response to a specific question asked at the last meeting, we wanted to describe how we 
work with/commission the voluntary and community sector (VCS) to deliver drug and alcohol 
treatment services in the county.  Indeed, we recognise that the VCS are key partners in the 
local system and are fully committed to working with organisations in this sector.

The current contract for the drug and alcohol treatment service was awarded to Change 
Grow Live (CGL) from 1 January 2017. This followed a Cabinet decision in April 2016 to 
carry out a comprehensive OJEU compliant open competitive tender.  Liaison with the VCS 
was a key part of the tendering process from pre-consultation information events through 
consultation, market engagement and development of the service specification that formed 
the basis of the tender.  The successful bidder, Change Grow Live (CGL), is a charitable 
organisation and they also subcontract parts of the service to other third sector organisations 
including Emerging Futures, Ara, Nelson Trust, Barnardo’s and Young Gloucestershire.

Page 84



3

Emerging Futures provide aftercare support across Gloucestershire for service users in 
recovery from substance misuse. Coaches help people reconnect with their local 
communities and build recovery capital. One-to-one support and wellbeing checks are 
combined with group work programmes to encourage behaviour change. Programmes can 
be accessed face-to-face in community venues and via Zoom.  They also support individuals 
to apply to detox and/or rehabilitation services and facilitate an evening Zoom group for 
concerned others.  In Gloucester, Cheltenham, and Stroud, allotment and gardening projects 
let people engage in meaningful activity and produce homegrown fruit and vegetables.  They 
recruit and train volunteer Recovery Coaches to support people in recovery to fulfil their 
goals and move forward.

Ara is one of the largest voluntary sector organisations providing addiction and mental health 
services in the Southwest.  In Gloucestershire, they provide a housing link worker, outreach, 
and hospital in-reach services.

CGL subcontract the Nelson Trust to provide a pilot service for women’s continuing care, 
helping women to leave treatment in a supported way.  We have also supported the Nelson 
Trust Sex Worker Outreach Project which provides an on-street, out of hours harm reduction 
service.

Barnardo’s provide therapeutic work with parents and children; and Young Gloucestershire 
have provided individual and group work with 16–25-year-olds.

In addition to our commissioned services, we convene Gloucestershire Drug and Alcohol 
Working Group (GDAWG), a stakeholder meeting providing a forum for work on drugs and 
alcohol, linking county and district levels and specialist services on behalf of the Safer 
Gloucestershire Partnership.  Membership of this group includes the VCS Alliance, the Shaw 
Trust, Nelson Trust, Emerging Futures and P3 amongst others.  As part of the current 
Strategic Review of Drugs and Alcohol in the county, we have also commissioned an 
external consultant to engage with stakeholders and seek their views on what works well 
and what doesn’t in the current pathways.  This engagement work has included a focus 
group with VCS organisations to enable their views to be incorporated.  The Strategic 
Review will help inform future commissioning of the drug and alcohol service.

3. Childhood Obesity and Weight Management Services

Introduction 

Childhood obesity matters. It is a serious threat to the health, wellbeing and life chances of 
children and young people as well as having a wider impact on health and care services and 
the wider economy. 

The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) provides high quality data on the 
prevalence of childhood obesity in England. This measures the height and weight of children 
in Reception (aged 4 to 5) and Year 6 (aged 10 to 11) in state schools across the country 
every year. The 2020/21 school year data was published in November 2021. 

School closures caused by the pandemic disrupted the NCMP in 2019/20 and 2020/21. This 
meant that in 2019/20 only around 70% of children were measured (we need 85% coverage 
to have a high level of confidence that the data reflect the true prevalence). In 2020/21 local 
authorities were advised to complete measurements in a representative 10% sample of 
schools so that we could make estimates about all children. 

In Gloucestershire, we measured 98% of Reception children by using routine vision 
screening appointments, giving a very high level of confidence in our 2020/21 data.  Our 
Year 6 data, based on a much smaller sample size, can only be an estimate. Since 2019/20 
data are incomplete comparisons below are made between 2018/19 and 2020/21.

Page 85



4

Childhood obesity prevalence (England and Gloucestershire)

Table 1 below compares the prevalence of obesity and severe obesity among Reception and 
Year 6 children in England and Gloucestershire in 2018/19 and 2020/21 school years.   

Table 1: Obesity and severe obesity prevalence 2020/21 versus 2018/19 school years

Gloucestershire EnglandYear group BMI 
category

2020/21 2018/19 2020/21 2018/19

Obesity 13.5% 9.1% *14.4% 9.7%Reception 
Severe 
obesity 4.2% 2.3% *4.7% 2.4%

Obesity *21.1% 18.2% *25.5% 20.2%Year 6
Severe 
obesity *5.0% 4.0% *6.3% 4.4%

*Data incomplete so less confidence the data is representative of the whole year group. 

Key facts

 These data show large increases in the proportions of children in with obesity and 
severe obesity, in England and in Gloucestershire, compared to previous years

 In England, obesity rates increased by 4.7 percentage points in Reception children, and 
by 5.3 percentage points in Year 6 children. This is the largest increase we have seen 
since the NCMP began in 2006/07. 

 14.4% Reception children and 25.5% Year 6 children in England have obesity.  
 The rates of severe obesity among children in England increased from 2.4% to 4.7% in 

Reception, and from 4.4% to 6.3% in Year 6, between 2018/19 in 2020/21.
 In Gloucestershire, there was a 4.4 percentage points increase in obesity levels among 

Reception children and an estimated 2.9 percentage points increase among Year 6 
children between 2018/19 and 2020/21. 

 This means that 13.5% reception children and an estimated 21.1% Year 6 children in 
Gloucestershire have obesity.

 Rates of severe obesity in Gloucestershire increased from 2.3% to 4.2% in Reception, 
and from 4.0% to an estimated 5.0% in Year 6, between 2018/19 and 2020/21

 In Gloucestershire this is an increase from 592 to 884 children in Reception with obesity 
from 2018/19 to 2020/21. Of the 884 children, around 260 have severe obesity. 

Further modelling is needed to estimate the number of children with obesity across all year 
groups. Meanwhile, extrapolating Reception and Year 6 data a very conservative estimate 
of the total burden of obesity (including severe obesity) among children in Gloucestershire is 
upwards of 25,000 children. [NB: This estimate does not take into account the increase 
childhood obesity rates with age].  

These data clearly demonstrate a concerning increase in levels of obesity among primary 
school children in Gloucestershire. Given this unprecedented increase since NCMP records 
began in 2006/07 we can infer that factors related to the COVID-19 pandemic have been the 
main driver for this increase.

Disparities in childhood obesity rates

Childhood obesity is a health inequalities issue. The association between poverty and 
obesity is apparent nationally and locally. The proportion of Reception children with obesity 

Page 86



5

in our poorest neighbourhoods is one and a half times the proportion affected in the most 
affluent parts of the county. The gap between obesity prevalence in our most and least 
deprived areas has increased from 4.1 percentage points in 2014/15 to 5.3 percentage 
points in 2020/21. 

There are also differences in obesity prevalence between genders. Our 2020/21 estimates 
for Year 6 suggest that 23.5% of boys had obesity, compared to 15.4% of girls.  Ethnicity 
data is currently being analysed and will be shared when available. 

Levels of childhood obesity among Reception age children in 2020/21 were the highest since 
the NCMP began across all Gloucestershire districts. Obesity rates in Gloucester City 
(15.6%), Tewkesbury (14.5%) and the Forest of Dean (14.3%) are similar or higher than the 
England average of 14.4%. 

4.2

5.3

Page 87



6

Local action on obesity 

The ‘Healthy Weight’ agenda is a key strategic priority for Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) and the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board. GCC was one of four local 
authorities in England to participate in the national ‘whole system obesity’ programme (2016-
2019). We coproduced guidance to support local authorities to adopt a ‘whole systems 
approach’ to obesity prevention via collaborative action across the wider social, economic 
and environmental determinants of obesity. Adopting such an approach requires significant 
coordination to join up existing activities and encourage and enable partners to take action. 

Obesity prevention

GCC commissions or works with partners to support a range of prevention activities 
including Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning (healthy schools programme); ‘we 
can move’, Active Gloucestershire’s innovative physical activity programme; action on food 
insecurity; and our ‘first 1001 days’ maternity and early years’ healthy lifestyle programme. 
However, we have not yet secured the resources required to drive whole system change. 

Childhood weight management (obesity treatment)

GCC and the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group commission some weight 
management ‘treatment’ for children with obesity, though current provision is insufficient to 
meet the level of need in the county. Clinical commissioning groups are generally 
responsible for commissioning clinical (sometimes called ‘tier 3’) weight management and 
Local Authorities for community based (‘tier 2’) support, though neither are mandated to do 
so. Current services include limited access to Tier 3 support (around ten families per annum) 
provided by the regional Care of Childhood Obesity (CoCO) clinic in Bristol.  At Tier 2, in the 
absence of an effective ‘off the shelf’ weight management intervention for children, are 
working with a specialist children’s weight management provider (BeeZee Bodies) and local 
families to coproduce and test a community-based offer.  Engaging with local families 
affected by obesity has enabled us to develop a nuanced understanding of the challenges 
they face; this informed the development of our pioneering ‘structural resilience’ weight 
management offer. 

Face-to-face delivery of the Tier 2 programme was paused shortly after its launch in January 
2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Digital support was offered during national lockdowns 
and face-to-face delivery was reinstated in September 2021, with the first course completing 
at the end of December. We therefore have limited outcome data at this stage (see early 
outcomes below). 

Digital programme

The digital programme was delivered during national lockdowns from April 2020 to July 
2021. Activity and outcomes were as follows:

 50 children and their families completed the programmes. This represents a 72% 
retention rate, which is the best predictor of a successful outcome.

 No weight measurements were possible virtually, but positive behaviour change 
outcomes were reported including: 60% of children had increased their physical activity 
and 85% of families improved their understanding of portion sizes.

Face-to-face programme

Delivery of the core face-to-face programme was postponed due to the pandemic and 
resumed in September 2021 with three 16-week programmes being delivered in Gloucester 
(Matson and Quedgeley) and the Forest of Dean (Coleford). 

Page 88



7

Many of the families completing the programme face particular challenges, for example: 41% 
are living in the first and second most deprived quintiles of the county; 26% of children have 
learning disabilities; and 47% were on a child protection or child in need plan.

COVID-19 had some impact on group attendance but of the 23 children who started the 
programme, 19 completed it (83% retention rate). 

Outcomes reported for completers include:

 88% of children reduce BMI Z-score. This means they achieved a healthier weight status 
by the end of programme.

 64% of children increased their physical activity, despite it being winter)
 50% of children increased their fruit and veg consumption and by the end of the 

programme the average met the daily recommendation
 65% of families improved their understanding of portion size
 75% felt more confident cooking healthy meals 

Next steps are to strengthen our approach to recruiting and engaging families. A full 
independent evaluation of the pilot is being undertaken by Teesside University and will be 
reported later in the year. 

The local Tier 2 pilot is funded until December 2022 and a business case for substantive 
funding has been submitted as part of GCC’s 2021-22 financial planning round.   

Meanwhile, our local Tier 2 programme has received regional and national recognition as the 
first of its kind. On the back of this we were invited to participate in the NHS England and 
NHS Improvement (NHSE&I) Children and Young People’s Transformation Programme as 
one of two ‘integration test sites’ for obesity (the other being Greater Manchester). This will 
involve working with local and regional partners, over a three-year period (2020 to 2023), to 
develop end-to-end weight management support pathways, ensuring integration with wider 
children and families’ support. The Integrated Care System will receive funding (expected to 
be around £230k per annum) to support this work.  

4. Domestic Abuse

Delivery of the Council’s new statutory responsibilities 

As the Committee will be aware, under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 Tier 1 local authorities 
now have a statutory duty to provide support to victims of domestic abuse and their children 
residing within refuge and other ‘domestic abuse safe accommodation’. The Act creates a 
statutory definition of domestic abuse; emphasising that domestic abuse is not just physical 
violence, but can also take the form of emotional abuse, controlling or coercive abuse, and 
economic abuse. It also establishes in law the office of Domestic Abuse Commissioner.

The main requirements for the County Council under its new statutory duty are to: 

 Convene a multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (LPB)
 Complete a Needs Assessment assessing the need for accommodation-based domestic 

abuse support for all victims and their children who reside in relevant safe 
accommodation (to be completed every three years with an annual refresh)

 Develop a Domestic Abuse Strategy (to be completed every three years with an annual 
refresh) and commission in line with the strategy

 Monitor and report to Government.

Page 89



8

Tier 2 local authorities are required to co-operate with Tier 1 local authorities to support 
delivery of the statutory duty; and the Council will need to prepare an annual report on 
investment and impact.

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) will allocate non-ring-
fenced funding on an annual basis to support Tier 1 and Tier 2 local authorities to fulfil their 
statutory obligations. GCC has been allocated £1,105,661 for 2021/22; and the district 
councils have been allocated a combined total of £198,956 to cover their administrative 
burdens. Districts will also receive some of the Tier 1 allocation to commission on the County 
Council’s behalf.

Gloucestershire has largely adopted a community-based approach to supporting victims of 
DA (alongside the provision of accommodation-based support). A community-based model 
focuses on enabling and supporting victims and their children to stay in their own home 
where it is safe to do so. Going forward, the new statutory duty puts a greater emphasis on 
providing support to victims residing in DA safe accommodation, such as refuges or 
specialist safe accommodation. Developing this provision will be a key focus of our strategy 
going forward; alongside the continuation of community-based support.

The Council and its partners are making good progress in delivering their responsibilities 
under the Act. The multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (LPB) is 
established; and comprises three interconnected groups: a strategic group, an operational 
group, and a virtual consultation group. In line with statutory guidance, the LPB includes 
representation from the County Council, Social Care, Safeguarding, health partners, the 
district councils, the police, probation, the OPCC and the Crown Prosecution Service. 
Providers of Domestic Abuse services are also represented on the operational group. The 
LPB will report to Safer Gloucestershire (with a dotted line to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board) and will link closely with the Safeguarding Boards and the Sexual Violence 
Partnership Board amongst others.  

The Consultation group will ensure that the voice of victims/survivors of domestic abuse, 
their children and other community voices are reflected in decision making. The work will be 
delivered by a dedicated LPB Consultation Officer. 

In line with our statutory responsibilities, the LPB has overseen the completion of the 
Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse needs assessment and the Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021-24. 

Findings from the needs assessment include the following:

 13% of all crimes reported to Gloucestershire police are domestic abuse
 30% of referrals into Children’s Social Care are DA related
 There were in excess of 7000 referrals to Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support 

Service (GDASS) in 20/21; a 7% increase on 19/20. Despite the pandemic, this is what 
we would anticipate as an average yearly increase in referrals to GDASS. 

Several key themes have been identified through the needs assessment, including the 
importance of domestic abuse awareness training for professionals, early identification; and 
a need to support DA victims with complex needs and/or multiple disadvantages, such as 
those from LGBTQ communities, ethnic minority communities and people with disabilities. 
The needs assessment also flagged the need to increase DA specific accommodation 
across all tenures in the county, as well as growing capacity in the county’s existing 
community-based support services. 

Page 90



9

The findings of the needs assessment have informed the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse 
Strategy, which was published on 26th October 2021 in line with the government requirement 
for local authorities to have at least a draft strategy published by this date. The Strategy was 
then formally launched on 25th November 2021. The GCC press release is available here.
The strategy focuses on 5 key priorities: 

 Priority 1: Prevention and early intervention 
 Priority 2: Multi-agency working and pathway development 
 Priority 3: Workforce development
 Priority 4: High quality domestic abuse services for victims and their families
 Priority 5: Breaking the cycle of perpetrator behaviour.

A three-year delivery plan is being developed to support the implementation of the strategy. 
This will detail how each priority and associated outcomes will be achieved and how 
progress will be monitored.

Investing the DLUHC funding 

July Cabinet approved the investment of an initial tranche of the year 1 (21/22) DA grant 
funding from DLUHC. Funds were approved for: 

 Twelve new Places of Safety (to be commissioned via the district councils)
 Provision of two units to provide ‘dispersed refuge’; self-contained single units of 

accommodation available to DA victims
 Annual investment into the Stroud Beresford Refuge; funding an additional 70 staffing 

hours per week
 Additional funding for the Flexible Funding Scheme –a funding pot to provide timely and 

personalised funding to victims of domestic abuse for housing related needs. 
 Funding of additional capacity for ‘Floating Support’/Mobile Advocacy to support 

individuals accommodated in Places of Safety.
 Additional investment in ‘target hardening’ (sanctuary); enhanced security measures for 

properties to enable victims to stay safe in their own homes. 
 Funding for new posts, including DA Intervention Post for the Districts, specialist DA 

advocates in housing teams; and DA housing champions (to be commissioned via the 
district councils). 

Council Motion 890 - Domestic Abuse

At its December meeting, full Council resolved a motion on Domestic Abuse (motion 890). 
The Council resolved that ‘all people should be able to live in a happy and safe homes, free 
from violence and abuse’; and made a commitment to ensuring that ‘those who are suffering 
from domestic abuse are given support and assistance so that they are able to live their lives 
safe from harm’. 

The motion highlighted the need to ensure sufficient provision of DA safe accommodation in 
the county, specifically but not limited to refuge accommodation. It asked that both the Adult 
Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee and the Children and Families Scrutiny 
Committee consider the findings of the Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment and the 
Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy; with a particular focus on scrutinising local 
partnership work to ensure that the county is providing sufficient accommodation and 
support for victims who are forced to leave their homes. 

As noted above, developing accommodation-based support for victims of DA is a key focus 
of our strategy and investment plan going forward; alongside the continuation of community-
based support. A further update will be brought to a future committee meeting to enable 
members to consider our response to the issues raised in the Council motion.

Page 91

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-november-2021/strategy-to-tackle-domestic-abuse-in-gloucestershire-published/


10

Wider Domestic Abuse commissioning

In addition to work connected to the delivery of the Council’s new statutory responsibilities, 
commissioners are also taking forward the commissioning of two DA services in the new 
year:

 STREET (Safe Teenage Relationships Education & Empowerment Team) 
Gloucestershire: Targeted healthy relationship support for young (aged 13– 19 years) 
experiencing abuse in their own (intimate) relationships or witnessing domestic abuse in 
the home. Interventions also be available to young people who may be demonstrating 
harmful behaviour in their own close relationships; and

 PRG (Positive Relationships Gloucestershire): Services to address the behaviour of 
perpetrators of domestic abuse with the aim of supporting a reduction in risk to victims 
and their children; and helping prevent repeat and serial incidence of perpetrator 
behaviour. 

Page 92



11

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health

January 2022 – COVID-19 Update

Overview

This report contains updates on the COVID-19 issues for the consideration of the Adult 
Scrutiny Committee.  This includes:

1. Emergence of the Omicron Variant
2. Changes to self-isolation guidance for cases
3. Changes to self-isolation guidance for close contacts
4. Community testing
5. Local contact tracing
6. Education and childcare settings
7. Care home outbreak duration
8. COVID-19 Vaccinations
9. Contain Outbreak Management Fund Total allocation

1. Emergence of the Omicron Variant

The omicron variant of COVID-19 was first notified to the World Health Organization (WHO) 
at the end of November 2020, with the first cases reported in South Africa. It has since 
rapidly spread worldwide, and it has become the dominant variant in the UK in mid-
December. Due to the relatively large number of mutations displayed by this variant there 
was early concern about its ability to escape immunity and led to the introduction of “Plan B” 
in the UK. This has been confirmed by the data and the rapidity of its spread. Omicron can 
largely evade immunity built with two doses of vaccine and with past infections. This means 
that the susceptible population to Omicron has been much larger, and this fact has aided its 
spread, which began in the younger age groups in the capital but has now spread across the 
whole of the UK and reached older age groups.

Whilst its infectiousness is evidently much higher, the severity of symptoms associated with 
an Omicron infection does appear to be lower. A third dose, booster, vaccination appears to 
increase the immune system ability to prevent infection or moderate its severity.  Initial 
reports from South Africa, the US and the UK, indicate with some confidence that Omicron 
leads to a lower risk of death, severe symptoms and hospitalisation for the individual. 
Considering the Omicron wave’s effects at the population level it is still possible that due to 
the large and rising number of infections we will experience a significant spike in hospital 
admissions and mortality, especially once the virus reaches vulnerable populations. NHS 
services delivery and patient flow in particular may be adversely affected by this rise in 
admissions. This effect may also be compounded by the significant number of simultaneous 
staff absences in healthcare and emergency staff that is being reported across services, 
further reducing capacity.  The situation is being closely monitored by government. 

2. Changes to Self-Isolation and Testing Guidance for Cases

From 22nd December 2021, new guidance enabled the 10-day self-isolation period for people 
who have tested positive for COVID-19 to be reduced to 7 days, in most cases. People who 

Page 93



12

receive negative Lateral Flow Device (LFD) results on day 6 and day 7 of their self-isolation 
period (with tests taken 24 hours apart), no longer have to self-isolate for the full 10 days. 
The first test must be taken no earlier than day 6 of the self-isolation period.

Those who leave self-isolation on or after day 7 are strongly advised to limit close contact 
with other people in crowded or poorly ventilated spaces, work from home and minimise 
contact with anyone who is at higher risk of severe illness if infected with COVID-19- 19.

From 11th January, anyone who has no symptoms and test positive using an LFD no longer 
needs a PCR test to confirm their COVID-19 diagnosis and should isolate immediately as 
per the new guidance.  Should someone require financial support for isolation, then a PCR is 
still required, even if a person has no symptoms.  In addition, anyone with symptoms is still 
asked to get a PCR rather than use an LFD.  

3. Changes to Self-Isolation Guidance for Close Contacts

People who live in the same household as someone with COVID-19 you are at significantly 
higher risk of becoming infected yourself. If such close household contacts are fully 
vaccinated or aged under 18 years and 6 months, they are no longer legally required to self-
isolate. Instead, they are being strongly advised to take an LFD test every day for 7 days (or 
until 10 days after the household member who has COVID-19 started their self-isolation 
period if this is earlier).

Anyone living in the same household as someone with COVID-19 and is aged over 18 years 
and 6 months and not fully vaccinated, is still legally required to self-isolate. This does not 
apply to people who have taken part in or are currently part of an approved COVID-19 
vaccine trial or who are not able to get vaccinated for medical reasons.

4. Community Testing

Lateral flow Device (LFD) testing continues to be promoted as a fast and simple way to test 
people who do not have symptoms of COVID-19, but who may still be spreading the virus. 
Gloucestershire Community Testing Team have been providing the targeting the distribution 
of LFDs to priority groups such low-income families, people with disabilities, people 
experiencing homelessness and the traveller community. During December 2021, the team 
distributed 13,242 boxes of LFD kits (containing 7 tests in each box). The team have 
supported access to LFD testing for close contacts of a COVID-19 case in light of the 
changes in guidance whereby contacts are advised to take a daily LFD test. 

5. Local Contact Tracing

To contain the spread of COVID-19, it is essential that people testing positive self-isolate 
even if they have no symptoms, to prevent the chance of further spread of the virus. 
Currently, positive cases are required to isolate for 10 days, although it may be possible to 
leave isolation after day 6 and day 7 negative LFD results.

The national Test and Trace team continue to contact the majority of people testing positive 
in Gloucestershire soon after their test result is available. However, they are not able to 
contact everyone, so details of these positive cases are sent to the local COVID-19 team to 
continue attempts at making the initial phone call contact. During the initial conversation with 
the positive case, the member of staff carries out a contact tracing interview to help identify 
who the case has been in contact with during their infectious period. These details are then 
passed back to the national team for the follow up of contacts, advising them to self-isolate 
or if exempt, to highlight their increased risk. Fully vaccinated adults are exempt from 
isolation as contacts, as are children under the age of 18. 

Page 94



13

In addition to asking questions about contacts, the initial phone call provides an opportunity 
to check on the individual’s welfare and give advice about self-isolating. The person is 
offered support and signposted to local organisations or groups. The local contact tracers 
are working closely with district council teams, sharing detailed knowledge, connections and 
soft intelligence on local communities as well as raising awareness of local support networks 
and offers. These might include arranging food or medicine deliveries or simply finding 
someone to walk the dog. These offers make it easier for people to stay at home and 
therefore reduce transmission of the virus.

A team of COVID-19 Response Officers are employed to deliver the contact tracing 
programme, working alongside the COVID-19 Health Protection Practitioners and with 
support from the district council teams. 

6. Education and childcare settings

The Government priority continues to be to maintain face to face education while introducing 
interventions to reduce risk of COVID-19 transmission.  As pupils return for the spring term, 
all secondary schools have been asked to offer all pupils one LFD test onsite.  Staff in early 
years, primary, secondary, colleges and Universities and students in secondary, colleges 
and universities will be provided with home test kits to enable twice weekly testing 
throughout term.

From 4 January, the Government recommends young people in Year 7 and above should 
wear a face covering in classrooms as well as in communal, indoor areas and on public or 
designated school transport.

7. Care home outbreak duration

With the emergence of the more transmissible Omicron variant there has been an increase 
in community case numbers which is resulting in high numbers of health and social care staff 
needing to self-isolate, putting additional pressure on care homes and the care sector. 
Homes are supported to minimise the risk of spread of COVID-19 and other winter viruses 
with community Infection Prevention Control (IPC) nurse support and advice as appropriate. 

Current guidance is that care homes with a confirmed Omicron COVID-19 outbreak close to 
non-essential visitors for 28 days; however, this guidance has recently been updated due to 
Omicron now being the dominant variant and care home outbreak measures return to 
standard (14 days) 

8. COVID-19 Vaccinations

Due to the emergence of the more easily transmitted Omicron variant, the NHS COVID-19 
vaccination programme was accelerated in December 2021 to call everyone that had 
previously received their primary course of vaccination for a booster dose, as long as they 
had received their second dose at least three months ago. This reduction in gap between 
second and booster dose from 6 to 3 months ensures that everyone can have their immunity 
boosted as soon as possible. 

While Omicron demonstrates some ability to evade vaccines, data suggests that current 
vaccines are still effective in reducing the risk of severe illness requiring hospitalisation.

Following the expansion of the programme there was a local call to action to boost capacity 
at vaccination sites with volunteers from across the system and an extension of the existing 
vaccine inequalities outreach programme.

Page 95



14

Vaccine inequalities outreach

To support with inequalities in COVID-19 uptake across the county, Gloucestershire Health 
and Care NHS Trust have continued to deliver Gloucestershire’s outreach programme 
throughout December and the Christmas period to many communities and individuals who 
may not be able to easily access the vaccination programme in Primary Care Network sites. 

This has included home visits to housebound individuals, homelessness settings, drugs and 
alcohol settings, Police custody suites and to asylum seekers (in partnership with GARAS), 
as well as providing support to people with learning disabilities and mental health issues in 
the community to access to the vaccine. This has been achieved through a mix of 
reasonable adjustments at vaccine sites (e.g., quiet spaces), being supported to attend a 
vaccine site, or receiving a home visit. 

This is all in addition to arranging community pop-up’s which enable local access to first, 
second or booster doses in known and trusted community and faith venues. Community 
pop-up’s have included:

 Friendship Café, GL4 6PR
 Springbank Community Resource Centre, GL51 0LG
 Kingsway Community Centre, GL2 2DJ
 YMCA Cheltenham, GL51 1 TP
 Go Outdoors! GL1 4DZ
 Kingfishers Treasure Seekers, GL1 2NF
 Cornerstones Centre, GL52 5QA
 Cheltenham Mosque, GL52 2RS
 Cheltenham Food Bank

Other sites are currently being scoped for suitability for pop-up clinics in areas with lower 
uptake across the county. 

The engagement approach of the vaccine inequalities programme is to build confidence and 
trust within the targeted communities and areas of lower uptake, identify appropriate venues 
for delivery and co-design messages for communities with local stakeholders, as well as 
raising awareness of the outreach offer.

Communications materials and engagement events have included;
 Posters for outreach clinics created and disseminated through Community and VSCE 

organisations, Know Your Patch networks, ‘Whats App’ groups, local Councillors and 
social media.

 Posters and information leaflets in a variety of languages and formats to support the 
outreach delivery. Including information in BSL language and translation in top 9 
languages.

 Targeted engagement with geographical communities including those living in Barton 
and Tredworth, Kingsway, Cheltenham St Paul’s and engagement with local businesses, 
shops and workplaces.

 Faith Groups engagement to gain support from Faith Leaders and encourage members 
of Faith communities to access outreach/bespoke offer.

 GFM – radio interview with GHC’s Director of Nursing on the community link show (Mon 
20 December) 

 Rosebank vaccination clinic gentleman engagement encouraging others to get a vaccine in 
Punjabi 

 Video filmed at Friendship Café 30th by vaccinators to increase awareness of the 
outreach programme and approach.

Page 96

https://fb.watch/a46xOgry_1/
https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations/vaccine-information-in-other-languages/
https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations/vaccine-information-in-other-languages/
https://youtu.be/t29JlPAIjoc
https://youtu.be/t29JlPAIjoc


15

Both the engagement and the outreach delivery arms of the vaccine inequalities programme 
support those who may be hesitant and little more concerned about vaccination 
programmes. This is achieved through 1:1’s conversations, discussion supported by 
information and resources available in different languages and formats and use of 
behavioural approaches to vaccine hesitancy. 

All vaccinations are available for anyone, even if they have no address, no GP and NHS 
Number and/or residency status in the UK.

9. Contain Outbreak Management Fund Total allocation 

The following pages contain a summary of the spend against the one-off COVID-19 Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) grant, given to all Upper Tier local authorities to 
prevent the spread of Covid and increase resilience in communities or groups where 
COVID-19 had the greatest impact.

Gloucestershire received an allocation of £17.9 million.  The Health Protection Board has 
received regular reporting on the use of the funding.  This is provided to Scrutiny for 
information on the total spend to date and in order that the Committee can see the kinds of 
projects that will help to prevent COVID-19 spread or will increase resilience in our 
communities protecting them from further incidents such as the pandemic that have 
adversely affected the most vulnerable in our county. 

Page 97



16

COMF funded projects status update

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

Testing
LFD Testing Programme 187,436 Funding to support LFD testing sites (Dec 20 to Jun 21) and Community outreach 

programme. 

See main report update

MTU site support 15,750 A one-off payment to 5 rugby clubs who have provided their premises for free to facilitate 
the use of the Mobile Testing Units in the county over the period of the pandemic.

Tracing
Local Contact Tracing Staffing 151,277 Staff dedicated to conducting local contact tracing for hard-to-reach positive COVID-19 

cases.
A total of 5823 contact tracing calls have been completed on the system since the start of 
January 2021. 
See main report update

Support for those in self isolation (non-financial support)
Supporting Children and 
Young People in need of 
Information and 
Communication Technology 
(ICT)

200,000 Laptops, Visualisers & headphones have been purchased and distributed to school 
partnerships for use by vulnerable children and young people

Support vulnerable groups and target community interventions
Personalisation Budget / 
Bespoke solutions– Adults 
with complex needs 

300,000 A ring-fenced budget to procure bespoke solutions for Rough Sleepers and Adults with 
complex need to access and maintain safe accommodation for the purposes of allowing 
them to self-isolate. 
Projects supported include:

Supported accommodation placement for emergency Adult Social Care (ASC) 

P
age 98



17

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

assessment. Following assessment ASC have taken on placement payments going 
forward.  The individual previously had a history of significant drug and alcohol use, chaotic 
behaviour with significant use of emergency services and a history of rough sleeping, now 
doing very well, feeling safe, settled and secure.

6-month Housing Led Worker to provide additional support for rough sleepers moving into 
accommodation with complex needs. Housing Led worker continuing to provide support to 
enable rough sleepers move into and maintain accommodation.

VCS Infrastructure Grant 
Scheme

1,250,000 Direct grants to key VCS organisations who have been key in the response effort and who 
have been supporting vulnerable people and families in our communities.  The cohorts 
included BAME, older people, clinically extremely vulnerable, vulnerable families and 
children, young people and people with disabilities.
The grants will enable the VCS organisations to continue their support for vulnerable 
people and those at highest risk whilst reinforcing the COVID-19 guidance messages and 
measures to minimise the spread of disease. These organisations have built up trust with 
their beneficiaries and are key in the wider dissemination of reliable health information, 
aimed at preventing and containing COVID-1919 in Gloucestershire communities.
A total of 81 grants have been awarded to local charity and community organisations and 
town/parish councils (note some organisations received two grants to meet the demand 
created by the pandemic)

The fund is now closed and won’t be taking any more applications.  This is unlikely to 
change unless there are any urgent requests for support that can be met by the fund.

Health Inequalities Staffing 240,000 Two dedicated health inequalities (HI) officers in post since September 2021. These posts 
are funded until March 2023. The posts are in place to progress the work of the Health 
Inequalities Panel, which was convened in June 2021. The Panel has identified the 
following two strategic objectives:

P
age 99



18

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

1. Acknowledging the extent of the work already underway, the immediate priority of 
the Panel is to better understand what is currently happening and support the 
coordination of public sector action on health inequalities. This will help to identify 
priorities for strengthening this work; opportunities to embedding action on health 
inequalities across our business; and ensuring impact is monitored and learning is 
shared

2. The longer-term ambition is to support the development of a sustainable, 
community-centred, whole systems approach to reducing health inequalities in the 
county. 

The initial task of the HI officers is to identify ‘what good looks like’ and to better 
understand what is currently happening in the system. A high-level mapping exercise is 
underway, which will deliver a series of recommendations for how the local approach can 
be strengthened, ensuring the work complements the Council’s Levelling Up agenda. This 
work will report in March. 

At the same time a range of local health inequalities ‘case studies’ are underway, which will 
be used to produce a local toolkit for the system to support robust action

Recommissioning of temporary 
mental health services in 
response to impacts of COVID-
19

211,000 Completed the remaining months left on the existing contracts with Mental Health COVID-
19 service providers (Xenzone; Gloucestershire Counselling Services and TIC+) in the 
21/22 financial year (total requested: £106K; total spent: £106K)
Additional 1:1 counselling support for adults whose mental health has been significantly 
impacted by COVID-19 and who are unable to self-fund. Contract awarded to 
Gloucestershire Counselling Service. Service commenced in September 2021 on a 9 
month contract (with 3 month extension option).

New counselling contract with Gloucestershire Counselling Service (September 

P
age 100



19

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

2021-May 2022)
In the first 2 months of the new contract, the service has received 47 registrations for adults 
for 1:1 counselling. CORE outcome scores post counselling (based on cumulative data for 
the new contract period and previous contract period) show a general reduction in 
psychological distress and symptom severity among clients (though individual outcomes 
will vary depending on presenting issues and individual circumstances).

Additional mental health and 
wellbeing support to 
Gloucestershire school staff

70,000 The COVID-19 pandemic has placed additional pressures on schools, which has impacted 
on head teachers and school staff wellbeing. The COMF funding is being used to provide 
additional mental health and wellbeing support to staff working in Gloucestershire schools.

The funding is used to provide:
 Reflective supervision session predominately aimed at head teachers and senior 

leaders in education settings – 45 individuals have started with another 34 due to 
start.

 Access to Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) for all school staff. 78 school 
staff have made a call to EAP since 1st May – 31st August 2021. Awaiting figures for 
Q3 but have been informed verbally that November was the busiest month to date 
by far with 53 calls from school staff in that month alone as opposed to 78 for the 
entire period May to August

Summer Transitions Project 8,347 Project aimed at supporting young people with emerging mental health needs and 
vulnerabilities to develop positive relationships with school staff and peers to build their 
confidence and resilience in readiness for their transition from primary to secondary school. 
29 out of the 30 sessions offered have taken place. With the last session due in early 2022. 
10 Schools participated with a total of 93 children taking part. 

Volunteering Model Set-Up 130,000 In the context of a significant new wave of volunteering during the pandemic, a year-long 
system-wide engagement exercise was undertaken focusing on how key partners can work 
together to improve the way volunteering works across the county.  The report that was 
produced and presented to the Enabling Active Communities and Individuals Board at an 

P
age 101



20

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

extra-ordinary meeting on 6th July 2021 included 27 recommendations, of which five were 
prioritised during the meeting. 

One of the prioritised recommendations is to commission a new county-wide online 
volunteering platform, including a website and app.  This will be for the benefit of all 
organisations utilising volunteers throughout the county, and all people wishing to volunteer 
in Gloucestershire.    The COMF money is being used to pay for a Project Officer employed 
by Gloucestershire VCS Alliance to manage the development and marketing of the 
countywide online volunteering platform for 3 years. 

GNHSCCG have match funded £130,000 towards the volunteering countywide model.  
This funding will pay for the following:

 Volunteering App – Deedmob
 Host Agency to administer/support the Gloucestershire Volunteering Collaborative 

for 3 years
 Volunteer expenses to backfill representatives from VSC organisations and 

volunteers
VCS Infrastructure – BAME 
voice

50,000 The Gloucestershire VCS Alliance has identified a gap in VCSE representation for Black, 
Asian and minority ethnic groups in the county.  Black Southwest Network have been 
commissioned to map out the current status of the Black led VCSE sector in 
Gloucestershire ICS. This will produce a comprehensive picture of the sector with in-depth 
information on the issues and challenges hindering its development.  The allocation of 
£50,000 will support the improvement in the capability and capacity of the BAME VCS 
organisations informed by the recommendations the research produces. 

The research has taken much longer than anticipated due to the level of mistrust amongst 
the BAME communities so very few people were willing to come forward to participate in 
the research.   With the help of key community leaders enough participants have come 
forward to complete the report which will be completed in January 2022. 

Build Back Better Cllr led grant 
scheme

530,000 The Build Back Better – Councillor Scheme was launched in July 2021. 
 A Councillor led grant scheme with each County Councillor allocated £40,000 to 

P
age 102



21

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

spend over 4 years from July 2021 until January 2025. (not all funded from COMF)
 A total budget of £2.2 million.
 The fund builds upon the GCC approach to give small grants to community groups 

with minimal bureaucracy and ensuring the money reaches the community quickly.
 The purpose of the fund is to give money to local community groups to help with the 

recovery from the pandemic and building back better and stronger.
 Any kind of group or project can be supported including themes such as 

nature/environmental projects, improving physical and mental wellbeing, digital 
inclusion, building connections and improving your neighbourhood. These are not 
exclusive themes and all applications supported by the local Councillor will be 
funded.

 There is no upper or lower limit for applications.

The grant scheme is on track.  To date 83 grant applications have been received.   The 
feedback is very positive about the programme in particular the wide criteria and minimal 
bureaucracy involved.

Equalities posts 117,000 Additional staff capacity to work on minimising the impact of COVID-19 on certain minority 
ethnic groups.  One post to focus on delivering the recommendations of the DPH Annual 
Report Beyond COVID-19: Race, Health and Inequality in Gloucestershire, developing the 
GCC equality and diversity work, started on the 27th September, and another to take 
forward the GCC equality and diversity work, started on the 1st November

Housing Rescue Fund 382,500 To intervene to reduce housing arrears for families at-risk of homelessness. A small (£1k) 
envelope is included to deliver promotional materials within advice services (such as 
Citizens Advice) to encourage access and awareness.
The fund has been available to local Housing Authorities since July. 
Awaiting information re current uptake. 

Barton & Tredworth 
Community Development

192,643 Set up of a task force of Officers specifically focusing on Barton and Tredworth to tackle 
health inequalities which have directly seen the impact of COVID-19 disproportionately 
impact on this community.

P
age 103



22

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

The project is on track with a project management resource driving the project forward and 
two newly recruited enviro-crime officers are in post and spending their time actively 
investigating fly tipping and other enviro-crime concerns. Officers from the private sector 
housing team are also completing property inspections and instigating enforcement action 
to improve housing conditions as appropriate and proportionate.

Holiday Activity Fund 
Programme

1,391,310 Extending the Holiday Activity Fund (HAF) programme in Gloucestershire. The HAF 
programme provides nutritional food, advice for families, enrichment and fun and physical 
activities for children and young people in communities across Gloucestershire that are 
eligible for Free Schools Meals 
The summer HAF programme, funded by the DFE and COMF, in collaboration with 6 
districts lead organisations, was very successful with over 10,000 children and young 
people from across Gloucestershire participating in a wide range of activities over the 
summer.  

The additional funding through COMF funded 115 providers who reached 2897
children and young people.  The COMF funding, enabled a wider range of children and 
young people to access activities, and included funding for providers specialising in 
activities for children with special educational needs or disabilities disabled enabling 
children with more complex needs to have accessible provision.  

Using learning from the delivery the summer programme, following feedback from District 
Leads, providers and parents for the Winter Christmas provision we have:

 Asked each District lead to produce Activity packs, for example, in Cheltenham, a 
community packing session was organised and over 1000 activity bags were 
packed for vulnerable children in the district these included a scrap book, art 
activities and activity booklet.

 Commissioned dedicated family support in each District to support our most 
vulnerable families, those facing digital exclusion and for those who find it most 

P
age 104



23

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

difficult to access the provision.  The aim is that even more families will access 
activities and nutritious food this Christmas.   Family support is being provided by 
Barnardos, Aspire Foundation and Families First.

 Provided support marketing support for providers, so that parents have a better 
idea of what was on offer and whether it was accessible.  our Communications 
Coordinator also developed a resource pack for providers to support them to 
effectively advertised their programme and that communications of remained 
consistent across the County.

 Asked each District lead organisation to develop a communications plan for their 
area which has greatly improved co-ordination of marketing of the provision. 

The additional members of staff to support the delivery of the programme, include an 
Outcome Manager (OM) was appointed in August to oversee the programme, they took 
lead in using the lessons learnt from the summer programme to improve the application 
and due diligence processes for providers.  A Commissioning Officer (CO) was appointed 
to specifically to liaise with providers and District leads and to oversee the due diligence of 
the programme and organised compulsory training sessions for providers in relation to 
GDPR, health and safety, first aid and safeguarding.  A Registered Nutritionist joined the 
team, to ensure each district was able to provide a comprehensive food offer adhered to 
the School Food Guidelines and provided training for providers following the introduction of 
Natasha’s Law in October.  A bank of ‘cookalong’ and nutritional videos has been 
developed as part of the HAF Winter programme’s virtual offer.  

Our Christmas offer includes a wide range of ticketed activities, including gymnastics with a 
dedicated SEND session, two great STEM offers, Bloodhound Charity at South 
Gloucestershire and Stroud college and Educraft at Gloucester Museum.  Yoga Bugs is a 
great all age range on line health and well-being and Yoga offer, which will provide families 
with three months’ free access to this online resource.  Treasurer Trails have been 
purchased for families in each District, enabling them to enjoy a day out exploring their 
local area. 

Currently under consideration is purchasing a Gloucestershire version of 50 things to do 

P
age 105



24

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

before your five as great resource and lasting legacy of the programme.

BME NEET Research 50,027 To understand the affect the COVID-19 pandemic has had on the employment prospects of 
young people from ethnic communities and how this may affect their employment 
aspirations Recruitment for 2 young people will took place in September 2021. The project 
will be delivered during the next academic year.

Intervening with young people 
at risk of disengaging because 
of substance misuse 

15,000 Improving the system response to young people with disengagement issues related to low 
mental wellbeing and substance misuse made more vulnerable by COVID-19 contingency 
measures.

 94 secondary aged school children have received raising awareness sessions on 
substance misuse

 1 group of secondary aged school children are being worked with
 6 young people have received 1:1 support to deal with the challenges relating to 

substance misuse

Steps Ahead 919,509 The aim of this project is to reduce the consequences of lockdown on babies, toddlers and 
their families/carers by providing enhanced opportunities across the most disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods in Gloucestershire in and around the children and family centres. By 
targeting areas that experience greatest health inequalities our intervention will lead to a 
reduction in further longer-term health inequalities.  By focussing on prevention and the 
wider implications of COVID-19, we will contribute to the national strategy to “build back 
fairer”.
Project to commence in Jan 22

Best Start in Life 237,556 Invest additional resource into Early Years services and Public Health Nursing in response 
to the additional development needs of young children (age 2-4) created by the COVID-19 
pandemic.  This will build resilience in communities and our workforce to manage potential 
future waves as well as building on our ambition to give all children in Gloucestershire the 
best start in life
Project to commence in Jan 22

P
age 106



25

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

Gloucestershire Anchor 
Programme

17,750 To engage the organization Breaking Barriers Innovations in developing an anchor 
institutions approach for Gloucestershire that gains strategic alignment and buy-in around a 
set of priorities for addressing health inequalities in the county.
Anchor institution event for ‘core’ public sector organisations took place on 2nd December. 
Final report on the stakeholder interviews is expected mid-January.

Other: Prevention, management of local outbreaks and data intelligence, surveillance and communications
SHE COVID-19 Adviser 45,360 An additional post in GCC’s Safety, Health and Environment team for 12 months fixed term 

in order to provide the advice and support required by schools and early years settings to 
help reduce COVID-19 transmission.
The temporary contract appointment is at the halfway stage with 6 months remaining.  The 
SHE COVID-19 Adviser role continues to offer best practice advice and direct support to 
LA colleagues and educational settings.  Resources compiled by the government, DfE and 
UKHSA are interpreted and disseminated to colleagues to provide information on relevant 
changes in legislation and guidance.  Keeping abreast with changes to COVID-19 is 
imperative to ensure documentation is kept up to date. 

The SHE COVID-19 Adviser post is highly valued by colleagues in the LA, Health 
Protection and Education sector. The role has proved enormously beneficial in the direct 
support it offers to all parties to protect the wider community.  The extra resource (SHE 
COVID-19 Adviser) has effectively removed the COVID-19 workload burden placed on 
others in the SHE team and enabled them to concentrate resources on the general 
business plan and ensure the wider functions of the SHE service is being performed.
The function of the SHE COVID-19 Adviser remains essential to provide the much needed 
support and advice to continue the joint effort provision led by the Council to protect its 
community.

Infection Prevention Control 
Nursing

275, 068
150,000

Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) nurse roles will focus on prevention and support 
through building resilience, training, implementation of guidance and assurance; and the 
provision of operational support in incidents or outbreaks in care homes.  These are hosted 
by the CCG where appropriate line management, supervision and links to the Integrated 

P
age 107



26

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

Care System partners are available.

Infection Prevention and Control Support to Social Care Providers.
During the period of December – Nov 2021 the team has continued to provide IPC support.  
This is both in response to notification of communicable infections as well as to help 
services put in place the required IPC/PPE processes.

Work continues to be dominated by COVID-19 however when required advise is provided 
on other aspects of infection prevention and control. 
Total number of IPC support visits (Dec – Nov): 258 (visits average 2 hours plus travel 
time.  After a review verbal and written feedback is provided.)
Collaborative work (includes operational links and system working) 
The CHIP team continues to work collaboratively with several partners who meet weekly.  
Recently a Public Health Consultant from UKHSA has joined the meeting.

Over the last quarter one output from the group has been the development of an 
information poster and a risk assessment template.  The purpose is to support care home 
teams when receiving requests for overnight visits by family or friends of a resident or the 
person being supported. 
We continue to be aligned and supported by IPC Team at Gloucestershire Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust.  Examples of our collaborative work include supporting with IPC advise 
to facilitate safe, timely discharges and improve the treatment of people with Clostridioides 
Difficile Infection (CDI) in care homes.

PPE Storage 45,678 To fund the relocation of the existing PPE store at the Uckington Fire Station, Cheltenham 
to Edward Jenner Court and a hangar building at Gloucestershire Airport, Staverton from 
circa June / July 2021 to 31 March 2022 with an option to extend beyond this date as 
determined by the Department of Health & Social Care as part of its on-going COVID-19 
pandemic response. 
The status of the work is ongoing. There is a continued need to provide emergency PPE on 
behalf of the Local Resilience Forum, and the service is currently contracted until 31 March 
2022. 

P
age 108



27

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

Since GHC took over the running of the service in July 2021, the following PPE has been 
distributed:

Aprons 90,700

Hand Gel (ABHR) 1058

Visors 959

Clinical Waste bags 4100

FFP2 masks 5280

FFP3 45

Type IIR 84,400

Goggles 20

Gowns 300

Large Gloves 169,200

Medium Gloves 260,700

Small Gloves 102,700

XL Gloves 53,500

Total products issued: 772,962

P
age 109



28

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

Total number of services collecting: 64

GCC salaries C19 deployment 655,940 Funding allocated to salaries of staff from across GCC who have been deployed to the 
response to the pandemic

Point of Care testing and 
surveillance

53,162 Ensure the robust delivery of COVID-19 Point of Care Testing (POCT) by developing a 
seven day a week POCT service at Edward Jenner Court to 31 March 2022. 
To increase productivity within the GHC Infection prevention and Control fund 
administration posts to support the Infection Prevention & Control team in the surveillance 
and reporting of service users who test positive for COVID-19

Point of Care testing in care 
homes

62,996 To improve the timely diagnosis of winter respiratory outbreaks and the activation of public 
health interventions in care home residents and members of staff and to prevent outbreak 
spread using a Point of Care Testing process with the Abbott ID-Now Equipment

Compliance and Enforcement
Continuation of COVID-19 
Compliance and Prevention 
Funding

1,200,000
200,000 

per district

 Continuation of county wide funding to districts to work across all districts to 
maintain and further improve COVID-19 compliance via encouragement, education, 
engagement, and enforcement within the workplace sector, events and public open 
spaces for 2021/22 to include:

 Extension of contracts to 31 March 2022 for Community Protection Officers/ 
COVID-19 Marshalls or equivalent to support COVID-19 19 messaging, 
engagement, and education across the county.

 Extension of contracts for COVID-19 Compliance Officers to 31 March 2022.
 Additional staffing in District Environmental Health teams to ensure prevention and 

enforcement of COVID-19 breaches and to respond to outbreaks within workplace 
settings

Visitor Economy Work 300,000
50,000 per 

district

Funding for a range of initiatives to enable tourist sites to put additional measures in place 
to ensure COVID-19 safety.

P
age 110



29

Area Funds 
allocated 
£

Update

Projects supported include:

 New waymarked routes in Cotswold Water Park:
Creation of two circular waymarked walks from Neigh Bridge Country Park: Walk 1 -  
1.75 mile Walk 2 - 3 miles (approx) to support dispersal of visitors and encourage 
increase level of physical activity and improvement in wellbeing.

 PR, Comms and Messaging, led by Forest of Dean and Wye Valley (FOD&WV) 
Destination Management Organisation (DMO). Maintain COVID-19 awareness for 
visitors and residents alike, particular focus on pinch points such as car parks etc.

 Face masks, Face Shields, Hand Sanitizers and Branded Water Bottles Handed out to 
members of the public in Gloucester City

 Enhanced cleaning of streets and public conveniences in Stroud District
 Litter picking across whole district reviewed and supported with additional equipment 

and COVID-19 advice measures - More than 400 litter pickers contacted and given 
COVID-19 advice in Tewkesbury Borough

Licensing Support to districts 750,000
125,000 

per district

Additional staffing support to Districts to ensure COVID-19 secure measures are in place 
and maintained within Licensed Premises; for the management of temporary events and to 
ensure COVID-19 compliance within other sectors of licensing including taxi and private 
hire vehicles, street trading and caravan sites, including enforcement when necessary, 
using existing legislation.  

Event Support to districts 750,000
125,000 

per district

Additional staffing support to Districts to ensure COVID-19 secure measures are in place 
for the management of events. 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

25 January 2022

Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health

Adult Social Care Update
_________________________________________________  

Social Care Reform
As previously reported to this Scrutiny Committee, the Government released in 

September the policy document “Build Back Better. Our Plan for Health and Social 

Care”.  The Government has now developed and published in December a more 

detailed White Paper entitled People at the Heart of Care: adult social care reform.

Building on the Policy Paper, the White Paper sets out what is described as “an 
ambitious 10-year vision for how we will transform support and care in England.  Our 
vision puts people at its heart and revolves around 3 objectives:

1. People have choice, control and support to live independent lives.

2. People can access outstanding quality and tailored care and support.

3. People find adult social care fair and accessible.

Person-centred care is a key theme running through this vision. Genuine choice and 

control about personalised care and support can enhance quality of life and promote 

independence in a way that matters to individuals. We know that there are already 

strong examples of our vision in action, where people can choose the type of care 

and support that really works for them, happening in pockets across the country. 

Therefore, an important part of what we want to do is make this happen more 

consistently, so that everyone – no matter where they live – can benefit.

The document then further outlines the 10-year vision for adult social care followed 

by a summary of opportunities that the Government intends to build on to achieve its 

vision; setting out a number of policy chapters covering:

 housing, technology and embedding innovation

 how we can empower those who draw on support and care, unpaid carers and 
families

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



2

 our strategy for the social care workforce

 how we will make sure the proposals in this white paper are effectively 
delivered to support our vision

The Government also reiterates its commitment to reform how people in England 
pay for their care so no one needs to pay more than £86,000 for their personal care 
costs, alongside more generous means-tested support for anyone with less than 
£100,000 in chargeable assets.

Fuller details on all of these issues will be provided as they become available but in 
the meantime the White Paper can be accessed via:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-
care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform

ASCOF Indicator
At the last meeting of the committee, there was a discussion regarding the 

performance against the percentage of adults with Learning Disabilities in 

employment indicator in the performance dashboard. The data from March 2020 

showed that 0.8% of people with a Learning Disability were in employment and is a 

national indicator that is collected as part of the Adult Social Care Outcomes 

Framework (ASCOF) data set. This is compared to data previous years 

performance:  2019 3.1%, 2018 6.4%. 2017 6.8% and 2016 8.7%.

This particular ASCOF measure has been a bone of contention for some years now 

as Local Authorities have different approaches when it comes to “long term 

support”.  The ASCOF Measure is the number of people known to Council Services 

in employment, however the criteria are detailed below.

“The definition of individuals ‘known to the council’ is restricted to those adults of 

working age with a primary support reason of learning disability support who 

received long term support during the year in the settings of residential, nursing and 

community but excluding prison”

The team who supports people with a Learning Disability to gain employment are 

based within the County Council’s Enablement, Innovation and Employment 

Services (EIE service).  This service is not counted as providing long term support, 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform


3

so all the people they help into employment are not counted in the indicator 

mentioned above.  In effect the work of the team diverts people away from long term 

services and so it means there are fewer people captured by this indicator.  Other 

Councils may still channel this work via their day services and therefore they will 

therefore count that activity towards this indicator.

All Councils report differently therefore this is not a good indicator of what is going on 

with some Councils still reporting very high figures.  The British Association for 

Assisted Employment (BASE) and other organisations continue to lobby Government 

to change this descriptor back to “Known to Adult Social Care” as this gave a better 

indication of the actual picture.

Of the 333 people that the EIE service have placed in work through since 2015, 251 

are known to Adults or Children’s Services.  55% are known to learning disabilities 

services.  87% of those placed in work are still in work at 26 weeks, although the 52 

weeks sustainability data has dipped slightly due to the impact of Covid. 

The past 12 months have been difficult as some people with a Learning Disability 

have lost their jobs during the pandemic and the EIE service is finding that some of 

their customers still lacking confidence in returning to or finding new work.  The EIE 

Service are doing a lot more pre-employability work to increase confidence and there 

has been a shift in the sectors recruiting so more work is needed to encourage 

people to reconsider their employment goals.   But the EIE service are continuing to 

find employment and are still working with ASC to encourage referrals.

Mandatory Covid-19 vaccinations for Health and Social care staff

Care home staff
In November 2021 Covid-19 vaccination for all staff entering care homes in England 

became compulsory. While the Department of Health and Social Care predicted in 

their ‘Statement of Impact’ that between 3-12% of care home staff may leave due to 

the vaccination policy, the impact has been lower than this in Gloucestershire based 

on a targeted survey of a sample of care homes (reported previously to Scrutiny).

Page 115



4

As of 23rd December 2021, 93% of staff in both older and younger adult care home 

settings have received both doses of the vaccine, and 95% at least one vaccine. The 

remaining 5% (approximatively 400 staff) will either have been granted medical 

exemption, be in the process of requesting medical exemption, or be on maternity 

leave. This data relies on care homes updating coverage data on the NHS Capacity 

Tracker and may therefore underestimate true coverage. Numbers of staff that have 

left, or moved within, the care sector due to the legislation is not collected on the 

NHS Capacity Tracker.

In terms of impact on GCC directly employed staff, the legislation has had minimal 

impact and a very small number of staff (less than 5) will be leaving the service due 

to the legislation.

Health and Social care staff extension
In December 2021, legislation was passed to require all service user facing staff 

working in services which deliver CQC regulated activities (for example: domiciliary 

care, adult day services and drugs and alcohol services) to be vaccinated against 

Covid-19 (2 doses). This extends the previous legislation which came into force in 

November 2021 making it mandatory for people entering CQC registered care 

homes to be vaccinated and will include the majority of staff working in the health 

and social care sector. It will also include those in administrative and managerial 

roles.

At the point of writing, there were 873 regulated activities registered with CQC in 

Gloucestershire across community health and social care, although some providers 

may register for more than one regulated activity (more information on CQC 

regulated activities is available on this website)  https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-

providers/registration/regulated-activities).

To be compliant with the legislation, staff will need to have received two doses of the 

vaccine by 1st April 2022. A booster dose is not currently being mandated; however, 

this may change.  If someone is not currently vaccinated, they must have received 

their first dose by 3 February in order to have their second by 1 April.

Page 116

https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/registration/regulated-activities
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/registration/regulated-activities


5

Gloucestershire County Council is developing communications to social care 

providers to raise awareness of the legislation and signpost employers and staff to 

vaccination clinics in the county. These communications will be targeted at;

 GCC employed social care staff
 GCC and NHS commissioned social care providers
 Wider independent social care sector

As there is no single record of vaccine coverage in the wider social care sector, 

registered managers will be encouraged to understand the potential impact of the 

legislation on their service by collecting information on vaccine coverage and 

escalating potential staff retention issues with commissioners.

As with the previous guidance for care home staff, reasons for exemptions are 

minimal and include a previous severe reaction to the vaccine, or a choice to 

temporarily opt out of the vaccination programme while pregnant. If a member of 

staff believes that they are exempt they will be required to formally apply for an 

exemption through NHS 119 and their GP. 

Assurance of Quality of Provisions in Care Homes

During the last committee meeting questions were raised regarding how we assure 

ourselves of the quality of care in older people’s care homes.   The listed below 

details how we gain assurance:

1. Our Proud to Care team support the market with the selection and recruitment 

of staff to ensure that we have good quality staff working in our system. 

2. Our Proud to Learn team works with providers to ensure that they are aware 

of and able to access development opportunities for both the care workforce 

and management.

3. We have recently moved what was the “Care Home Support Team” into 

integrated commissioning to become the “Care Sector Support Team” and are 

developing the new role to ensure that all our workforce are signposted and 

offered training on clinical areas as well as the fundamentals of care. 

4. We have infection control nurses in place to support care providers with 

provision and management of good infection control procedures in care 

homes. 

Page 117



6

5. The Brokerage Contract Managers, (CM’s) manage contract compliance with 

OP care providers and liaises with CQC, Safeguarding and commissioners to 

ensure contract compliance and address quality issues as they arise. 

Depending on the area of concern CM’s will either work with CQC, CCG 

Quality Team the IPC Team, Safeguarding or Adult Social Care operations or 

a mixture of the relevant stakeholders

6. Our Safeguarding Team works with CQC, Brokerage and commissioners to 

address safeguarding concerns in specific providers and monitor across the 

sector as a whole.

7. CQC registers providers and inspect to ensure quality standards are met; they 

also work closely with Safeguarding, Brokerage and Commissioners to 

address quality concerns with specific providers and the market.

8. When there is a quality concern raised about a provider CQC, Safeguarding (if 

it is a safeguarding issue) and Commissioners work together and with the 

provider to address this.

Page 118



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2021/22

1

7 September 2021 9 November 2021 25 January 2022

Scrutiny items

1) Market Management Overview
2) Gloucestershire Safeguarding Board Annual 
Report 2020/21

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 1 2021/22 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

1) Prevention and Early Intervention Work in 
collaboration with the Voluntary and 
Community Sector

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 2 2021/22 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

1) Ombudsman ASC Public Interest Report
2) Director of Public Health Annual Report 21
3) Domiciliary Care Report

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report

8 March 2022 (Joint Meeting with HOSC) 10 May 2022 5 July 2022

Scrutiny items

1) Winter Plan Review (ASCC members to be 
invited to attend the HOSC meeting in October 
2021 for the item relating to proposals on the 
Winter Plan proposed by the NHS CCG)
2) Child Measurement Programme Briefing 
(briefing on the Child Measurement Programme 
including actions taken in response to the below 
national average (weight management) targets of 
Year 6 pupils in Gloucestershire).
3) Immunisation and Vaccination Equity 
Presentation - Vaccine Equity Group 

Plus Standard report items (both committees)

Scrutiny items

1) Covid-19 Funding/Community Grant 
Schemes Overview 

2) Voluntary/Community Sector Update 

3) Drug/Alcohol Contract Briefing 

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 3 2021/22 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

Possible item: New Library Strategy 

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 4 2021/22 Performance Report

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 10



6 September 2022 15 November 2022 Jan 2023

Scrutiny items

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report 
Community Safety Report

Scrutiny items

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 3 2020/21 Performance Report

Scrutiny items

Standard items 

Adult Social Care Report
Public Health Report
Community Safety Report
Quarter 4 2020/21 Performance Report

December 2021

P
age 120


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Public Health Annual Report 2021/22
	5 Domiciliary Care
	6 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Investigation
	Item 6 - Appendix 1 (PSW Critical Friend Report - Oct 2021)
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 (LGSCO PIR - ACTION PLAN 6 Dec 2021)

	8 Public Health Report
	9 Adult Social Care Report
	10 Work Plan

